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Offering:  Minimum of $3,000,000 up to Maximum of $4,000,000 

Minimum of 6,000,000 Common Shares up to Maximum of 8,000,000 Common Shares 

Price: $0.50 per Common Share 

This prospectus (the “Prospectus”) qualifies for distribution (the “Offering”) an aggregate of a minimum 

of 6,000,000 Common Shares (the “Minimum Offering”) and up to a maximum of 8,000,000 Common 

Shares (the “Maximum Offering”) of Orefinders Resources Inc. (the “Issuer”), at a price of $0.50 per 

Common Share (the “Offered Securities”).  The Offering is being made to investors resident in British 

Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. 

 Price to public
(1)

 Agent’s Fee
(2)(3)

 Net Proceeds to the  

Issuer
(2)(3)(4)

 

 Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum 

Per Common 

Share
 

$0.500 $0.035 $0.465 

Offering $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $210,000 $280,000 $2,790,000 $3,720,000 

(1) The offering price of the Offered Securities was established by negotiation between the Issuer and Macquarie Capital 

Markets Canada Ltd. (the “Agent”). 

(2) Pursuant to the terms and conditions of an agency agreement to be entered into between the Agent and the Issuer (the 

“Agency Agreement”), the Issuer has agreed to pay the Agent a fee (the “Agent’s Fee”) equal to 7% of the gross 

proceeds of the Offering, payable in cash.  The Agent will also receive that number of Common Share purchase warrants 

(the “Agent IPO Warrants”) that is equal to 7% of the number of Offered Securities sold in the Offering, each Agent 

IPO Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Common Share (an “Agent IPO Share”) for a period of eighteen 

months from the Closing Date (as defined herein) at a price of $0.50 per Agent IPO Share.  The Issuer will also 

reimburse the Agent for its legal fees and expenses on the Closing Date.  The Agent IPO Warrants are also qualified for 

distribution pursuant to this Prospectus. 

(3) Before deducting the expenses of the Offering, including legal, accounting and audit costs, all filing fees with the 

Exchange and Securities Commissions and the Agent’s expenses, estimated at $150,000. 

(4) If the Over-Allotment Option (as hereinafter defined) is exercised in full on the Maximum Offering, the total number of 

Offered Securities sold under the Offering will be 9,200,000, the gross proceeds will be $4,600,000, and the total net 

proceeds to the Issuer will be $4,278,000 before deducting the estimated balance of expenses of the Offering, estimated 

at $150,000. 
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The Issuer has also granted the Agent an option (the “Over-Allotment Option”), exercisable in whole or 

in part in the sole discretion of the Agent at any time up to 5:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the date that is 

30 days following the Closing Date, to purchase up to that number of additional Common Shares equal to 

15% of the Common Shares sold in the Offering (the “Over-Allotment Shares”) at a price of $0.50 per 

Over-Allotment Share solely to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes.  This 

Prospectus qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Over-Allotment 

Shares.  See “Plan of Distribution”.  A purchaser who acquires any Over-Allotment Shares acquires those 

securities under this Prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allotment position is ultimately filled 

through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases.  References to 

“Offered Securities” in this Prospectus shall include the Over-Allotment Shares, as applicable, in the 

context used. 

The following table sets forth the number of securities issuable to the Agent: 

Agent’s Position Maximum size or number 

of securities available
 

Exercise period Exercise Price 

Agent IPO Warrants
(1)

 560,000 Agent Shares
(2) 

Eighteen months following 

the Closing Date 

$0.50 per Agent 

Share 

Over-Allotment Option
(3)

 1,200,000 Over-Allotment 

Shares
(2)

 

30 days from 

the Closing Date 

$0.50 per Over-

Allotment Share 

(1) This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent IPO Warrants.  See “Description of the Securities Distributed” 

and “Plan of Distribution”. 

(2) Assumes the completion of the Maximum Offering, including the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 

(3) This Prospectus qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Over-Allotment Shares. 

Subscriptions for the Offered Securities will be subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and 

the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice.  There may be one or more 

closings for the Offering.  On the Closing Date, global certificates representing the Offered Securities 

sold under the Offering will be available for delivery in book-based form through CDS Clearing and 

Depository Services (“CDS”) or its nominee and will be deposited with CDS.  Any certificates 

representing the Offered Securities issuable upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option will be available 

for delivery in book-based form through CDS or its nominee and will be so deposited on the date of issue 

of such securities. Each Subscriber will receive only a customer confirmation from the registered dealer 

who is a CDS participant and from or through whom the Offered Securities are purchased.  The Offering 

will terminate upon the earlier of: (i) a date mutually acceptable to the Issuer and the Agent or, (ii) the 

date that is 90 days from the date of this Prospectus (the “Closing Date”).  Certificates representing the 

Offered Securities will be issued in registered form to CDS or its nominee and will be deposited with 

CDS on the Closing Date.  Registrations and transfers of Offered Securities deposited with CDS will be 

effected only through the book-based system administered by CDS. At the discretion of the Issuer, in 

certain limited circumstances, physical certificates may be issued by the Issuer’s registrar and transfer 

agent to owners evidencing their ownership of Offered Securities.  Until the closing, all subscription 

proceeds will be held in a separate bank account of the Agent in trust. If the Offering is not fully 

subscribed in 90 days from the date a receipt is issued for this Prospectus, or such later date as the Issuer 

and the Agent may agree and the securities regulatory authorities may approve, the Offering will be 

discontinued and all subscription funds received by the Agent in connection with the offering will be 

returned to Subscribers without interest, set-off or deduction.   

The Offering will remain open until such date as may be agreed to by the Issuer and the Agent, but no 

later than the date that is 90 days after a receipt is issued by the principal regulator pursuant to National 

Policy 11-202 – Process for Prospectus Review in Multiple Jurisdictions (“NP 11-202”) for this 

Prospectus, unless any amendment to this Prospectus is filed within 90 days after the date of the receipt 

for the amendment to this Prospectus.  Notwithstanding the above, the total period of the offering must 

not end more than 180 days from the date of the initial receipt for this Prospectus. 
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AN INVESTMENT IN THE OFFERED SECURITIES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 

SPECULATIVE DUE TO THE NATURE OF THE BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER, ITS PRESENT 

STAGE OF DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER RISK FACTORS. 

AN INVESTMENT IN NATURAL RESOURCE ISSUERS INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT 

DEGREE OF RISK.  THE DEGREE OF RISK INCREASES SUBSTANTIALLY WHERE THE 

ISSUER’S PROPERTIES ARE IN THE EXPLORATION STAGE AS OPPOSED TO THE 

DEVELOPMENT STAGE.  AN INVESTMENT IN THESE SECURITIES SHOULD ONLY BE 

MADE BY PERSONS WHO CAN AFFORD THE TOTAL LOSS OF THEIR INVESTMENT.  

SEE “RISK FACTORS”. 

There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to 

resell securities purchased under this Prospectus.  This may affect the pricing of the securities in 

the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the 

securities, and the extent of issuer regulation.  See “Risk Factors”.  The Exchange has conditionally 

accepted the listing of the Issuer’s Common Shares.  The listing is subject to the Issuer meeting all 

of the listing requirements of the Exchange including prescribed distribution and financial 

requirements. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 

applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its 

securities on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and 

the United States of America other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock 

Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc. 

Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars.  

Prior to the date of this Prospectus, an affiliate of the Agent sold Common Shares to two arm’s 

length parties.  In addition, employees of the Agent own Common Shares of the Issuer.  

Consequently, the Agent may be a connected issuer (as such terms are defined in National 

Instrument 33-105, Underwriting Conflicts) to the Agent.  See “Relationship between the Issuer and 

the Agent”. 

Certain legal matters relating to the securities offered hereby will be passed upon by DuMoulin Black 

LLP, Vancouver, British Columbia, and by Legacy Tax + Trust Lawyers, Vancouver, British Columbia, 

as to tax matters, on behalf of the Issuer, and by Borden Ladner Gervais LLP, on behalf of the Agent.  No 

person is authorized by the Issuer to provide any information or make any representations other than those 

contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue and sale of the securities offered hereunder. 

Macquarie Capital Markets Canada Ltd. 

Suite 2400, Bentall 5 

550 Burrard Street, Box 38 

Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2B5 

Tel: (604) 605-3344 

Fax: (604) 604-1634 
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

Statements contained in this Prospectus that are not historical facts are “forward-looking statements” or 

“forward-looking information” (within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation) 

(collectively, “Forward-Looking Information”).  Forward-Looking Information includes, but is not 

limited to, statements relating to the timing, availability and amount of financings; expected use of 

proceeds; business objectives; the acquisition of interests in mineral properties; the timing and costs of 

future exploration activities on the Issuer’s properties; success of exploration activities; permitting time 

lines and requirements for additional capital.  In certain cases, Forward-Looking Information can be 

identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, 

“scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, or 

variations of such words and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, 

“would”, “might” or “will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. In making the Forward-Looking 

Information in this Prospectus, the Issuer has applied several material assumptions, including, but not 

limited to, the assumption that this Offering will be completed for at least the minimum amount and that 

any additional financing needed will be available on reasonable terms, that the current exploration and 

other objectives concerning the Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake Project can be achieved, that 

general business and economic conditions will not change in a materially adverse manner, and that all 

necessary governmental approvals for the planned exploration on the Mirado Gold Project and Derlak 

Red Lake Project will be obtained in a timely manner and on acceptable terms. Other assumptions are 

discussed throughout this Prospectus and, in particular, in the “Risk Factors” section in this Prospectus.  

Forward-Looking Information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which 

may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Issuer to be materially different from 

any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the Forward-Looking 

Information.  Such risks and other factors include, among others, risks related to the completion of 

financings and the use of proceeds; operations and contractual obligations; changes in exploration 

programs based upon results of exploration; future prices of metals; availability of third party contractors; 

availability of equipment; failure of equipment to operate as anticipated; accidents, effects of weather and 

other natural phenomena and other risks of the mineral exploration industry; environmental risks; 

community relations; and delays in obtaining governmental approvals or financing; as well as those 

factors discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus.  Although the Issuer has 

attempted to identify important factors that could affect the Issuer and may cause actual actions, events or 

results to differ materially from those described in Forward-Looking Information, there may be other 

factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended.  There can be 

no assurance that Forward-Looking Information will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future 

events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements.  Accordingly, readers should not 

place undue reliance on Forward-Looking Information.  The Forward-Looking Information in this 

Prospectus is made only as of the date hereof.  The Issuer, to the extent required by applicable securities 

law, will release publicly any revisions to Forward-Looking Information contained in this Prospectus to 

reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the offering and should be read together with 

the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this 

Prospectus. 

The Issuer: The Issuer was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British 

Columbia) on July 26, 2011 under the name “Orefinders Resources Inc.”. 

The Issuer’s head office is located at 2300 – 1066 West Hastings Street, 

Vancouver, BC  V6E 3X2, and its registered and records office is located at 10
th
 

Floor, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2T5. 

The principal business of the Issuer is the exploration and development of mineral 

properties in Canada.  The Issuer intends to fund exploration activities on the 

Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake Project using the proceeds from the 

Offering. 

See “Description of the Business”. 

The Offering: The Offering will be comprised of a minimum of 6,000,000 Common Shares and 

up to a maximum of 8,000,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.50 per Common 

Share on a commercially reasonable efforts basis.  See “Description of the 

Securities Distributed”. 

This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Offered Securities issued under 

the Offering.  See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Price: $0.50 per Common Share. 

Proceeds to the 

Issuer: 

Minimum of $3,000,000 and up to a maximum of $4,000,000 (before 

commissions, fees and expenses of the Offering and without exercise of the Over-

Allotment Option), as well as $2,035,000 from the Concurrent Private Placement.  

See “Use of Proceeds – Funds Available”. 

Concurrent 

Private 

Placement: 

The Offering is being effected concurrently with the Concurrent Private 

Placement pursuant to which the Issuer will issue and sell 3,700,000 FT Shares at 

$0.55 per FT Share in accordance with prospectus exemptions available under 

applicable securities law.  Closing of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject 

to completion of the Minimum Offering. 

Use of Proceeds: The Issuer intends to use the proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private 

Placement, together with the Issuer’s working capital of $873,398 as at October 

31, 2012, to primarily pay for the commissions, fees and expenses of this 

Offering, exploration costs on the Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake 

Project, general and administrative costs and general working capital.  See “Use 

of Proceeds”. 

Agent’s 

Compensation: 

The Agent will receive a fee equal to 7% of the gross proceeds of the Offering 

and the Concurrent Private Placement, payable in cash.  The Agent will also 

receive that number of Agent IPO Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of 

Offered Securities sold in the Offering and that number of Agent Private 

Placement Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of FT Shares sold in the 

Concurrent Private Placement, each Agent Warrant entitling the holder thereof to 

purchase one Agent Share for a period of eighteen months from the Closing Date 

at a price of $0.50 per Common Share.  The Agent’s IPO Warrants issued in 

respect of the Offering are also qualified for distribution pursuant to this 

Prospectus.  See “Description of the Securities Distributed” and “Plan of 

Distribution”. 
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Summary of 

Financial 

Information: 

The following table summarizes selected financial data for the period from 

incorporation to July 31, 2012 and should be read in conjunction with the audited 

financial statements and related notes thereto, together with the Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis, as included elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

  

Selected Financial Information 

For the period from incorporation 

to July 31, 2012 (audited) 

Revenues $Nil 

Expenses $151,577 

Net loss for period $151,334 

Current assets $1,077,722 

Deferred Financing $45,269 

Mineral property acquisition $64,084 

Mineral property exploration $250,538 

Total assets $1,415,951 

Current liabilities $23,554 

Working capital $1,054,168 

Shareholders’ equity $1,392,397 

Basic and diluted loss per Common Share ($0.01) 

Weighted average number of Common 

Shares outstanding-basic and diluted 

 

12,225,997 

Over-Allotment 

Option: 

The Agent has an Over-Allotment Option exercisable until 5:00 pm (Vancouver 

time) on the date that is 30 days following the Closing Date to purchase up to 

1,200,000 Over-Allotment Shares (assuming completion of the Maximum 

Offering) at a price of $0.50 per Over-Allotment Share. This Prospectus qualifies 

the distribution of the Over-Allotment Option and the Over-Allotment Shares.  

See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Eligibility for 

Investment 

In the opinion of Legacy Tax + Trust Lawyers, special tax counsel to the Issuer, 

on the Closing Date, provided that the Common Shares are on that date listed for 

trading on a designated stock exchange (which includes Tier One and Tier Two of 

the Exchange), the Common Shares will be qualified investments under the Tax 

Act for trusts governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), 

registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), registered disability savings plan, 

deferred profit sharing plan, registered education savings plan or tax-free savings 

account (“TFSA”), all as defined in the Tax Act (collectively, the “Investment 

Plans”). 

 If the Common Shares are a “prohibited investment” (as defined in the Tax Act) 

for a trust governed by a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF (a “Registered Plan”), the holder 

of the TFSA or the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, as the case may be, (such 

holder or annuitant being a “Controlling Individual” of the Registered Plan) will 

be subject to a penalty tax on the Common Shares as set out in the Tax Act.  A 

Common Share will generally not be a prohibited investment for a trust governed 

by a Registered Plan held by a particular holder provided that the Controlling 

Individual deals at arm’s length with the Issuer for the purposes of the Tax Act, 

and does not have a “significant interest” (as defined in the Tax Act) in either the 

Issuer or a corporation, partnership or trust that does not deal at arm’s length with 

the Issuer for purposes of the Tax Act.  In general terms, a Controlling Individual 

of a Registered Plan will have a significant interest in the Issuer if the Registered 

Plan, the Controlling Individual, and other persons not at arm’s length with the 

Controlling Individual together, directly or indirectly, own not less than 10% of 

the outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer. 
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See “Risk Factors” and “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”. 

 
Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Offered Securities in a Registered 

Plan should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular 

circumstances. 

Risk Factors: The securities of the Issuer are highly speculative due to the nature of the Issuer’s 

business and the present stage of its development. 

The Issuer’s activities are subject to the risks normally encountered in the 

resource exploration, development and mining business.  There is no assurance 

that the Issuer’s exploration will result in the discovery of an economically viable 

mineral deposit. The economics of developing and operating resource properties 

are affected by many factors including the cost of exploration and development 

operations, variations of the grade of ore mined and the rate of resource extraction 

and fluctuations in the price of resources produced, government regulations 

relating to royalties, taxes and environmental protection. 

The Issuer has generated losses to date and while, upon completion of the 

Offering, the Issuer will have sufficient financial resources to undertake the initial 

recommended exploration program, the Issuer will require additional funds to 

explore and develop its properties.  There is no assurance such additional funding 

will be available to the Issuer.  Additional equity financing may result in 

substantial dilution thereby reducing the marketability of the Offered Securities. 

The Issuer may become subject to liability for hazards, including environmental 

hazards, against which it is not insured.  The Issuer competes with other mining 

companies with greater financial and technical resources. 

Certain directors and officers of the Issuer serve as directors or officers of other 

public and private resource companies, and to the extent that such other 

companies may participate in ventures in which the Issuer may participate, such 

directors and officers of the Issuer may have a conflict of interest.  See “Risk 

Factors”. 
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GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS 

The following terms used in this Prospectus have the meanings ascribed to them below.  This Glossary of Defined 

Terms is not exhaustive of the defined terms or expressions used in this Prospectus and other terms and 

expressions may be defined throughout this Prospectus. 

Agent – Macquarie Capital Markets Canada Ltd. 

Agency Agreement – The agency agreement dated as of November 27, 2012 between the Agent and the Issuer 

with respect to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement. 

Agent IPO Share – A Common Share of the Issuer, issuable upon the exercise of an Agent IPO Warrant. 

Agent IPO Warrant – A Common Share purchase warrant issued to the Agent entitling the Agent to purchase 

one Agent IPO Share at a price of $0.50 for a period of eighteen months from the Closing Date of the Offering. 

Agent Private Placement Share – A Common Share of the Issuer, issuable upon the exercise of an Agent Private 

Placement Warrant. 

Agent Private Placement Warrant – A Common Share purchase warrant issued to the Agent entitling the Agent 

to purchase one Agent Private Placement Share at a price of $0.50 for a period of eighteen months from the 

Closing Date of the Concurrent Private Placement. 

Agent Share – An Agent IPO Share or an Agent Private Placement Share. 

Agent Warrant – An Agent IPO Warrant or an Agent Private Placement Warrant. 

Board of Directors – The Issuer’s board of directors. 

Closing – The closing of the Offering. 

Closing Date – The earlier of: (i) a date mutually acceptable to the Issuer and the Agent, or (ii) the date that is 90 

days from the date of this Prospectus. 

Code – The Issuer’s Code of Conduct. 

Common Share – A common share without par value in the capital of the Issuer. 

Concurrent Private Placement  – the private placement of 3,700,000 FT Shares to be issued and sold by the 

Issuer at $0.55 per FT Shares in accordance with prospectus exemptions available under applicable securities law, 

which private placement is being effected concurrently with the Offering. 

CRA - The Canada Revenue Agency. 

Derlak Red Lake Project – The eleven mining claims located in Baird and Heyson Townships, in the Province 

of Ontario, that are subject to the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement. 

Derlak Red Lake Technical Report – Technical Report entitled “Technical Report on the Derlak Red Lake 

Property, Ontario”, dated July 16, 2012, prepared by Reddick Consulting Inc. (authors:  John Reddick, M.Sc., 

P.Geo. and James Lavigne, M.Sc., P.Geo.). 

Effective Date – The date the Securities Commissions issue a receipt for this Prospectus. 

Engagement Agreement – The engagement agreement between the Issuer and the Agent dated as of July 

19, 2012 in respect of the Offering, which will be superseded in its entirety by the Agency Agreement. 

Escrow Agent – Computershare Investor Services Inc. 

Escrow Agreement – Escrow agreements dated May 25, 2012 and October 15, 2012 among the Issuer, the 

Escrow Agent and Stuart Rogers, William Yeomans, Moray Resources Inc., Cazador Resources Ltd., Stephen 

Dulmage, Kevin Piepgrass, 2287957 Ontario Inc., Jeffrey Becker and Micon. 

Escrowed Securities – Common Shares escrowed pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement. 

Exchange – TSX Venture Exchange. 

Fechi – Fechi Inc. 

Forward-Looking Information – Statements contained in this Prospectus that are not historical facts and are 

forward-looking statements or forward-looking information. 
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FT Shares – the 3,700,000 Common Shares to be issued and sold by the Issuer as “flow-through shares” within 

the meaning the Tax Act pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement at a price of $0.55 per Common Share. 

Issuer – Orefinders Resources Inc. 

Listing Date – The date the Issuer’s Common Shares are listed for trading through the facilities of the Exchange. 

Micon – Micon Gold Inc. 

Micon Common Shares – Means the up to 14,974,286 Common Shares to be issued to Micon concurrently with 

the Closing of the Offering pursuant to the terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement. 

Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement – The Amended and Restated Assignment Agreement dated for reference 

January 25, 2012, as amended November 19, 2012, between the Issuer and Fechi relating to the eleven mining 

claims comprising the Derlak Red Lake Project and twelve mining claims comprising part of the Mirado Gold 

Project. 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement – The option agreement dated January 19, 2012 between Micon and Fechi 

relating to the eleven mining claims comprising the Derlak Red Lake Project and twelve mining claims 

comprising part of the Mirado Gold Project. 

Micon Option Warrants – Means 1,403,571 warrants entitling Micon to purchase up to 1,403,571 Common 

Shares, at an exercise price equal to the Offering Price at any time up to April 3, 2017, to be issued to Micon 

concurrently with the Closing pursuant to the terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement. 

Micon Warrants – Means such number of warrants as is necessary to represent 30% of the number of warrants 

outstanding on the Closing Date, to be issued to Micon concurrently with the Closing pursuant to the terms of the 

Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement, each such warrant entitling Micon to purchase one Common Share at an 

exercise price equal to the price of the Agent’s Warrant at any time up to 18 months from the Closing Date of the 

Offering. 

Minimum Offering – 6,000,000 Common Shares. 

Maximum Offering – 8,000,000 Common Shares. 

Mirado Gold Project – Means the mineral claims comprised of the Mirado Gold Property and the MZ Property. 

Mirado Gold Property – The twelve mining claims located in Catharine and McElroy Townships, in the 

Province of Ontario, that are subject to the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement and the ten mining claims located 

in Catharine and McElroy Townships, in the Province of Ontario, that are subject to the MZ/Fechi Assignment 

Agreement. 

Mirado Gold Project Technical Report – The technical report entitled “Technical Report on the Mirado and 

MZ Properties, Ontario”, dated July 16, 2012, prepared by Reddick Consulting Inc. (authors:  John Reddick, 

M.Sc., P.Geo. and James Lavigne, M.Sc., P.Geo.). 

MZ Property – The mining claims described under the heading “Property Description and Location” under the 

heading “Mirado Gold Project”, comprised of ten mining claims (45 units) located in Catharine Township, 

Ontario. 

MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement – The assignment agreement dated February 9, 2012, as amended March 27, 

2012, between the Issuer and Fechi relating to the MZ Property. 

MZ/Fechi Option Agreement – The Option agreement dated February 8, 2012, as amended March 26, 2012, 

between the Issuer and Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky relating to the MZ Property. 

Named Executive Officers – William Yeomans, Stuart Rogers and Alexander Stewart. 

NI 43-101 – National Instrument 43-101, Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. 

NI 45-102 – National Instrument 45-102, Resale of Securities. 

NP 46-201 – National Policy 46-201, Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. 

NP 52-110 – National Policy 52-110, Audit Committees. 

Offered Securities – The Common Shares, including the Over-Allotment Shares, offered by this Prospectus. 

Offering – Has the meaning ascribed to it on the face page of this Prospectus. 

Offering Price – $0.50 per Common Share. 

Over-Allotment Option – The option of the Agent to purchase up to 1,200,000 Over-Allotment Shares at price 

of $0.50 per Over-Allotment Share for a period of 30 days following the Closing Date. 
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Over-Allotment Shares – The aggregate of up to 1,200,000 Common Shares to be purchased under the Over-

Allotment Option. 

Prospectus – Means this prospectus. 

Securities Commissions – The British Columbia Securities Commission, the Alberta Securities Commission and 

the Ontario Securities Commission. 

Stock Option Plan – The Issuer’s stock option plan approved by the directors of the Issuer on April 3, 2012. 

Subscriber – A subscriber for Offered Securities subscribed for under this Offering. 

Tax Act - The Income Tax Act (Canada). 

GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

Conversion Factors 

To Convert Metric Measurement Shares To Imperial Measurement Shares Multiply By 

Grams (g) Ounces (troy) (oz) 0.032 

Grams per tonne (g/t) Ounces (troy) per ton (oz/ton) 0.029 

Hectares(ha) Acres 2.471 

Kilometers (km) Miles (mi) 0.621 

Square kilometers (km
2
) Square mile (mi

2
) 0.386 

Meters (m) Feet (ft) 3.281 

Millimeters (mm) Inches (in) 0.039 

Tonnes (t) Short tons (2,000 lbs) 1.102 

Mineral Elements 

Ag Silver H Hydrogen 

Al Aluminum K Potassium 

Au Gold Mg Magnesium 

B Boron Mo Molybdenum 

Ba Barium Na Sodium 

Ca Calcium Ni Nickel 

Cl Chlorine O Oxygen 

Co Cobalt Pb Lead 

Cu Copper S Sulphur 

F Fluorine Si Silicon 

Fe Iron Zn Zinc 

Unless otherwise indicated or inconsistent in the context, the following terms used in this Prospectus have the 

meanings ascribed to them below. 

Alteration – General and not specified term for a mineralogical (metamorphic) and/or chemical (metasomatic) 
change of a rock. 

Breccia – Rock made up of angular or sub-angular fragments >2mm embedded in a fine-grained matrix. 

Deposit – A mineralized body of rock which has been physically delineated by drilling, trenching, and/or 

underground work, and found to contain a sufficient average grade of valuable material to warrant further 

exploration and/or development expenditures; such a deposit does not qualify as a commercially mineable ore 
body or as containing mineral reserves, until final legal, technical and economic factors have been resolved. 

Dip – An angle of inclination of a geological feature, e.g. fractures or layering, from the horizontal. 

Extrusive rocks – Rocks formed after an eruption of a volcano from mafic lava, e.g. basalt, or as pyroclastic tuffs 

from explosive eruptions of silica rich rhyolitic to intermediate (less silca) andesitic composition. 

Fault – A fracture in the earth’s crust with relative movement between two or more separate blocks. Faults are the 
result of the rock's mechanical response when submitted to sufficient stress during (plate-) tectonic events. 

Fracture – A general term applied to more or less clean breaks in rocks or minerals. 
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Igneous rock – A primary crystalline, sometimes glassy rock formed by the solidification during cooling of hot 

and mainly liquid magma. 

Intrusion – A body of igneous rock formed by the slow consolidation of magma intruded into other rocks, in 

contrast to extrusive rocks, which are cooling and consolidate fast upon the earth’s surface. 

Mafic mineral – A mineral rich in iron and magnesium, typically with dark color due to the high iron content. If 

the iron content is low with high magnesium content the color can be light. Typical igneous mafic minerals are 

mica (e.g. biotite), amphibole (e.g. hornblende), and pyroxene (e.g. augite). 

Mafic rock – A rock containing high amounts of mafic minerals, and comprising of low content of silica. 

Meta – A prefix used with the name of rock to indicate that it has undergone meta-morphosis or meta-somatism 

after the primary formation. 

Metamorphism – In-situ mineralogical change of a rock without appreciable change in the chemistry of the rock 

affected by pressure and/or heat. 

Metasomatism – Chemical alteration of a rock by hydrothermal and other fluids in an open system, allowing 

components to get depleted or increased by mass transfer. 

Mineral deposit – A mass of naturally occurring rock containing metallic or nonmetallic minerals, usually of 

economic value, regardless of formation conditions. 

Mineralization – Term used for the process of formation of minerals. In the context of economic geology it is 

used to describe the occurrence of a concentration of minerals, mainly with valuable metallic components, within 

a part of rock regardless of the amount and size. 

MMI -  Mobil Metal Ion, an advanced geochemical soil sampling technique pioneered by SGS Lakefield 

Laboratories. The technique can identify deep buried mineralization by measuring the concentration of metal ions 

in the soil at surface. 

Ore – Type of rock that contains minerals with valuable elements including metals in a quality and quantity to 

enable it to be mined at a profit. 

Ore body – A continuous well-defined mass of material containing enough ore to make extraction economically 

feasible. 

Outcrop – A part of a rock formation that is exposed at the Earth's surface. 

Pyroclastic rock – Typically a sequence of extrusive rocks due to explosive volcanic activity formed from ash, 

fractured crystals, mainly quartz and feldspar, and glassy components, which can be irregular in shape or round. 

The latter are called lapilli (small round balls). The rocks can be named as Ash tuff, Crystal tuff, and Lapilli tuff, 

according to their main components. 

Pluton – A general term applied to a body of intrusive igneous rock, irrespective of its shape, size or composition. 

Quartzite – Generated from a sandstone by re-crystallization of quartz at a minimum temperature of 400° Celsius 

and pressures at one to three kbar. 

Sampling – A technique for collecting representative sub-volumes from a larger volume of geological material. 

The particular sampling method employed depends on the nature of the material being sampled and the kind of 

information required. 

Shear – A plane of fracture and a sliding along that plane, in a rock bed. 

Shear Zone –  A zone of parallel to sub-parallel occurring shears, which often act as pathways for fluids that may 

or may not carry valuable metallic components. 

Silica – A general term for a component comprising of Silicium and oxygen. 

Strike – A direction of line formed by the intersection of strata surfaces with the horizontal plane, always 

perpendicular to the dip direction. 
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Term Abbreviation 
Above sea level asi 
Atomic absorption AA 

Billion B 
Billion years before present Ga 
British thermal unit BTU 
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum CIM 
Centimetre cm 
Cubic centimeter cm

3
 

Cubic feet ft
3
 

Cubic feet per minute cfm 
Cubic metre m3 
Coefficient of variation CV 

Degree º 
Dollar (American) US$ 

Dollar (Canadian) $ o r C$ or CDN$ or CAN$ 

Fire assay FA 
Foot Ft 

Gemcom Software International Inc* Gemcom 
Global positioning system GPS 
Gram G 

Gram per tonne gpt 

Gold Au 

Gross metal royalty GRM 
Induced polarization IP 
Greater than > 
Hectare (10,00 0 m

2
) ha 

Inch " 
Kilo (thou sand) k 
Kilo gram kg 

Kilometre km 
Less than < 

Litre L 

Metre m 
Metric tonne T 
Micron pm 
Million M 

MillionTonnes MT 
Millimeter mm 
Net Smelter Return NSR 
ounce per short ton opt 
parts per billion ppb 

parts per million ppm 

Pound lb 
quality assurance/ quality control QA/QC 
rock quality designation RQD 
Short ton (2,000 pound s) t 

silver Ag 

specific gravity SG 

square kilometre km
2
 

square metre m2 

Three dimensional 3D 
Troy ounce(31.1037g) oz 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The Issuer was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on July 26, 2011 

under the name “Orefinders Resources Inc.”. 

The Issuer’s head office is located at 2300 – 1066 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC, V6E 3X2, and 

its registered and records office is located at 10
th
 Floor, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, 

V6C 2T5. 

The Issuer does not have any subsidiaries. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

Narrative Description of Business  

The Issuer is a mineral exploration company.  Its principal activities consist of evaluating, acquiring, 

exploring and developing mining properties in Ontario, Canada.  The Issuer intends to use the net 

proceeds from the Offering primarily to conduct exploration programs on the Mirado Gold Project and 

Derlak Red Lake Project situated in Ontario, Canada.  Exploration will consist of IP surveys, airborne 

magnetometer surveys, sampling and shallow and deep zone drilling programs. 

Mineral exploration and development of mining properties are anticipated to constitute the principal 

business of the Issuer for the coming years.  In the course of realizing its objectives, it is expected the 

Issuer will enter into various agreements specific to the mining industry, such as purchase or option 

agreements to purchase mining claims and joint venture agreements. 

History Since Incorporation 

Financings 

Since the date of incorporation on July 26, 2011, the following Common Shares have been (or, in the case 

of the up to 14,974,286 Common Shares, will be issuable to Micon set out below) issued: 

Number and Class of Securities Price per Security Total Proceeds Date of Issue 

1 Common Share
(1)

 $0.001 $0.001 July 26, 2011 

7,499,999 Common Shares
(2)

 $0.001 $7,499.999 Sept. 1, 2011 

15,740,000 Common Shares
(3)

 $0.10 $1,574,000 March 26, 2012 

75,000 Common Shares
(4)

 $0.10 (deemed) $7,500 (deemed) March 26, 2012 

14,974,286 Common Shares
(1) (5)

 $0.50 (deemed) $7,487,143 

(deemed) 

Closing Date 

3,700,000 Common Shares
(6)

 $0.55 $2,035,000 Closing Date 
(1)

 Escrowed Securities. 
(2)

 4,549,999 of these Common Shares are Escrowed Securities. 
(3)

 2,450,000 of these Common Shares are Escrowed Securities. 
(4)

 Issued as partial consideration for the MZ Property. 
(5)

 Will be issued to Micon assuming completion of the Maximum Offering as partial consideration for the 

Mirado Gold Project and the Derlak Red Lake Project and are Escrowed Shares. 
(6)

 FT Shares. 

Property Acquisitions 

Since its incorporation, the Issuer has focused on acquiring mining claims in Ontario. 
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Principal Properties 

Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake Project 

On January 25, 2012, the Issuer entered into the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement, pursuant to the 

terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all its right, title and interest in the Micon/Fechi Option 

Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be bound by the terms of the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named therein in the place 

and stead of Fechi.  The Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement also provided that: 

- The Issuer would arrange for the issuance of 3,750,000 Common Shares at a purchase price of $0.001 

per Common Share as Fechi directed; 

- The Issuer would appoint a majority of its directors as nominated by Fechi; 

- The Issuer would appoint its officers as nominated by Fechi; 

- The Issuer would enter into an office lease for a Toronto office; 

- The Issuer would enter into certain consulting agreements; and 

- The Issuer would enter into certain incentive option agreements. 

Each of these requirements has been completed. 

The Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement further provided that, in the event the Issuer does not complete 

financings for a total of $5,000,000 on or before December 17, 2012, Fechi may give notice and terminate 

the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement. 

The terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by Micon to Fechi 

for the acquisition of twelve claims comprising part of the Mirado Gold Project and the Derlak Red Lake 

Project (eleven claims). 

To exercise the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash payments to Micon and 

incur exploration expenditures as follows: 

Mirado Gold Property 

Date Cash Payments Cumulative Expenditures 

January 19, 2012 $25,000 (paid) - 

January 19, 2013 $50,000            $300,000 

January 19, 2014 $75,000            $500,000 

January 19, 2015 -            $1,200,000 

TOTAL: $150,000           $2,000,000 

Derlak Red Lake Project 

Date Cash Payments Cumulative Expenditures 

January 19, 2012 $10,000 (paid) - 

January 19, 2013 $20,000            $200,000 

January 19, 2014 $30,000            $300,000 

January 19, 2015 -            $500,000 

TOTAL: $60,000            $1,000,000 

The Micon/Fechi Option Agreement also provides for the issuance of the Micon Common Shares being 

Common Shares of the Issuer equal to an amount representing 30% of the outstanding Common Shares of 

the Issuer at Closing (excluding Common Shares issued for properties), being up to 14,974,286 Common 

Shares (assuming the completion of the Maximum Offering.  In addition, the Issuer has agreed to issue 

Micon Warrants being warrants issued to Micon equal to 30% of any warrants of the Issuer outstanding at 

the Closing Date, being 351,000 warrants assuming completion of the Maximum Offering, and Micon 

Option Warrants being warrants issued to Micon equal to 30% of the number of incentive options issued 
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to directors and officers of the Issuer as at the Closing Date, being 1,403,571 warrants, on the same terms 

applicable to the incentive options.  The Micon Common Shares, Micon Warrants and Micon Option 

Warrants will be issued to Micon concurrently with the Closing of the Offering. 

The Mirado Gold Property and the Derlak Red Lake Project are subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty 

payable to Micon.  An initial 1% of the Mirado Gold Property net smelter return royalty may be 

purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000, the second 1% for the sum of $2,000,000, and the 

third 1% for the sum of $3,000,000, at any time prior to commencement of commercial production.  1% 

of the Derlak Red Lake Project net smelter return royalty may be purchased by the Issuer for the sum of 

$1,000,000 at any time prior to commencement of commercial production. 

Upon the Issuer having made the cash payments, incurring the exploration expenditures and issuing the 

Common Shares, Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants set out above, the Issuer, subject to the 3% 

net smelter return royalty, shall have earned a 100% interest in the mining claims subject to the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement. 

Micon is at arm’s length to the Issuer.  Micon is an unlisted reporting issuer, the controlling shareholder 

of which is Jeffrey Becker. 

Fechi is a related party to the Issuer.  Alexander Stewart, the Executive Chairman and a director of the 

Issuer, is a director and sole shareholder of Fechi. 

MZ Property Comprising Part of the Mirado Gold Project 

On February 9, 2012, as amended March 27, 2012 and November 19, 2012, the Issuer entered into the 

MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement, pursuant to the terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all right, title 

and interest in the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be 

bound by the terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named 

therein in the place of Fechi.  The MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement also provides that, in the event the 

Issuer does not complete financings for a total of $5,000,000 on or before December 17, 2012, Fechi may 

give notice and terminate the MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement. 

The terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by Walter Metherall 

and David Zabudsky to Fechi for the acquisition of ten mining Claims (45 units) in Catharine and 

McElroy Townships, Ontario, which mining claims are contiguous to the mining claims optioned from 

Micon pursuant to the terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement and comprise part of the Mirado 

Gold Project. 

To exercise the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash payments and issue Common 

Shares to Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky, and incur exploration expenditures as follows: 

Date Cash Payments Cumulative Expenditures Common Share Issuances 

February 8, 2012 $20,000 (paid) - - 

On or before April 8, 2012 - - 75,000 (issued) 

February 8, 2013 $25,000            $50,000 25,000 

February 8, 2014 $25,000            $75,000 50,000 

February 8, 2015 $30,000            $100,000 50,000 

February 8, 2016 $40,000            $200,000 50,000 

TOTAL: $140,000            $425,000 250,000 

The MZ Property is subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty payable to Walter Metherall and David 

Zabudsky.  1% of the net smelter return royalty may be purchased by the Issuer for the sum of 

$1,000,000, and the second 1% of the net smelter return royalty may be purchased by the Issuer for the 

sum of $2,000,000, at any time before commencement of commercial production. 
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Upon the Issuer having made the cash payments, incurring expenditures and issuing Common Shares as 

set out above, the Issuer, subject to the 2% net smelter return royalty, shall have earned a 100% interest in 

the ten mining claims comprising part of the MZ Property, subject to the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement. 

Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky are arm’s length to the Issuer. 

Fechi is a related party to the Issuer.  Alexander Stewart, the Executive Chairman and a director of the 

Issuer, is a director and sole shareholder of Fechi. 

The Issuer has no other properties. 

MINERAL PROJECTS 

Principal Projects 

The Issuer’s principal mineral projects are the Mirado Gold Project and the Derlak Red Lake Project 

located in the Province of Ontario.  

DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL MINERAL PROJECTS 

MIRADO GOLD PROJECT 

The following project description is derived from the technical report on the Mirado Gold Project titled 

“Technical Report on the Mirado and MZ Properties, Ontario”. The Mirado Gold Project Technical 

Report was prepared by John Reddick, M.Sc., P. Geo. (Ont.), and James Lavigne, M.Sc., P.Geo., who are 

qualified persons for the purpose of NI 43-101. The Mirado Gold Project Technical Report is available 

for review under the Issuer’s profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. The following sections 

are derived from the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report and are qualified by reference to the Mirado 

Gold Project Technical Report in its entirety. Readers are encouraged to read the Mirado Gold Project 

Technical Report. The Issuer will be the initial operator of the exploration program outlined in the Mirado 

Gold Project Technical Report. 

DESCRIPTION OF MINERAL PROJECT 

Property Description and Location 

The Mirado Gold Project is comprised of the Mirado Gold Property and the MZ Property. The Mirado 

Gold Property is located approximately 35 kilometres by road southeast of the town of Kirkland Lake, 

Ontario, which is approximately 585 kilometres by road north of Toronto, Ontario, within the townships 

of Catharine and McElroy in the Province of Ontario. The centre of the Mirado Gold Property lies at 

roughly 48º 00’ 57”N Latitude and 79º 49” 35”W Longitude and the Mirado Gold Property elevations are 

from about 260 to 310 m a.s.l. The UTM coordinates for the centre of the Mirado Gold Property are 

roughly 587,500m E and 5,318,700m N (NAD 83, Zone 17). The MZ Property is contiguous with, and 

abuts the Mirado Gold Property on the west, south and southeast boundaries. The Mirado Gold Property 

and MZ Property are collectively termed the “Properties” or the “Mirado Gold Project” in the Mirado 

Gold Project Technical Report and in this description. 

The Mirado Gold Property is comprised of twelve, contiguous, patented mining claims. The claims cover 

an area of approximately 432.52 acres (~175.03 hectares) with four claims in Catharine Township, and 

eight claims in McElroy Township, as more particularly set out below. All of the Mirado Gold Property 

claims are patented mining claims with fee simple absolute title to mining and surface rights with minor 

surface right reservations, mostly for road allowances and hydro-electric transmission line easements. All 

timber rights are also reserved for the Crown. All the claims are in good standing. The patented claims are 

held by Micon, an unlisted reporting company. 

The MZ Property is comprised of ten, contiguous, staked mining claims. The claims consist of a total of 

45 units all in claims in Catharine Township and McElroy Township, as more particularly set out below. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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All of the MZ claims are staked claims for mining rights only and have no surface rights. All timber 

rights are also reserved for the Crown. All the claims are in good standing and cover an area of 

approximately 1880 acres (~728 hectares). Note that a work report was filed for claim L4258214 on July 

6, 2012 and upon the successful approval of that assessment work, that claim will not expire on the date 

shown in the table below but in 2016 instead. The staked claims are held by Messrs W. Metherall, and D. 

B. Zabudsky. 

The claims all have boundaries as depicted on the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines 

(“MNDM”) claim maps. Catharine Township is a subdivided township and claim boundaries are 

approximately located along the lot and concession lines of the township but the staked claims have not 

been surveyed. 

List of Patent Claims for the Mirado Gold Property, Ontario 

Parcel Claim Location Area 

5264 SEC SST L24960 Catharine Twp. 40.0 

5265 SEC SST L24961 Catharine Twp. 40.0 

7432 SEC SST L34750 Catharine Twp. 40.0 

6339 SEC SST L34751 Catharine Twp. 40.0 

12449 SEC SST L26272 McElroy Twp. 38.14 

12448 SEC SST L26273 McElroy Twp. 46.18 

12445 SEC SST L27303 McElroy Twp. 26.50 

6417 SEC SST L31238 McElroy Twp. 26.35 

12447 SEC SST L31257 McElroy Twp. 37.54 

12446 SEC SST L31749 McElroy Twp. 29.75 

12465 SEC SST L31377 McElroy Twp. 35.69 

12466 SEC SST L31378 McElroy Twp. 32.37 

  Total 432.52 

List of Claims for the MZ Property, Ontario 

Claim Staked Expiry Date Units Area Claim Staked 

L1146327 April 9, 2000 April 10, 2007 4 ~160 Catharine Metherall 

L1196951 August 3, 2000 August 4, 2017 3 ~120 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L1192176 Sept 12, 2002 Sept 18, 2017 4 ~160 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L1199883 July 25, 2002 July 26, 2017 4 ~160 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L1199884 July 26, 2002 July 27, 2017 1 ~40 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L1241351 June 13, 2002 June 18, 2017 8 ~320 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L1241353 April 5, 2003 April 10, 2017 6 ~240 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L3002902 July 7, 2002 July 17, 2017 6 ~240 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L3004539 Sept 17, 2002 Sept 18, 2017 2 ~80 Catharine Metherall & Zabudsky 

L4258214 June 30, 2010 July 8, 2018* 7 ~280 McElroy Metherall 

TOTAL    ~1800   

The claims all have boundaries as established by the surveyed claim lines. The patented claims do not 

expire as long as annual mining taxes are paid. A location map for the Mirado Gold Property and MZ 

Property claims is presented in the figure below. 
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Property Location Map 

 



 

 

 

18 

A detailed claim map indicating the location of each of the patented and staked claims is presented in the 

following figure. 

Claim Map for the Mirado Gold Property - MZ Property, Ontario 
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On January 25, 2012, the Issuer entered into the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement with Fechi, who 

had in turn entered into the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement with Micon on January 19, 2012. Under the 

terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement, Fechi was granted an option on the Mirado Gold Property 

by Micon. Fechi in turn assigned and transferred to the Issuer all of Fechi’s right, title, interest and 

obligations as set out in the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement with Fechi. 

The Mirado Gold Property consists of twelve contiguous patented mining claims in Catharine and 

McElroy Townships, Ontario. Micon holds the surface rights and mining rights for the patented mining 

claims. The agreement allows the Issuer to explore the Mirado Gold Property and, subject to completing a 

series of staged option payments and meeting an agreed upon total of exploration expenditures, the Issuer 

will earn a 100% interest in the Mirado Gold Property, subject to the 3% NSR set out below. The option 

payments to be made by the Issuer to Micon (via Fechi) include an initial $25,000 in cash and issuing to 

Micon the Micon Common Shares, Micon Option Warrants and Micon Warrants upon the Issuer 

successfully obtaining financing in the amount of $5,000,000 and trading as a public company. The Issuer 

must also make payments of a further $125,000 in a series of payments over two years (twelve and 

twenty-four months after the signing date). The Issuer is also required to incur a series of staged 

exploration expenditures totalling $2,000,000 over a period of three years from the signing date. 

Upon completion of the share issuance and payments to Micon and completing the required expenditures, 

the Issuer will own 100% of the Mirado Gold Property, subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”) on 

production from the Mirado Gold Property. The Issuer has the right to buy back 1% of the NSR for 

$1,000,000, an additional 1% of the NSR for $2,000,000 and the remaining 1% of the NSR for 

$3,000,000 at any time before commencement of commercial production from the Mirado Gold Property. 

In addition, on February 9, 2012, and as amended on March 27, 2012, the Issuer entered into the 

MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement with Fechi, who had in turn entered into the MZ/Fechi Option 

Agreement on February 8, 2012 and that was amended on March 26, 2012. Under the terms of these 

agreements Fechi was granted an option on the MZ Property by Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky. Fechi 

in turn assigned and transferred to the Issuer all of Fechi’s right, title, interest and obligations as set out in 

the MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement to the Issuer. 

The MZ Property consists of ten contiguous staked mining claims consisting of 45 units in Catharine and 

McElroy Townships, Ontario. Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky jointly hold the mining rights for the 

staked mining claims. The agreement allows the Issuer to explore the MZ Property and, subject to 

completing a series of staged option payments and meeting an agreed upon total of exploration 

expenditures, the Issuer will earn a 100% interest in the MZ Property, subject to the 2% NSR. The option 

payments to be made by the Issuer to Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky (via Fechi) include an initial 

$20,000 in cash and issuing to Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky 75,000 shares of the Issuer stock within 

60 days of the signing of the agreement. The Issuer must also make payments of a further $120,000 in a 

series of payments over four years (twelve, twenty-four, thirty-six and forty-eight months after the signing 

date). The Issuer is also required to incur a series of staged exploration expenditures totalling $425,000 

over a period of four years from the signing date. Finally, the Issuer is also required to issue an additional 

175,000 shares of the Issuer stock in a series of staged payments over a period of four years from the 

signing date. 

Upon completion of the share issuances and payments to Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky and completing 

the required expenditures, the Issuer will own 100% of the MZ Property, subject to a 2% NSR on 

production from the MZ Property. The Issuer has the right to buy back 1% of the NSR for $1,000,000 and 

the remaining 1% of the NSR for $2,000,000 at any time before commencement of commercial 

production from the MZ Property. The Issuer is the operator during the earn-in period. The series of cash 

and share payments to satisfy the terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement are further described in the 

tables below: 
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Cash Payment Schedule Mirado Gold Property 

Date Required Payment 

January 19, 2012 $25,000 cash (paid) 

January 19, 2013 $50,000 

January 19, 2014 $75,000 

Total CDN $150,000 

Work Expenditure Schedule Mirado Gold Property 

Date Required Work Expenditure 

On or before January 19, 2013 $300,000 

On or before January 19, 2014 $500,000 

On or before January 19, 2015 $1,200,000 

Total $2,000,000 

The series of cash and share payments to satisfy the terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement are 

further described in the tables below 

Cash Payment and Share Issuance to Vendors Schedule - MZ Property 

Date Required Payment 

On signing $20,000 cash (paid) 

Within 60 days after date of agreement 75,000 shares (issued) 

On or before February 8, 2013 $25,000 cash and 25,000 shares 

On or before February 8, 2014 $25,000 cash and 50,000 shares 

On or before February 8, 2015 $30,000 cash and 50,000 shares 

On or before February 8, 2016 $40,000 cash and 50,000 shares 

Total $140,000 cash and 250,000 shares 

The series of required expenditures to satisfy the terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement are further 

described in the table below: 

Work Expenditure Schedule MZ Property 

Date Required Work Expenditure 

On or before February 8, 2013 $50,000 

On or before February 8, 2014 $75,000 

On or before February 8, 2015 $100,000 

On or before February 8, 2016 $200,000 

Total $425,000 $425,000 

Environmental and Social Considerations 

There are no known environmental liabilities relating to the Properties. There is a man-made pond that 

was presumably a former mine water decant pond near the old open pit on the Mirado Gold Property as 

well as the flooded open pit. The former Mirado Mine shaft was located during the site visit and is capped 

with a concrete cap. Other than concrete foundations, there are no buildings left from past activity. 

Although there was limited production from the mine, no tailings were found. The Mirado open pit mine 

and underground mine were closed before the introduction of Part VII of the Mining Act (Ontario) in 1991 

which instituted the requirement for closure plans. The authors of the Mirado Gold Project Technical 

Report are of the opinion that there are no potentially hazardous conditions relating to public health and 

safety or to the environment from their examination of the site. 
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Mineral exploration work on the Mirado Gold Property and the MZ Property is subject to Ontario mining 

regulations. Surface disturbance caused by exploration activity including drill pads, drill roads etc. on 

patented claims (i.e. the Mirado Gold Property) are not normally subject to reclamation. See the Permits 

Section below regarding proposed changes for exploration work on staked claims (i.e. the MZ Property). 

Water crossings for drill equipment etc. do require permits. Existing roads provide access to all areas of 

the Properties such that new water crossings should not be necessary. Access to the parts of the Mirado 

Gold Property and the MZ Property on the east side of the Misema River would have to be made from 

logging roads that turn off Highway 624. 

Permits 

No special permits are currently required for early exploration stage work on patented mining claims in 

Ontario. However, the MNDM has recently proposed changes to regulations that, if implemented, would 

require application for and approval of exploration permits for low impact field work such as line-cutting, 

geophysical surveys, power washing and diamond drilling on staked claims or patented claims if the 

owner of the surface rights is not the patented mining claim owner. The proposed regulations are expected 

to take effect sometime in 2012. As Micon owns both the surface and mining rights to the Mirado Gold 

Property, these new rules will not apply to the Mirado Gold Property. However, these new regulations will 

apply to the MZ Property as these are staked claims. 

Accessibility, Infrastructure, Local Resources, Climate and Physiography 

The Mirado Gold Property and the MZ Property are located approximately 35 kilometres by road 

southeast of the town of Kirkland Lake, Ontario, which is approximately 585 kilometres by road north of 

Toronto, Ontario. The Mirado Gold Property and the MZ Property are accessible from Kirkland Lake via 

Highway 66 to Highway 112, then travelling south along Highway 112 to Highway 564 (gravel), east 

through Boston Creek and then eastward along a gravel road to the Mirado Mine. A 4-wheel drive truck, 

snowmobile or ATV is needed to get to the mine at certain times of the year as the road past Boston 

Creek is not regularly maintained year round. Old drill and logging roads cross the Mirado Gold Property 

and the MZ Property and are in a variety of conditions. 

The Ontario Northland Railway passes through Boston Creek and the town of Swastika near Kirkland 

Lake. Kirkland Lake has a small airport but there is no commercial passenger flight service there.  

Climate conditions are typical of northern Ontario. Average winter temperatures are in the range of -12 

degrees centigrade (“C”) to -17°C and average summer temperatures are in the range of 15°C to 18°C. 

Annual precipitation averages 884 millimetres of which 590 mm occurs as rainfall and the balance is 

snow (average of 294 centimetres of snowfall). Exploration and mining in the area takes place year 

round and there are very few lost days due to extreme weather conditions. 

The Abitibi region, which includes the larger cities of Timmins and Kirkland Lake, Ontario, has a long 

exploration and mining history dating back to the early 1900s, and offers a well-trained exploration and 

mining population. There are analytical laboratories and abundant mining service and supply 

businesses in the area. With the three year trailing average price of gold near US$1,200 per ounce and 

the current gold price near US$1,600 per ounce, there are many active exploration projects in the area. 

Mining is the primary industry and employer in the area. Other industries include forestry and tourism. 

Mining is currently underway for gold on the Macassa Mine of Kirkland Lake Gold Inc. (“Kirkland 

Lake Gold”) with about 83,000 ounces of gold produced in 2011. 

The Properties contain several small lakes, streams and ponds which supply sufficient water for 

drilling, trenching and exploration work in general. The Misema River flows through the Properties. 

There is a network of old access roads on the Properties but no useful mining related surface 

infrastructure remains on the Properties. The condition of the shaft and underground workings on the 

Mirado mine are unknown. The authors of the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report are not aware of 

any environmental liabilities on the Properties that would encumber exploration work. 
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The topography is flat to mildly rugged with a maximum relief of about 50 metres. The average elevation 

of the Properties is approximately 290m above sea level but ranges from about 260 to 310m above sea 

level. The vegetation ranges from mature spruce, pine, birch and poplar to scattered, locally thick 

underbrush. Parts of some of the claims were cleared during past logging operations. 

Regional Geology and Mines Proximal to the Mirado Gold Property - MZ Property 

 

Mirado Gold Property History 

Exploration for gold in the vicinity of the Mirado Gold Property (which was known at the time as the 

Cathroy Larder Property) commenced during the early 1920s. The first documented gold discovery was 

made on Lot 7, concessions V and VI, Catharine Township, where the Gold Bank and Gold Ridge 
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Syndicates obtained gold values ranging up to 0.12 opt Au (Bell, 1929). Almost all of the historical work 

on the Mirado Gold Property is concentrated in the immediate vicinity of the mine. 

Yama Gold Mines Limited (“Yama”) held the Mirado Gold Property from 1937 to 1943. After an initial 

surface drilling program, Yama sank a 3 compartment vertical shaft to 550’ and established 4 levels on 

approximately 125 feet centres, including levels at the 125’, 250’, 375’ and 500’ horizons. For a 15 month 

period between late 1941 and 1943, the company operated a small 50 to 75 ton per day mill with mill feed 

coming from narrow shrinkage stopes near the shaft on or above the 250’ level in an area now known as 

the “North Zone”. Yama recovered 3,227 ounces of gold and 946 ounces of silver from 22,250 tons of ore 

for a recovered grade of 0.145 opt Au. The war time effort severely curtailed production with the 

rationing of steel and explosives. 

Cathroy Larder Mines Ltd. (“Cathroy Larder”) took over Yama in 1943 and concentrated their 

exploration efforts on an area southwest of the shaft where a second gold bearing zone was outlined by 

diamond drilling in 1945 in an area now known as the “South Zone.” A total of 15,000 feet of surface 

drilling and 17,000 feet of underground drilling was completed. Underground development on the South 

Zone by means of exploration drifts developed south of the shaft was confined to the 250’ and 500’ 

levels. In total, 4,000 feet of crosscutting, 8,000 feet of drifting, 720’ of raising and 1,723’ of lineal 

stoping and stope preparation were completed. No gold production was reported by Cathroy Larder from 

1943-48. All work was suspended by Cathroy Larder in August 1948 when the full effects of the Bretton 

Woods Agreement (which fixed gold at U.S. $35/ounce) and rising production costs made gold mining  

less economic. The Mirado Gold Property remained in the hands of Cathroy Larder until 1960. 

On December 12, 1960, Mirado Nickel Mines (“Mirado”) optioned the Mirado Gold Property from 

Cathroy Larder and proceeded to rehabilitate the underground workings. The underground workings were 

de-watered, rehabilitated and re-mapped. A considerable amount of surface and underground drilling was 

completed, with 23,065 feet of surface drilling completed on the South Zone, along with 5,760’ of 

underground drilling on the North Zone, and 9,083’ of drilling on the South Zone. No additional drifting 

or cross cutting was carried out by Mirado. R.L. Segsworth (1964) completed an in-house reserve 

estimate of 435,000 tons grading 0.233 opt. There are no current Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve 

estimates prepared for the Properties. The authors caution that a qualified person has not done sufficient 

work to classify the historic estimates as current mineral resources or mineral reserves; the Issuer is not 

treating the historic estimates as relevant or as current mineral resources or mineral reserves and the 

historic estimates should not be relied upon. Note that all of these estimates were made prior to 

production in the 1987. The assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historic estimates 

are not available and they therefore are not comparable to the categories as defined by the CIM Definition 

Standards for Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates as adopted by the CIM council in 2010. 

There have been no recent estimates nor is there any new data available that would allow the reporting of 

current Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates. Given the inability to verify any of the past data, 

it is the opinion of the authors that the historic data could not be used to support current Mineral Resource 

or Mineral Reserve estimates. 

During a brief period of time in 1963, Broulan Reef Mines Ltd. optioned the Mirado Gold Property from 

Mirado Nickel Mines and carried out approximately 5,125 feet of surface diamond drilling in the area of 

the South Zone and then subsequently returned the property after receiving negative results from this 

work. 

The Mirado Gold Property then remained idle until 1980, when Amax Minerals Exploration (“Amax”) 

compiled an extensive amount of data from the previous drill programs into a single set of level plans and 

sections. Amax also cut a detailed grid over the Mirado deposit on 200’ centres, and then completed 13.5 

miles of VLF-EM-16, 16.7 miles of ground magnetometer survey, 11.0 miles of IP, 2.7 miles of PEM 

survey and 2.2 miles of ground HEM geophysics. VLF-EM-16, PEM and HEM are all electro-magnetic 

method of geophysical surveying which measure the electro-magnetic properties of rocks. Detailed 

mapping and prospecting was performed during the summer of 1980, and three phases of diamond 

drilling were completed on the Mirado Gold Property. 
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The Phase 1 Amax diamond drilling program consisted of nine holes of BQ diameter core for a total of 

5,387’, and the Phase 2 drill program was conducted during the fall of 1980 and consisted of 15 holes of 

BQ diameter core for a total of 8,094’. A Phase 3 drill program was completed during the winter in early 

1981, and consisted of 31 holes of BQ diameter core totalling 16,760’. During the summer of 1981, 

stripping and rock saw channel sampling was conducted in the vicinity of the South Zone, and completed 

by the end of September. Amax returned the Mirado Gold Property to Mirado in 1983. 

Golden Shield Resources Ltd. (“Golden Shield”) entered into an option agreement with Mirado Nickel 

Mines Ltd. and Royado Mines Ltd. in which Golden Shield could acquire a 100% interest in the Mirado 

Gold Property in August 1985. A fifteen hole surface diamond drilling program totalling 4,999’ 

commenced in October 1985, and was completed in December of the same year. 

Golden Shield commenced their next surface diamond drilling in January 1986. A total of 86 BQ 

diameter diamond drill holes were completed in two phases for a total of 13,753’ between January and 

December of 1986. 

In January 1986 Golden Shield contracted Dynatec Mining Ltd. (“Dynatec”) from North Bay, Ontario. 

Initially Dynatec set up generators, compressors plus office and dry facilities and then commenced with 

dewatering of the Mirado underground workings. Site water supply and sewage disposal systems were 

also installed. The underground dewatering program was completed on March 10, 1986 with the use of a 

140 horsepower pump. Compressed air, water lines, underground communication lines and 18” gauge rail 

track were laid in all development drifts. 

The shaft was rehabilitated and a temporary 35’ high headframe plus a single drum Canadian Ingersoll 

Rand SE-2 hoist was installed. The underground workings were inspected and found to be in good 

condition. An underground drill program commenced in April of 1986, during which time 51 BQ 

diameter diamond drill holes were completed for a total of 9,877’. The underground drilling program was 

done from the 250’ and 500’ levels and targeted Zones D, E, F and G which are sub-zones of the South 

Zone. Between June and December of 1986, a total of 1,551’ of drifting, 420’ of raising, 180’ of sub-

levelling and 24’ of cross-cuts were developed underground. During this same period, detailed 

underground mapping and sampling programs were completed on the 125’, 250’, 375’ and 500’ levels. 

In early 1986, metallurgical test-work was undertaken under the supervision of A. S. Hayden of EH 

Associates. Settling and filtration tests were conducted and test slurries were prepared by Lakefield 

Research. An economic study of three alternative metallurgical processes was undertaken, including (1) 

selective flotation with cyanidation of concentrate; (2) direct cyanidation of ore with Merrill-Crowe 

recovery; and (3) direct cyanidation of ore, with carbon in pulp gold recovery. Gold recoveries up to 93% 

were realized. In addition to amalgamation and flotation test-work metallurgical recovery studies, ore 

microscopy and mineralogical studies were completed, and the Bond Work Index was determined. 

Environmental base line studies were also completed for the surrounding fish and wildlife habitat, 

surrounding watersheds, land-use, land-ownership, forestry and mining activities, environmental and 

surficial geology and tailings disposal. A base line water sampling program was also completed. All of 

this work was conducted by The Environmental Applications Group Limited in 1986. 

A technical and financial evaluation report for the Mirado Gold Mine project was prepared by 

representatives of Golden Shield and several outside consulting firms including Dynatec, Bryan Wilson 

and Associates, EH Associates, The Environmental Applications Group Limited, and Markham Data Inc. 

The report included detailed plans for a proposed open pit to be developed during the winter of 1987. The 

pit was designed to provide access to the underground workings on the 125 level. 

In early 1987, Dynatec stripped the South Zone in an area where the D Zone was drilled near surface. 

Preliminary calculations indicated that an overall stripping ratio of 3:1 was economic, and that pit faces 

could be safely excavated to a 70 degree angle. Approximately 82,000 cubic yards of overburden was 

removed as part of the exploration sampling program. A custom milling agreement was reached in 1986 

with the owner of the McBean Mill (Queenston/Inco) for milling ore at a rate of 600 tons per day. No 
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records from the 1987 mine production or milling are available. Later that year Golden Shield fell victim 

to the stock market crash of 1987. The Mirado Gold Property was subsequently returned to Mirado Nickel 

Mines. In 2010 Mirado Nickel Mines merged with two other junior mining companies to become Micon 

Gold Inc. In January, 2012 Micon signed the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement. 

A summary of all known drilling on the Mirado Gold Property is presented in the following table. There 

are a significant number of very good grade intervals for both the South Zone, and to a lesser extent the 

North Zone (> 0.1 opt Au over core lengths of tens of feet and locally in excess of 0.5 opt Au over 

intervals of 5 or 10 feet) but as there is no way of validating that data, these are not tabulated here. True 

widths for these intervals are not known. 

The locations of the North and South Zones on the Mirado Gold Property are shown on the following 

figure. All significant known exploration and development work on the Mirado Gold Property has been in 

these areas. 

Summary of Diamond Drilling on the Mirado Gold Property 

Company No. of Holes Year Feet Meters 

Yama Gold Mines Ltd. 8 underground 1942 450 137.16 

Cathroy Larder Lake 10 surface 1945 5,596 1,705.66 

Cathroy Larder Lake 15 underground 1945 1,171 356.92 

Cathroy Larder Lake 20 surface 1946 9,404 3,018.74 

Cathroy Larder Lake 173 underground 1946 15,809 4,818.58 

Mirado Nickel Mines Unknown surface 1960 23,065 7,030.21 

Mirado Nickel Mines Unknown underground 1960 14,483 4,414.42 

Broulan Reef Mines Unknown surface 1963 5,125 1,562.10 

Amax Minerals Exploration 24 surface 1980 13,461 4,102.91 

Amax Minerals Exploration 31 surface 1981 16,760 5,108.45 

Golden Shield 15 surface 1985 4,999 1,523.70 

Golden Shield 86 surface 1986 13,753 4,191.91 

Golden Shield 51 underground 1986 9,877 3,010.51 

TOTAL   133,953 40,981 

MZ Property History 

The earliest known work on the MZ Property was conducted in the 1920s on eight unpatented claims 

located in Lot 7, concessions V and VI, Catharine Township by the Gold Bank and Gold Ridge 

Syndicates. Gold values up to 0.12 oz Au/ton were reportedly taken from sulphide veinlets within a 30 

foot wide shear zone. This occurrence is known as the Goldbank Prospect. 

Parts of the MZ Property were staked by K. Carmichael of Kirkland Lake in 1959. The MZ Property was 

optioned to Kordol Explorations Limited in 1960, and during that same year prospecting, trenching and 

drilling programs were conducted. Kordol reported surface grab samples assaying up to 1.01 oz Au/ton at 

their main trenching site on MZ claim 3004539, and seven short AX diameter diamond drill holes were 

drilled beneath the main trench for a total meterage of 166 meters. Four additional areas were trenched on 

claims 3002902. During the late fall of 1960, Trench No. 1, located near the southeast corner of MZ claim 

3002902, was drill tested with three short AX diameter holes for a total meterage of 138 meters. 

Following this drill program, the option was allowed to lapse. 

During the summer field season of 1990, Goldfields Canadian Mining Ltd. (“Goldfields”) explored the 

southwestern limit of the MZ Property on what is currently known as MZ claim 1241353 (originally 

known as Goldfields claims 113034 and 113033). A trench exposed a strongly iron-carbonate altered 

package of mafic and intermediate volcanic which averaged approximately 1 gpt Au across a true width 

of 50 meters. The mineralization was described as being hosted in gossanous quartz fracture filled mafic 

volcanic containing 1-3% pyrite and trace chalcopyrite. No further work was completed on this showing 
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since that time. The size of this mineralized gold showing is not known due to extensive overburden 

coverage and it remains open in all directions. 

In 1998, claim 1222323 (now MZ claim 4258214) was staked and explored by James Burns of Timmins, 

Ontario. Geological, ground magnetic and EM-16 surveys were completed, followed by a single, BQ 

diameter diamond drill hole located immediately northwest of the Long Lake, the only body of water on 

claim 4258214. The hole was drilled at an orientation 055° with a dip of -50 degrees and a length of 137 

meters. No significant drill results were reported. 

Two local prospectors, Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky and the vendors of the MZ Property, located 

undocumented and overgrown historical pits and trenches for which there are no known records in 2000. 

They have reported obtaining significant gold values from surface sampling. This area is located in Lots 8 

and 9, Concession VI. Most of the work conducted by Messrs. Metherall and Zabudsky has been carried 

out on two claims which were staked in 2000 (L-1146327 and L-1196951). Prospecting was followed by 

mechanized trenching with a back-hoe, and eight EX diamond drill holes totalling 114m that were drilled 

with a portable X-ray drill in 2002. 

In December 2002 the MZ Property was optioned to 1179785 Ontario Inc. This agreement was amended 

in January 2003 and subsequently the agreement was transferred to Hawk Precious Metals Inc. (“Hawk”) 

in 2003. During April 2003, Hawk conducted two work programs including line-cutting and a ground 

geophysics magnetometer- survey over claims L-1146327, L-1199884 and L-1196951, followed by 

additional mechanized trenching in November 2003. Quantec Geophysics Inc. completed 5.7 kilometers 

of Pole-Dipole IP geophysics survey on claim 1146327 in 2003. 

Four new trenches excavated during the November 2003 exploration program tested the general 

characteristics of gold mineralisation surrounding the discovery areas named the “Main,” and “North 

Showing” areas. Channel sampling in Trench #03-2 at the Main Showing returned 3.28 gpt Au over a 

horizontal width of 5.33 meters. 

Hawk contracted MPH Consulting Ltd. (“MPH”) of Toronto, Ontario, to complete a Technical Report 

based on the 2003 Hawk work program. It is believed that the report was not filed on SEDAR. MPH 

concluded that the MZ Gold Property represents an exceptional opportunity to explore for gold in a 

largely unexplored part of a world-famous mining region. A two phase exploration program was 

recommended, including a $225,000 phase 1 program involving systematic geological mapping, 

prospecting, IP geophysics, and mechanized trenching, followed by a provisional $200,000 phase 2 

diamond drilling program on selected targets. 

The second phase of the Hawk exploration program, diamond drilling, was done on the northern half of 

claim 1146327. Five NQ diameter diamond drill holes were completed on three sections to test for gold 

mineralization associated with IP geophysical targets, while one other hole targeted a potential kimberlite. 

Weak gold intercepts were reported for the drill program, including 3.73 gpt Au over 1.5 meters in hole 

MZ2004-01, 1.19 gpt Au over 1.5 meters in hole MZ2004-03, and 2.81 gpt Au over 1.5 meters and 2.11 

gpt Au over 3.0 meters in hole MZ2004-04. Hawk subsequently dropped the option and returned the MZ 

Property to the vendors. 

White Pine Resources Inc. optioned the MZ Property in 2009, and did 19 kilometers of a Pole-Dipole IP 

survey that was completed by CXS Geophysics of Kirkland Lake in February, 2010. A total of nine NQ 

diamond drill holes for a total of 1,934 meters of were completed during the summer of 2010. These holes 

were drilled to test IP targets, and values in the 1-2 gpt Au range over metre scale lengths were obtained. 
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Compilation of Previous Work – Mirado Gold Property and MZ Property 
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Summary of Diamond Drilling on the MZ Property 

Company No. of Holes Year Feet Meters 

Kordol Explorations Ltd. 10 1960 997 304 

J. Burns 1 1998 449 137 

Metherall and Zabudsky 8 2002 374 114 

Hawk Precious Metals Inc. 5 2004 2,517 767 

White Pine Resources Ltd. 9 2009 6,345 1,934 

Total 33  10,682 3,256 

Historic Estimates 

There have been a number of historic estimates prepared for the South Zone but there are no current 

Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates prepared for the Properties. The historic estimates 

prepared for the South Zone include evaluations done in the early 1960s and again before the start up of 

mining in 1987. The authors of the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report caution that a qualified person 

has not done sufficient work to classify the previous estimates as current mineral resources or mineral 

reserves; the Issuer is not treating the previous estimates as relevant or as current mineral resources or 

mineral reserves and the previous estimates should not be relied upon. Note that all of these estimates 

were made prior to production in the 1987. The assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the 

historic estimates are not available and they therefore are not comparable to the categories as defined by 

the CIM Definition Standards for Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates as adopted by the CIM 

council in 2010. There have been no recent estimates nor is there any new data available that would allow 

the reporting of current Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates. Given the inability to verify any 

of the past data, it is the opinion of the authors that the historic data could not be used to support current 

Mineral Resource or Mineral Reserve estimates. The most recent historic estimate, prepared by Dynatec 

for Golden Shield in 1987 for the South Zone, was in the neighbourhood of 350,000 tons at a grade of 

0.34 opt Au. The production tonnage and grade achieved by Golden Shield from the pit was significantly 

lower, an estimated 67,500 tons at a grade of 0.107 opt. It is not clear why the 1987 open pit production 

failed to achieved anything close to the grade estimated for the South Zone by Golden Shield and 

Dynatec. It was likely: 1) a failure to treat the high grade values properly during the estimation procedure; 

and 2) an assumption of greater continuity for high grade material than actually existed. However, 

without the ability to verify the original assay data and without access to open pit production records the 

reasons for the shortfall in produced grade relative to that estimated will remain unclear. 

Production by Golden Shield in 1987 failed to support the estimates listed below. It is not clear why there 

was a substantial overestimation of grade for the historic resources/reserves for the South Zone relative to 

the results achieved by the mining done by Golden Shield. It is likely a function of improper estimation 

methodology but, without being able to substantiate the grades from drilling, there is no easy way to 

determine this. 

Historic Estimates for the Mirado Gold Property 

Estimate Tons Grade opt Au 

Baker 1964 651,253 0.204 

Segsworth 1964 435,000 0.233 

Golden Shield (Wilson) April 1986 345,000 0.429 

Golden Shield May 1987 345,000 0.340 

Past Production 

The following table lists the documented production from the North Zone of the deposit. Mining by Yama 

from 1937 to 1942 included the sinking of a three compartment shaft to 540 feet, with levels at 125, 250, 

375 and 500 feet. A 50 ton per day mill was erected on site. Production figures vary, with some reports 

the recovered grade as being $5.25/ton, which at a $35 per ounce gold price equates to 0.14 opt Au, and 
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other reports with the same tonnage but with mining by Yama from 1938 to 1942 and at a grade of 0.145 

opt Au with 3,227 ounces gold recovered and 993 ounces silver recovered. 

The authors of the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report have not been able to locate production figures 

from Golden Shield mining done in 1987. Past production figures list total past production from the 

Mirado Gold Property as 89,719 tons with 10,231 ounces of gold at for a grade of 0.114 opt Au. It is not 

clear if the figure provided is for recovered gold or predicted by head grade. Deducting the Yama 

production from this total indicates that Golden Shield mined 67,469 tons at a recovered grade of 0.107 

opt Au. Milling by Golden Shield was done off site. No records for mining or milling by Golden Shield 

are available but the material is reported to have been milled at Queenston’s McBean Mill, although the 

Kerr Addison mine and mill were acquired by Golden Shield in 1987. 

As stated above under “Historic Estimates”, it is not clear why the 1987 open pit production failed to 

achieve anything close to the grade estimated by Golden Shield and Dynatec. It was likely 1) a failure to 

treat the high grade values properly; and 2) the assumption of greater continuity for high grade material 

than actually existed. However, without the ability to verify the original assay data or review production 

records the reasons for the shortfall in produced grade relative to that estimated will remain enigmatic. 

Past Production from the Mirado Gold Property 

Year Tons Ounces Au 

Recovered 

Grade 

OPT Au 

Operator and Reference 

1937-43 22,250 3,227 0.145 Yama Gold Mines Ltd. Baker, 1962 

1987-88 67,469 7,199 0.107 Golden Shield 
(1)

 

TOTAL 89,719 10,231 0.114 From Meyer, et al, 2000
(2)

 

(1)
 The authors could not locate production records for Golden Shield so the production for Golden Shield was 

derived by subtracting the production from Yama from the total reported by Meyer. 
(2)

 Meyer, G., Cosec, M, Grabowski, G.P.B., Guindon, D..L., Chaleoux, E.C., and Charette, M., 2000: Report 

of Activities 1999, Resident Geologist Program, Kirkland Lake Regional Resident Geologist Report: 

Kirkland Lake and Sudbury Districts; Ontario Geological Survey, Open File Report 6007, 88p. 

Geological Setting 

Regional Geological Setting 

The Properties are in the southern part of the Abitibi Greenstone Belt which is itself within the Superior 

Geological Province. Most of the rocks in the southern Abitibi Greenstone Belt are Archean in age with 

ages ranging from 2730 to 2670 Ma. The overall geometry of the southern Abitibi Greenstone Belt is of 

east-west trending lithologic sequences that vary in composition from ultramafic through to felsic rocks 

and are primarily of volcanic origin. The volcanic sequences have been intruded by volumetrically 

significant mafic to felsic batholiths that are mostly dated between 2707 to 2696 Ma. These units are 

locally capped by occurrences of narrow, east west trending sedimentary sequences consisting of fine, 

turbidic rocks such as the Porcupine assemblage and Kewagama Group. These sedimentary sequences are 

spatially associated on a regional scale with pre-existing, first-order, east-west trending structures and are 

also spatially related to all the known major gold deposits in the region. They are also spatially related to 

less common, younger, coarse clastic rocks of the Timiskaming Group and its equivalents that are 

generally thought to be 2677 ± 2 Ma. Volumetrically minor felsic intrusions and their extrusive 

equivalents occur in many areas of the Abitibi including the Porcupine area (~2690 Ma), the area from 

Hislop Township east towards the Quebec border, the Kirkland Lake area (2677 ± 2 Ma) and in the 

Duparquet area (2689 to 2682 Ma). Production of gold from the Abitibi Belt in Ontario exceeds 100M 

ounces with a further 70M ounces produced form the Abitibi Belt in Quebec. The authors of the Mirado 

Gold Project Technical Report are unable to verify the above information and that information is not 

necessarily indicative of the mineralisation on the properties that are the subject of thes Mirado Gold 

Project Technical Report. 
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A major structure called the Larder-Lake-Cadillac Break or Larder-Lake-Cadillac Fault (“LLCF”) is 

spatially related to the major gold mines in the area and generally trends from 070° to 090°. 

Mines in the immediate vicinity of Kirkland Lake, approximately 2 km north of the Larder Lake-Cadillac 

Break, are hosted by a steeply plunging composite stock of syenite, augite syenite and syenite porphyry 

intruding Timiskaming Group conglomerate, wacke and trachyte tuff. The composite syenitic stock is 

interpreted to post-date folding of sedimentary strata and it is cut by the Kirkland Lake Main Break, a 

system of narrow reverse faults, striking east-northeast and dipping steeply south, with which gold 

mineralization is associated. The seven principal mines along the Kirkland Lake Main Break have 

produced in excess of 24M ounces of gold at an average grade of 0.48 opt Au. The Main Break is 

interpreted to be a post ore structure, one to twenty feet wide marked by a zone of mylonitized and 

brecciated wall rock, chlorite schist and mud or gouge. It is a reverse fault with an estimated vertical 

displacement of 1500 feet. 

Kirkland Lake Gold is the only active gold mine along the Kirkland Lake Break and is also mining new 

discovered mineralisation south of the Main Break. This new area of mineralisation is called the South 

Mine Complex (“SMC”). The SMC is a newly discovered mineralized system in the Kirkland Lake camp 

and is characterized by generally shallowly dipping structurally controlled zones of finely disseminated 

pyrite, visible gold and tellurides hosted by alkaline tuff, and by several phases of porphyritic intrusives, 

the most common of which is syenite porphyry. 

The Timiskaming Group in the Kirkland Lake area unconformably overlies pre-2700 Ma mafic volcanic 

rocks of the Kinojevis Group. In the south, it is separated from ultramafic and mafic flows of the Larder 

Lake Group by the LLCF zone. Timiskaming Group rocks define a broad asymmetric syncline, truncated 

in the south by the LLCF. 

The Kerr Addison deposit is adjacent to the LLCF zone and is the largest deposit in the Larder Lake 

district (~25km ENE of the Mirado Gold Project). Production from this mine was in excess of 10M 

ounces of gold at a grade of 0.25 opt Au.  It occurs at the contact between the Kinojevis Group to the 

northwest and the Larder Lake Group to the southeast and is unconformably overlain by conglomerate, 

arkose and trachytic volcanics of the Timiskaming Group. Host rocks are green carbonate rock, sheared 

syenite, volcanic rocks, talc-chlorite schist. The green carbonate rock, which is primarily an altered 

ultramafic rock, produced approximately 13M tons of ore at a grade of 0.23 opt Au and the “Flow Ore” 

which is primarily a pyritic, altered mafic volcanic rock, produced  21M tons at a grade of 0.33 opt Au. 

The contact at Kerr Addison is further overprinted by the LLCF, characterized by chlorite-carbonate and 

talc-chlorite-carbonate schists, derived from Fe tholeiites and komatiites, respectively. The LLCF also 

truncates east- to northeast-trending folds in both Timiskaming and Larder Lake Groups here. The authors 

of the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report are unable to verify the above information and that 

information is not necessarily indicative of the mineralisation on the properties that are the subject of the 

Mirado Gold ProjectTechnical Report. 

Local Geology 

The geology of Catharine and McElroy Twps. was initially mapped by the Ontario Department of Mines 

in 1947/48. There are two principal rock assemblages in the immediate property area; the McElroy 

assemblage and the Skead assemblage. These units appear to be more or less conformable and both are 

folded around the Round Lake Batholith which is found on the west side of Catharine Twp and underlies 

much of Pacaud Township. 

The McElroy assemblage is described as consisting of basaltic flows with minor intercalated rhyolite 

flows and sediments. An iron formation horizon (oxide and sulphide) occurs along the contact between 

the McElroy and Skead volcanics. The McElroy assemblage is interpreted to overlie the Skead 

assemblage. 
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The Skead assemblage is described as consisting of a variety of mafic, intermediate and felsic pyroclastic 

and fragmental rocks, primarily of calc alkalic composition, with minor interflow sediments. Felsic units, 

commonly termed rhyolites in the Mirado Gold Property area, are also present. The pyroclastic rocks are 

described as tuffs, lapilli tuffs and coarse fragmental units (agglomerate) including highly variable 

heterolithic to monolithic fragmental rocks and minor clastic sedimentary units (wacke and 

conglomerate). Reports indicate stratigraphic tops face north and the general orientation of units in the 

immediate project area is with a strike of 290º and dips from 70º to 85º to the northeast. 

Intrusive rocks in the property area are in the form of dykes described variably as syenite, syenite 

porphyry, feldspar porphyry, syenite and gabbro, diorite and lamprophyre and these all cut the volcanic 

units. 

The area to the south and west of the Properties was most recently mapped by the Ontario Geological 

Survey (“OGS”) mapping most of Pacaud and Catharine Twps. but did not map the area in the vicinity of 

the Properties. The following text is from Jackson, S.L. (1994). The Precambrian geology of Pacaud and 

Catharine townships and portions of adjacent townships, District of Timiskaming, Ontario; Ontario 

Geological Survey, Open File Report 5884, 86p: 

Known ages of the metavolcanic rock fall in the range of 2750-2700 Ma. Four major 

subdivisions of metavolcanic rocks are recognized in the map area and include: the 

McElroy assemblage which consists mainly of massive mafic metavolcanic rocks, 

subordinate felsic metavolcanic rocks and very minor komatiite; the Skead assemblage 

which consists mainly of fragmental felsic metavolcanic rocks; the Catharine 

assemblage which consists chiefly of pillowed mafic metavolcanic rocks and 

subordinate komatiite, minor felsic metavolcanic rocks; and the Pacaud structural 

complex which is a highly strained, heterogeneous assemblage of mafic metavolcanic 

rocks and minor felsic metavolcanic rocks. Most of the area is underlain by the 

Catharine assemblage which consists of regionally mappable magnesium-rich 

metabasalt units, iron-rich metabasalt units, chemically transitional metabasalt units, 

and pyroxene-spinifex komatiite units. The metabasalt units are tholeiitic. 

Of the numerous occurrences of gold mineralisation have been found in the immediate area of the 

Properties, most are hosted by the Catharine and Skead assemblage volcanics. According to Abraham 

(1951): 

In 1906 and 1907, claims were staked in the area during the Larder Lake gold rush, 

but most of these were abandoned before much work was done. In 1913, activity in the 

Kirkland Lake area to the northwest resulted in the re-staking of claims previously 

abandoned and in the staking of additional ground. Some work was done on many of 

the claims. Since that time exploration has been carried on spasmodically in McElroy 

and Boston townships. Everywhere in the area there is evidence of surface work, and 

scores of test pits were located during the course of mapping. Thorough exploration 

and underground activity has been done on relatively few properties. 

There is no significant regional structure such as the Porcupine Destor or LLCF Zones that has been 

documented in McElroy or Catharine Twps. The strike of most of the underground workings in the 

vicinity of the Properties is generally parallel to stratigraphy and trend roughly 290º. 

Previous reports note that there are transverse faults in the south-eastern part of McElroy Twp. that strike 

025° and 290° and with horizontal displacements of over 1,000 feet. The Lincoln-Nippising Fault in 

Skead Twp., to the immediate east of the Properties, is described as passing “through the property of the 

same name, is marked by a shear zone in which much green quartz-carbonate rock has been developed”. 

It is oriented at about 290° and the projection of that fault passes from Skead Twp. towards the Mirado 

Gold Property so it may be the same fault as described by Abraham that strikes at 290°. 
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South and to the west of the Properties, the northwest-striking Catharine fault is located within the 

Catharine formation near the contact between the Catharine and Skead assemblages. This fault is 

characterized by intense fracturing, shearing, quartz and locally quartz-tourmaline and tourmaline veins, 

carbonate, green mica (possibly fuchsite) alteration and gold mineralization. This fault is spatially related 

to many of the minor gold showings in Catharine, Pacaud and Boston Twps. and appears to project into 

the vicinity of the gold showings on the southern part of the MZ Property. 

Property Geology 

The Property is mostly covered with thin glacial overburden and low, swampy ground. See the following 

figure for a compilation map showing the property geology which is mostly known through government 

mapping, diamond drilling, mapping of excavations from underground mining, trenching and from 

interpretation of geophysical data. There are a number of in-house geological reports available; the most 

pertinent ones date from the 1960s by Baker (1962, 1964), Bourne (1985) and various other reports from 

the 1980s by Amax and Golden Shield. 

The northeastern part of the Properties is underlain by rocks of the McElroy assemblage. No known 

mineralisation occurs here. The Skead assemblage underlies most of the rest of the Properties. The very 

southern part of the MZ Property is underlain by the Catharine assemblage. 

The Mirado Gold Property lies on the north limb of a major antiformal structure. Rock types in the mine 

area are largely fragmental volcanics and rhyolite cut by small dykes of syenite porphyry, diorite and 

lamprophyre. The regional strike is northwest with steep dips to the northeast. The fragmental volcanics 

of the Skead assemblage vary considerably in nature, ranging from porphyritic to non¬porphyritic over 

sort distances and the percentage of fragments from abundant to very few. They may exhibit preferred or 

random orientation. 

Local Geology Mirado Gold Property and MZ Property 
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With respect to understanding the controls on gold mineralisation, it is thought by the authors to be 

significant that no significant penetrative deformation was noted in the site visit, which along with the 

lack of a major regional structure or a significant property scale structure, is an exception to the amount of 

brittle and ductile deformation associated with most Abitibi orogenic, lode gold deposits. 

However, it does seem from the descriptions of the mineralisation on the North Zone that there is some 

local shearing associated with the mineralisation previously mined there. The stopes mined in the North 

Zone are both parallel to the regional strike of stratigraphic units, the strike of the Skead-McElroy 

assemblage contact and to the projection of the Lincoln-Nippising Fault in Skead Twp. in the vicinity of 

the shaft at the North Zone the fragmental volcanics are strongly sheared, silicified and carbonatized. 

Regarding faulting, Abraham, E.M., (1951): Geology of McElroy and Part of Boston Townships; Ontario 

Department of mines, Annual Report 59, 66p., accompanied by map 1950-3, notes: 

Cathroy Larder and Minor Faults 

Sheared zones on and in the vicinity of the Cathroy Larder property in the south-

central part of McElroy township generally strike about 070º W., although 

variations of several degrees are not uncommon. The volcanics are sericitized, 

carbonatized, and pyritized within and near these zones of shearing. Well-defined 

gouge-filled faults and slips are common in the underground workings at the 

Cathroy Larder mine. They generally conform to the strikes of the volcanics and dip 

to the north, although occasional southward-dipping faults are encountered. 

Displacement along these faults is measurable only in inches. Silicified and 

carbonatized sheared zones are common in the mine workings. They strike about 

060º to 070º W. and dip steeply to the north. 

Cathroy Larder Transverse Faults 

Transverse faults are present in the south-central part of McElroy Township. They 

range in strike from northwest to northeast. The faults are recognized by 

displacement of horizon markers and sheared zones. Shearing in this area is often 

topographically expressed by valleys. 

Mineralised Zones on the Mirado Gold Property 

There are two significant mineralised zones on the Properties, both on the Mirado Gold Property. These 

zones were first discovered when the property was owned by Yama and therefore older references are to 

the Cathroy Larder mine. The underground development work and all of the ore mined by Yama was 

accessed by means of the shaft on the North Zone. Yama discovered the South Zone in the 1940s and 

drove crosscuts on the 250 foot and 500 foot levels to the South Zone as well as drilling it. Almost all the 

work on the Mirado Gold Property since the 1960s has been focussed on the South Zone. Abraham 

(1951) describes gold mineralisation on the Mirado Gold Property (North Zone) as follows: 

In the south-central part of the area, particularly on the property of Cathroy 

Larder, the gold appears to be confined to sulphide zones, which have formed either 

by replacement along sheared and fractured zones or simply by fracture-filling with 

little replacement in the Keewatin fragmental volcanics. The gold is associated with 

pyrite, chalcopyrite, and, usually, sphalerite. Quartz and carbonate gangue minerals 

are not abundant, although they do occur as stringers. 

The following figure is a schematic vertical section. This shows the underground development, zones of 

mineralisation defined for the North Zone and the position of the South Zone. Gold values are reported in 

dollars per ton with 1.0 opt Au equivalent to $35/ton. 
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Schematic Vertical Section of the Mirado Mine, Looking WNW 

 

North Zone 

The North Zone mineralisation is described as gold occurring in a number of sub-parallel quartz-calcite-

sulphide and massive sulphide seams. A description of the North Zone is as follows: 

In this sector are highly sheared and altered agglomerates and tuffaceous rocks with 

some interbedding of thin rhyolitic flows and dykes and sills. Generally conformable 

with the shearing are a number of parallel narrow pyrite, quartz and/or carbonate, 

or quartz-tourmaline seams carrying gold values. These seams vary in width from 

1/4” to up to 6”, and occasionally show several seams across the face or back of 

drifts. Some of these are very high grade. They show remarkable persistence up to 

200 feet along strike, and a few appear to persist through a vertical range of three or 

four levels in the mine. Generally, the seams are accompanied by gouge along the 

narrow shear zones. Unfortunately, with the rather limited drilling done, and the 

knowledge of the existence of parallel seams, it is quite difficult to correlate one 

seam with another. Gold values are confined to the seam material and rarely found 

outside of the veins. The sulphide mineralisation is largely pyrite minor 

chalcopyrite, sphalerite and scheelite also occur. There is evidence the best gold 

values are associated with a minor amount of blue quartz. 

North Zone seam and fracture systems are well exposed in numerous trenches located west of the shaft. 

None of these exposures were seen during the site visit. The North Zone system was mined in five 

parallel stopes for about 500 feet along strike on the 250 foot level and the system can be traced for about 

1,000 feet along strike. The North Zone extends to the 500 foot level and is open at depth. 



 

 

 

35 

South Zone 

The South Zone was initially explored by underground development on the 250 and 500 foot levels by 

Yama and has also been tested by underground and surface drilling. The majority of good grade gold 

values occur in a highly silicified fragmental rock with cherty material with varying amounts of pyrite and 

minor chalcopyrite and sphalerite. The South Zone actually consists of a number of distinct sub-zones. 

The rocks are massive with variable propylitic and carbonate alteration. The host rocks are interbedded 

rhyolite and tuffaceous and agglomerate units. Presumably these are intermediate or mafic pyroclastic 

units although some reports suggest there are mafic fragments in an intermediate matrix. In other reports 

the gold-bearing fragmental units occuring underground are described as “occurring along the margins of 

a light-coloured rhyolite”. These units are cut by altered syenite, diorite and feldspar porphyry dykes. Of 

note, Baker, J.M., (1962): Geology of McElroy and Part of Boston Townships; Ontario Department of 

mines, Annual Report 59, 66p., accompanied by map 1950-3, also states “the important gold values 

appear to be confined to irregular fracturing of the fragmental rocks”. He also states that the “light 

coloured rhyolite” may actually be an altered mafic volcanic, suggesting that some rhyolitic units may 

have been misidentified by previous geologists. 

Regardless of the style of gold mineralisation, there are clearly highly variable but good grade gold values 

throughout the various sub-zones that collectively comprise the South Zone. A number of references 

indicate that it is very difficult to establish “ore zones” but the overall dimension of the area with elevated 

gold values is approximately 300m along a northwest-southeast axis, 150m along a southwest-northeast 

axis and drilled to 130m deep but open to depth. The zones are described as lenses comprised of a pattern 

of fine and often discontinuous fractures in at least two directions, if not more, with many flat or low-

dipping ones. Direct control for the fracturing is unknown at present. Drilling by Canamax of the South 

Zone in 1980-81 included a phase of drilling 29 holes on 60 foot centres. Numerous gold mineralised 

zones of variable grades were encountered, but they appear to have limited vertical and horizontal 

continuity. 

Despite the large number of high grade drill intercepts in the South Zone the continuity between these 

intercepts has always been uncertain. There has been drilling at several orientations and there is 

apparently more than one style of gold mineralisation. The reason why there was a substantial 

overestimation of grade for the historic resources/reserves for the South Zone, relative to the results 

achieved by mining done by Golden Shield, have not been satisfactorily determined. It is likely a function 

of improper estimation methodology but without being able to substantiate the grades from drilling there 

is no easy way to determine this. That said, the abundance of good grade gold values and the apparent 

ability to recover material in the 0.11 opt Au grade range (>3 gpt Au) makes this an attractive prospect for 

bulk mining at today’s gold prices. 

Sampling and Analysis 

This section is not applicable since there has been no recent sampling. The Issuer is not relying on 

historical sampling results except as general indicators of mineralization. 

Security of Samples 

Not applicable. 

Site Visit and Data Verification 

A site visit and independent sampling was completed by John Reddick and Jamie Lavigne, each a 

qualified person as defined in NI 43-101, on April 16, 2012. A traverse of the claims was made and 

records for past work completed on the property were checked at the Ontario Government’s Kirkland 

Lake Resident Geologist’s office. Based on the site visit and data review, the following conclusions were 

made: 
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 the historical logs offer reasonable descriptions of the drill core and record sample intervals such 

that the major lithological and assay data can be identified; 

 the historical data is sufficiently useful for compilation purposes; and  

 as no historical core has been located, assay information, sampling protocols, and assay 

procedures cannot be verified and therefore historical assay data cannot be relied upon for other 

than several information purposes. 

Exploration 

The Issuer has begun preliminary exploration work on the Properties. Most of this work is in the vicinity 

of the Mirado Gold Property, centred on the old mine and includes surveying of the old mine survey 

control points, line cutting and geophysical surveying. Other than this there has been no exploration work 

on the Mirado Gold Property since the 1987 production from the South Zone by Golden Shield. Recent 

work on the MZ Property and historical work on the Mirado Gold Property are set out above under 

“Mirado Gold Property History” and “MZ Property History”.  

A total of 67.8 km of linecutting was done on the Property in the spring of 2012 by the Issuer and some of 

the old mine survey points and diamond drill casings were re-located using a differential GPS survey. A 

total of 14.5 line kilometers of dipole-dipole and 6 line kilometres of Deep IP survey work were done by 

the Issuer in 2012.  

The dipole-dipole IP survey used a 10 channel Elrec Pro receiver and the transmitter consisted of a VIP 

3000 (3kW) with a Honda 5000 as a power plant. The dipole-dipole array consists of 11 mobile stainless 

steel read electrodes and one current electrode (C1). The eleven potential electrodes were connected to the 

receiver by means of an electric cable called a"Snake". The power locations C1 and C2 were maintained 

at a distance of 25m behind read electrode and the read electrodes had a 25m spacing to a depth of n=10. 

A two second transmit cycle time was used with a minimum number of receiver stacks of 12.  

The deep IP survey array consisted of 21 mobile stainless steel read electrodes and two current electrodes 

(C1 and C2). The 21 potential electrodes were connected to the receiver by means of the "Snake". The 

power locations C1 and C2 were varying throughout the survey line. A two second transmit cycle time 

was used with a minimum number of receiver stacks of 12 (Ploeger, 2012). 

The results from the IP survey indicate chargeability anomalies in the vicinity of the former shaft and 

open pit. The authors note that Anomaly E as depicted in figure 9-1 appears to be related to the 

mineralisation in the vicinity of the shaft and is open to the west. A more detailed description of the 

anomalies taken from the report on the 2012 IP survey undertaken by Canadian Exploration Services Ltd. 

for the Issuer is presented below. 
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Figure 9.1  IP Resistivity with Chargeability Axis 
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Anomaly A-G 

These anomalies appear to be a series of east-west chargeable and apparent resistivity high(s) which cover 

the northern region of the survey area. Within this series occurs anomaly E which appears as massive 

anomalous region which seems to be related to the main zone. These chargeable anomalies most likely 

represent narrower mineralized zones and should systematically be mapped and prospected. Depending 

on the culture in the northern part of the survey area, a soil sampling program may be merited to 

helpdetermine whether these anomalies contain economic mineralization. 

Anomaly E appears to be unconstrained to the west and additional IP survey lines are warranted in an 

attempt to constrain the anomaly. These additional lines should continue  until there is at least 200 meters 

coverage beyond the constraining of anomaly E. 

The deep IP through these anomalies indicates the potential for a deep chargeable anomaly on line 200E 

between 200 and 300 north at a depth of 200-300 meters. Upon the flat earth model there may be a 

relation to the main zone; however, it could indicate a plunge to the east of the zone.  

The deep IP also indicates the possible presence of a lens near the 200 meter depth range  below the main 

zone. This possibility should be explored through historic records. The dataset should be inverted to 

provide a more realistic look at the data with the result again compared to the knowledge base of the 

property. This may help plan better target for further drilling. 

Anomalies J-K 

These anomalous regions in the south represent weaker anomalies but occur off of the main zones. These 

represent a series of weak chargeability and elevated apparent resistivity anomalies. They most likely 

result from bedrock anomalies and also should be prospected to help determine the source. 

The anomalies appear to be open along strike and to depth and further IP survey work is recommended in 

the IP survey report. When plotted the open pit and shaft appear to straddle the east edge of the strong 

anomaly, both in the raw data and inverted data set. This indicates the potential for the anomalous zones 

to be economic. If drill testing is to take place the authors of the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report 

recommend targeting the anomaly on 200W at 250N. This being said this anomaly appears to be able to 

be trenched. 

Exploration expenditures for linecutting and geophysical survey work done by the Issuer to date that have 

advanced the geoscientific database total approximately $115,000. 

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates 

Not applicable. 

Conclusions 

Exploration work on the Mirado Gold Property has successfully identified very narrow but reasonably 

good grade mineralisation that was developed in the North Zone and a significantly larger tonnage of 

apparently fairly low grade material in the South Zone. Both of these zones are open to depth. There have 

been a number of historical estimates for the South Zone but there have been no NI 43-101 compliant 

Mineral Resource estimates prepared for the Mirado Property. The most recent historic estimate, prepared 

by Dynatec in 1987 for the South Zone, was in the neighbourhood of 350,000 tons at a grade of 0.34 opt 

Au. The production tonnage and grade achieved by Golden Shield from the pit was significantly lower, an 

estimated 67,500 tons at a grade of 0.107 opt. 

It is not clear why the 1987 open pit production failed to achieve anything close to the grade estimated for 

the South Zone by Golden Shield and Dynatec. It was likely: 1) a failure to treat the high grade values 

properly during the estimation procedure; and 2) an assumption of greater continuity for high grade 
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material than actually existed. However, without the ability to verify the original assay data and without 

access to open pit production records the reasons for the shortfall in produced grade relative to that 

estimated will remain unclear. The authors caution that a qualified person has not done sufficient work to 

classify the previous estimates as current mineral resources or mineral reserves; the Issuer is not treating 

the previous estimates as relevant or as current mineral resources or mineral reserves and the previous 

estimates should not be relied upon. 

The authors believe that Mirado Gold Property has very good potential for discovery of economic gold 

mineralisation, primarily as a low grade bulk minable zone or zones in the vicinity of the South Zone but 

also in other underexplored near-surface areas. The presence of numerous gold showings on the MZ 

Property and that property’s proximity to both the Mirado Mine and to the historic Gold Hill and Hill Top 

Mines in Catharine Township indicate there is also the potential for the discovery of economic gold 

mineralisation on that property. 

Importantly, the abundance of very good grade gold values and the apparent ability to recover material by 

mining in the 0.11 opt Au grade range (>3 gpt Au) makes the South Zone of the Mirado Gold Property an 

attractive prospect for potential bulk mining at current gold prices. 

It is concluded that an exploration and drilling program is warranted to: 

1) test the Mirado Mine area near surface and at depth; and 

2) identify, and if warranted, drill other targets on the rest of the Mirado Gold Property and 

MZ Property. 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Issuer undertake the work in two phases. The recommended budget for the 

program, presented in the following table, is broken into two phases and is estimated at CDN$2,500,000. 

Phase 2 is not contingent of receiving positive results from Phase 1. 

Budget for Recommended Work Program Mirado Gold Property and MZ Property 

Phase 1 Amount $ 

Data compilation $50,000 

High resolution airborne magnetic survey $100,000 

Power stripping, washing, mapping and sampling $50,000 

Mapping and prospecting other zones on the Properties $50,000 

Contingency $25,000 

Sub-Total Phase 1 $275,000 

  

Phase 2  Amount $ 

Drill Program to test the Mirado Zones at surface and at depth 8,000m @ $200/m $1,600,000 

Exploration Drill Program to test near‐surface targets elsewhere on the Properties - 

1,500m @ $200/m 

 

$300,000 

  

Contingency $325,000 

Sub-Total Phase 2 $2,225,000 

  

TOTAL Phase 1 and Phase 2 $2,500,000 

Note: Diamond drill cost estimate of CDN $200/m includes direct contractor costs as well as all geological 

and support items related to program logistics, logging, sampling and assaying. 
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DERLAK RED LAKE PROJECT (OR DERLAK RED LAKE PROPERTY) 

The following project description is derived from the technical report on the Derlak Red Lake Property 

titled “Technical Report on the Derlak Red Lake Property, Ontario.” (the “Derlak Red Lake Technical 

Report”). The Derlak Red Lake Technical Report was prepared by John Reddick, M.Sc., P. Geo. (Ont.), 

and James Lavigne, M.Sc., P.Geo., who are qualified persons for the purpose of NI 43-101. The Derlak 

Red Lake Technical Report is available for review under the Issuer’s profile on the SEDAR website at 

www.sedar.com. The following sections are derived from the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report and are 

qualified by reference to the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report in its entirety. Readers are encouraged to 

read the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report. The Issuer will be the initial operator of the exploration 

program outlined in the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report. 

Property Description and Location 

The Derlak Red Lake Property is located approximately 7 kilometres by road south-southwest of Red 

Lake, approximately 575 kilometres by road northwest of Thunder Bay and approximately 475 kilometres 

by road east-northeast of Winnipeg, Manitoba within the townships of Baird and Heyson in the Province 

of Ontario. The centre of the property lies at roughly 50º 59’ 04”N Latitude and 93º 53” 40”W Longitude 

and the property elevations are from about 370 to 390 m a.s.l. The UTM coordinates for the centre of the 

property are roughly 437,250m E and 5,648,500m N (NAD 83, Zone 15). 

The Derlak Red Lake Property is comprised of eleven, contiguous, patented mining claims. The claims 

cover an area of approximately 542.1 acres (~219.4 hectares) with two claims in Baird Township, two 

claims straddling the Baird and Heyson Township boundary and seven claims in Heyson Township 

(Figure 4.2). All of the claims are patented mining claims with fee simple absolute title to mining and 

surface rights with minor surface right reservations, mostly for road allowances and hydro-electric 

transmission line easements. All timber rights are also reserved for the Crown. All the claims are in good 

standing. The patented claims are held by Micon, a private company based in Toronto, Ontario. A 

summary of the Derlak Red Lake Property mining claims is provided in the following Table. 

List of Patented Claims for the Derlak Red Lake Property, Ontario 

Parcel Patent Claim Location Area 

(Acres) 

1637 KRL3 KRL 12746 Baird/Heyson Twp's 37.8 

1637 KRL6 KRL 12747 Baird Twp 36.0 

1637 KRL288 KRL 12748 Baird Twp 53.1 

1637 KRL286 KRL 12749 Baird/Heyson Twp's 45.3 

1637 K1465 KRL 12750 Heyson Twp 49.8 

1637 K1464 KRL 12751 Heyson Twp 63.5 

1637  KRL 12752 Heyson Twp 56.9 

1637  KRL 12753 Heyson Twp 44.6 

1637  KRL 12754 Heyson Twp 42.9 

1637  KRL 12755 Heyson Twp 56.9 

1637  KRL 12756 Heyson Twp 55.3 

The claims all have boundaries as established by the surveyed claim lines. The patented claims do not 

expire as long as annual mining taxes are paid. A location map for the Derlak Red Lake claims is 

presented in the figure below. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Property Location Map 
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A detailed claim map indicating the location of each of the patent claims is presented below. 

Claim Map for the Derlak Red Lake Property 

 

On January 25, 2012, the Issuer entered into the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement related to the 

Derlak Red Lake Property with Fechi. Fechi is a private company that in turn made an option agreement 

on January 19, 2012 with Micon. The Issuer assumed the obligations for option payments and work 

commitments that were specified in the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement in return for obtaining the right 

to acquire the Derlak Red Lake Property from Fechi. The terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment 

Agreement made by the Issuer are as follows: 

i) make an initial cash payment in the amount of $10,000 (the “Initial Cash Payment”); 

ii) make a subsequent series of cash payments in the aggregate amount of $50,000 which will flow 

from Fechi to Micon (the “Subsequent Cash Payments”). The first of these payments is for 

$20,000 and is to be made on or before the first anniversary date of the Micon/Fechi Option 

Agreement (which will be on January 19, 2013). The second of these payments is for $30,000 and 

is to be made on or before the second anniversary date of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement 

(which will be on January 19, 2014); 

iii) issuing to Micon the Micon Common Shares, the Micon Option Warrants  and the Micon 

Warrants of the Issuer upon the Issuer successfully obtaining financing and trading as a public 

company; and 
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iv) incur a total of $1,000,000 in exploration and development expenditures on the Derlak Red Lake 

Project over a period of three (3) years from the date of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement (the 

“Option Expenditures”) with a minimum of $200,000 to be expended on or before the first 

anniversary date, a minimum of a further $300,000 to be expended on or before the second 

anniversary date and a minimum of a further $500,000 to be expended on or before the third 

anniversary date. 

Upon completing an aggregate total of $1,000,000 in Option Expenditures and making the Subsequent 

Cash Payments, the Issuer will have earned a 100% interest in the property with Micon retaining a 3% 

NSR on production from the Derlak Red Lake Property. The Issuer has the right to buy back 1% of the 

NSR for $1,000,000 at any time before commencement of commercial production from the Derlak Red 

Lake Property. 

The Issuer is the operator during the earn-in period. The series of cash and share payments to satisfy the 

terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement are further described in the tables below: 

Cash Payment Schedule 

Date Required Payment 

January 19, 2012 $10,000 cash (done) 

January 19, 2013 $20,000 

January 19, 2014 $30,000 

Total $60,000 

Work Commitment Schedule 

Date Required Work Expenditure 

On or before January 19, 2013 $200,000 

On or before January 19, 2014 $300,000 

On or before January 19, 2015 $500,000 

Total $1,000,000 

There are no known environmental liabilities relating to the Property. There are no tailings ponds on the 

property. Mineral exploration work on the property is subject to Ontario mining regulations. Surface 

disturbance caused by exploration activity including drill pads, drill roads etc. on patented claims are not 

normally subject to reclamation. Water crossings for drill equipment etc. do require permits. Existing 

roads provide access to all areas of the property such that new water crossings are not necessary. 

Water from the tailings and polishing ponds of the adjacent Madsen Mine flow northeast into Derlak Lake 

which then flows via Coin Creek into Snib Lake, and ultimately to nearby Red Lake. According to a NI 

43-101 technical report produced for Claude Resources Inc. in 2010 impounded water from the Madsen 

Mine polishing pond is the last point of control before the approved discharge from the Madsen Mine 

tailings. That water is discharged and then flows through Derlak Lake and then down Coin Creek, which 

traverses the Derlak Red Lake Property. Water is discharged from the Madsen Mine polishing pond by a 

controlled siphon at a maximum rate dependent on the copper concentration and flow at the Coin Creek 

culvert. Snib Lake is considered to be the first fish habitat downstream of the Madsen Mine discharge 

point. 

No special permits are currently required for early exploration stage work on patented mining claims in 

Ontario. However, the MNDM has recently proposed changes to regulations that, if implemented, would 

require application for and approval of exploration permits for low impact field work such as line-cutting, 

geophysical surveys, power washing and diamond drilling on staked claims or patented claims if the 

owner of the surface rights is not the patented mining claim owner. The proposed regulations are expected 

to take effect sometime in 2012. As Micon owns both the surface and mining rights to the Derlak Red 
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Lake claims these new rules will not apply to the Derlak Red Lake Property. There are no known 

environmental liabilities on the property or man-made or natural features that would encumber 

exploration work. 

Accessibility, Infrastructure, Local Resources, Climate and Physiography  

The town of Madsen, Ontario is the nearest town to the Derlak Red Lake Property and is located 1.7 

kilometers southwest of the claims. The town of Madsen was built to provide the Madsen mine with a 

local skilled work force of miners. The town of Madsen and the Derlak Red Lake Property are accessible 

from paved highway 617. The mining town of Red Lake is located 6 kilometers north-northeast of the 

Derlak Red Lake Property. Highway 617 and a major hydroelectric transmission line transect the Derlak 

Red Lake Property. 

The municipality of Red Lake consists of six small communities: Balmertown, Cochenour, Madsen, 

McKenzie Island, Red Lake and Starratt-Olsen. The municipality had a population of 4,366 people 

according to the 2011 Canada Census. Mining is the primary industry and employer in the area. Other 

industries include forestry and tourism. Red Lake has a small airport, and there is a skilled labour force 

available to the mining industry, including miners, mining contractors, geo-technicians, professional 

geologists and mining engineers. Analytical laboratories, diamond drilling companies, other mining 

service industry contractors and government services including the MNDM are all situated in the town of 

Red Lake. The region has a long exploration and mining history dating back to the early 1900s.  

Mining is currently underway for gold on Goldcorp’s Red Lake Mine complex (now called Red Lake 

Gold Mines by Goldcorp) that includes the former Campbell Red Lake, Dickenson (Red Lake) and 

Cochenour-Willans Mines. Underground production for the Red Lake Gold Mines in 2011 was 839,000 

tonnes at a grade of 23.92 gpt and recovered gold from this production was 622,000 ounces of gold. 

Ongoing underground exploration drilling is underway on Claude Resources Inc.’s Madsen Mine, with 

underground exploration being conducted by Claude Resources Inc. in close proximity to the Derlak Red 

Lake Property claim boundary.  The following figure is a map of the Red Lake mining camp. 
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Regional Geology and Mines Proximal to the Derlak Red Lake Property 

 

With the three year trailing average price of gold near US$1,200 per ounce and the current gold price near 

US$1,600 per ounce, there are many active exploration projects in the area. Exploration and drilling 

activities in the region occur on a year-round basis and are not restricted by terrain or snow-fall. There are 

very few lost days due to extreme weather conditions. 

Climate conditions are typical of northern Ontario. Annual precipitation averages 640 millimetres of 

which 473 mm occurs as rainfall and the balance is snow (average of 193 centimetres of snowfall). 

Temperatures range from extremes of –46° C in the winter to +35° C in the summer with mean 

temperatures between -20°C in the winter to +18°C in the summer. 

The terrain in and around the Derlak Red Lake Property is mostly flat lying with areas covered by thin 

glacial overburden and low swampy ground. Relief across the area is less than 25 metres with the average 

elevation approximately 380 m above sea level. The vegetation ranges from mature spruce and pines, 

some white birch and poplar and thick underbrush in the recently logged and low-lying areas. The central 

part of the Derlak Red Lake Property was recently logged. 
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History 

The exploration and mining history of the Red Lake mining district dates back to 1925, when significant 

gold was first discovered by prospector L. B. Howey at what became Red Lake’s first producing mine, 

the Howey Mine. Since 1925, a total of 28 mines have operated in the district producing over 25 million 

ounces of gold. Most of this gold was produced from four mines: Campbell Mine, Dickenson (Red Lake) 

Mine Madsen Mine and Cochenour-Willans Mine. The adjacent Madsen and Starratt - Olsen Mines have 

produced almost 9.6 million tons of ore at 0.273 opt Au for 2,616,378 ounces of gold, most of which 

came from the Madsen Mine. 

The Derlak Red Lake Property was staked in the 1920s and was initially known as the Oaks property. The 

claim boundaries were surveyed in 1929 which predates the staking of the adjacent Madsen Mine. Patents 

for both mining and surface rights for the eleven claims that comprise the Derlak Red Lake Property were 

issued to Derlak Red Lake Gold Mines Limited in 1945. Derlak Red Lake Gold Mines was incorporated 

in 1936 and the claims were still held by Derlak Red Lake Gold Mines when optioned by Placer Dome 

Mines Ltd. during the period 1997-98. 

The first records of work on the Derlak Red Lake Property indicate stripping, trenching, magnetometer 

surveying and diamond drilling were done in 1936-1937, mostly on claim K.R.L. 12751 on what is now 

interpreted to be the Austin Tuff horizon. A quartz-porphyry dyke that is approximately 100 feet (30m) 

wide and trending about 030º was identified, and along its north contact, a number of discordant 

mineralised zones were tested. Records of a magnetometer survey, drill-hole locations and summary logs 

for nine holes drilled in 1936-37 by Derlak Red Lake Gold Mines Limited were obtained from the 

MNDM in Red Lake. Assay values range from nil to $1.40 which is approximately 0.04 opt Au (1.4 gpt 

Au) using a $35/oz. gold price. There is one hole (No. 5) that records assays from 42-48 feet and from 

136 to 144 feet as $175 which is either a typographic error for $1.75 (0.05 opt or 1.7 gpt Au) or, if 

correct, is equivalent to 5.0 opt au (171 gpt Au).  

The intervals in this hole are 6 feet and 8 feet long respectively and the drill log for the hole describes it 

from 19 to 179 feet as “Chlorite schist, local sections with heavy sulphides”. 

In 1944, Derlak Red Lake Gold Mines Limited drilled another eight diamond drill holes on the Derlak 

Red Lake Property (and a ninth just off the claims) that tested the near surface mineralisation along more 

or less the same Austin Tuff horizon as drilled in the 1930s but at greater depths below surface. All the 

assays on the logs indicated values of either nil or trace for these holes. 

Madsen Red Lake Gold Mines Limited optioned the Derlak Red Lake Property and drilled what is 

reported as another eleven completed and two incomplete holes in 1967. Copies for eleven logs exist. 

These holes were drilled mostly as three fences that checked the Austin Tuff horizon drilled previously 

and the units to the northwest of that horizon. In Madsen Red Lake Gold Mines Ltd.'s report dated March 

1968, author P.G. Harriman states, “The drilling failed to intersect a fault structure on this property. I 

believe they are the primary structures required to find ore along the tuff horizon.”.  The best assays were 

from 0.06 to 0.08 opt Au (1.8 to 2.3 gpt Au). 

Selco Inc. optioned the Derlak Red Lake Property and completed line cutting, geological mapping, 

magnetometer, very low frequency electro-magnetic (“VLF-EM”), horizontal loop electromagnetic 

(“HLEM”) surveys and diamond drilling (six holes) in 1980-81. Selco also identified the McVeigh Tuff 

on the western part of the Derlak Red Lake Property. The McVeigh Tuff is the second principal ore 

bearing horizon on the adjacent Madsen Mine property. The Austin Tuff horizon was not drilled by Selco. 

Selco did discover a zone of highly altered metavolcanics that were “highly altered by quartz-carbonate 

veins” but no significant gold mineralisation was found. 

Placer Dome Canada Limited (“Placer Dome”) optioned the Derlak Red Lake Property in 1997 and 

undertook line cutting, Induced Polarisation (“IP”), magnetometer, geological mapping and rock 
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sampling surveys. The mapping and rock sampling programs identified anomalous gold values (twelve 

samples over 10 gpt Au) on the western part of the Derlak Red Lake Property, including a quartz vein that 

returned 370 gpt Au. These samples are assumed to be selective grab samples. Placer Dome also noted 

that the 21st level of the Madsen Mine approaches the Derlak Red Lake Property boundary. 

Placer Dome drilled four holes on the Derlak Red Lake Property in 1998 to test magnetic and IP 

anomalies that they thought might represent shear zones. Although what is described as weak quartz-

carbonated veining in shear zones was intercepted, and in one hole a seven metre width of quartz-

carbonate veining, no significant gold values were returned. Two of these holes tested the near surface 

part of the Austin Tuff in the vicinity of some of the early holes. Assays of up to 0.385 gpt Au were 

reported for hole 551-01.  

In addition to the exploration work carried out as described above, the Derlak Red Lake Property was 

mapped by in 1962 by S.A. Ferguson of the Ontario Geological Survey (“OGS”), 1978 by J. Pirie of the 

OGS and in 1993 by B. T. Atkinson of the OGS. Placer Dome also reported that the Derlak Red Lake 

Property was optioned to Seine Explorco Ltd. in 1981 and to Redaurum Red Lake Mines Ltd. in 1985, but 

there are no available reports indicating that any work was done. 

The following table is a summary of historical work for the Derlak Red Lake Property, covering the 

period from 1920 to 1998. The relationship between sample length and true width for any of the historical 

drill-holes is not known. 

Derlak Red Lake Property Historical Work 1920s to 1998 

Year Company Description 

1920s Property staked and known as the 

Oaks Property 

Recorded 11 claims. Surveyed claims in 1929. No record of work 

done. 

1936-37 Derlak Red Lake Mines Stripping, trenching and magnetometer survey. 9 drill holes for 

1,696 feet on Austin Tuff Horizon (516.9m). 

1944 Derlak Red Lake Mines Drilled eight holes along the Austin tuff horizon at slightly deeper 

elevations than the 1936-37 holes. Drilled footage is 5,109 feet 

(1,557.2m). 
1967 Madsen Red Lake Gold Mines 

Limited 

Drilled eleven holes along the Austin tuff horizon primarily along 

three shallow fences to test the Austin tuff and the units northwest 

of it. Drilled footage is 3,093 feet (942.8m). 

1980-81 Selco Inc. Line cutting, geological mapping, magnetometer, VLF-EM, HLEM 

surveys and diamond drilling of six near-surface holes, including on 

the McVeigh Tuff horizon. Drilled footage is 2,190 feet (667.5m). 
1997 Placer Dome Canada Limited Line cutting, IP and magnetometer surveys, geological mapping 

and rock sampling. 

1998 Placer Dome Canada Limited Four holes to test magnetic and IP anomalies. Drilled total is 823m. 

Historical Estimates and Past Production 

There has been no known historical resource estimates produced nor has there been any gold production 

on the Derlak Red Lake Property. The following figure is a map of the Derlak Red Lake Property 

indicating the location of the historical drill holes. 
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Property Geology and Map Indicating Location of Historical Drilling 

 

Geological Setting 

Regional Geological Setting 

The Derlak Red Lake Property is located within the Red Lake Greenstone Belt (“RLGB”) which consists 

of generally elongate assemblages of volcanic and sedimentary rocks of Archean age at ~3.0 to 2.7 Ga 

(billion years). These rocks are intruded by syn-volcanic and post-volcanic intrusives. There are three 

main intrusive episodes dominated by granitic plutons dated between 2.734 and 2.700 Ga. The RLGB is 

part of the Uchi Subprovince of the Canadian Shield. 

Historically, the RLGB was divided into two principal sequences (Pirie 1981); an older tholeiitic to 

komatiitic sequence of rocks and a younger calc-alkalic sequence of mostly felsic to intermediate volcanic 

flows and pyroclastic units. More recently the RLGB has been subdivided into several lithological 

assemblages: 

• the Balmer Assemblage - predominantly tholeiitic and komatiitic mafic to ultramafic 

volcanic rocks; 

• the Ball Assemblage - calc alkalic volcanic rocks in the northwest portion of the belt; 

• the Slate Bay Assemblage - predominantly conglomerates, greywackes and mudstones; 

• the Bruce Channel Assemblage - calc alkalic felsic volcanics overlain by  upward fining 

clastic sediments and chert-magnetite iron formation; 

• the Trout Bay Assemblage - tholeiitic basalt overlain by clastic sediments and mafic to 

intermediate tuffs and chert-magnetite iron formation and pillowed tholeiitic basalts; 

• the Confederation Assemblage – sub-aerial to shallow marine, calc alkalic intermediate to 

mafic volcanic rocks; 

• the Huston Assemblage (post Confederation Assemblage) - a clastic sedimentary 

succession; and 

• the Graves Assemblage - calc alkalic andesite/dacite. 
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A summary of each of the assemblages in the RLGB is as follows:Balmer Assemblage 

The oldest volcanic rocks in the greenstone belt consisting of tholeiitic and komatiitic metabasalts (3.0 

and 2.988 Ga), and hosting the major lode gold deposits in the Red Lake district. The assemblage consists 

of lower, middle and upper massive to pillowed tholeiitic metabasalt sequences separated by distinctive 

felsic and ultramafic marker horizons. Metasedimentary rocks also occur within the assemblage, mainly 

as thinly bedded magnetite-chert ironstone. A large portion of the central part of the RLGB is composed 

of the Balmer assemblage. The lithologic units on the northwest part of the Derlak Red Lake Property are 

part of the Balmer Assemblage. 

Ball Assemblage 

A thick sequence of intermediate to felsic calc-alkaline flows and pyroclastic rocks located in the 

northwestern portion of the RLGB is the Ball assemblage (2.940 to 2.925 Ga). 

Slate Bay Assemblage 

The Slate Bay assemblage (2.903 to 2.850 Ga) extends the length of the belt and consists of clastic rocks. 

There are three main lithological facies: a lower polymictic conglomerate, an overlying sequence of 

quartz rich conglomerates, grit and quartz arenites and finally a sequence of immature wackes and 

mudstones. The Slate Bay assemblage is separated from the older Ball and Balmer assemblages by an 

angular unconformity. 

Bruce Channel Assemblage 

The rocks of the Bruce Channel assemblage (2.894 Ga) were also deposited unconformably on the older 

Ball and Balmer assemblages. The Bruce Channel assemblage consists of a thin sequence of calc-alkaline 

dacitic to rhyodacitic pyroclastic rocks overlain by upward fining clastic sediments and a chert-magnetite 

iron formation. 

Trout Bay Assemblage 

The Trout Bay assemblage (2.853 Ga) is exposed in the southwest portion of the RLGB. It consists of a 

volcano-sedimentary sequence with a lower tholeiitic basalt unit overlain by clastic rocks and interbedded 

with an intermediate tuff and a chert-magnetite-iron formation. 

Confederation Assemblage 

There was a period of approximately 100 million years during which no volcanic activity appears to have 

occurred after the deposition of the Trout Bay assemblage. This was followed by the deposition of the 

Confederation assemblage which consists of an extensive sequence of calc-alkaline volcanics (2.748 to 

2.739 Ga). Units include felsic to intermediate tuffs, lapilli tuffs, lithic tuffs, massive and pillowed 

andesite and basalts and minor siltstone and mudstones. A quartz-feldspar-porphyritic lapilli tuff 

(McNeely sequence) of the Confederation assemblage dated at 2.744 Ga forms the hanging wall at 

Madsen Mine and is represented on the Derlak Red Lake Property by the rocks found on the south-eastern 

part of the Derlak Red Lake Property. The contact between the older Balmer assemblage and the younger 

Confederation assemblage rocks on the Derlak Red Lake Property is an angular unconformity (also with 

deformation concentrated along it) with approximately 250 million years difference in ages between the 

two assemblages. 

The McNeely is the older of the two sequences in the Confederation assemblage. It is overlain by the 

Heyson sequence which is composed mostly of tholeiitic basalts and felsic volcanics. Structural facing 

data suggests that not only is the Balmer/Confederation contact in the Derlak Red Lake Property area an 

angular unconformity but that the Balmer assemblage was also overturned relative to the Confederation 

assemblage prior to the deposition of the McNeely sequence. 
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Huston Assemblage 

The Huston assemblage (2.742 to 2.733 Ga) unconformably overlies the Confederation assemblage. 

Coarse clastic rocks including polymictic conglomerates, argillite and turbidic wackes are found in this 

assemblage. It has been compared to Timiskaming conglomerates which are spatially associated with 

world class gold mines in the Porcupine and Kirkland Lake gold camps of the Abitibi greenstone belt. 

Graves Assemblage 

Overlying and locally transitional with the Huston assemblage, is the Graves assemblage (2.733 Ga) 

which consists of calc-alkaline volcanics dominated by andesitic to dacitic pyroclastic tuff, and 

synvolcanic diorite and tonalite. 

Intrusive Rocks 

Intrusive rocks found in the RLGB occur throughout the above assemblages and are in some cases coeval 

with them. Elsewhere there are younger intrusives that correlate with later assemblages as well as post-

volcanic intrusives such as the granitoid rocks of the McKenzie Island Stock, Dome Stock and Abino 

Granodiorite (2.720 and 2.718 Ga). Some of these younger intrusions have been ore hosts in past 

producing gold mines. The last magmatic event recorded in the belt is from about 2.7 Ga and includes a 

series of potassium feldspar megacrystic granodiorite batholiths, plutons and dikes, including the Killala-

Baird batholith. 

Structural Geology 

The RLGB has been subjected to a number of significant deformational events with associated 

hydrothermal activity and gold mineralization. Early non-penetrative deformation resulted in folding of 

the Balmer assemblage rocks. The first stage of significant, belt-wide penetrative deformation (“D1”) 

occurred during or after Confederation volcanism. D1 deformation resulted in the formation of northerly 

trending and south plunging F1 folds and associated S1/L1 fabrics. 

The second stage of significant penetrative deformation (“D2”) is superimposed on D1 structures and is 

generally manifested as: 

• southeast trending folds and fabrics as in the Mine Trend near the Campbell, Dickenson/Red 

Lake and Wilmar Mines; or 

• east to northeast trending D2 structures occur in western and central Red Lake. 

As described above, but of particular significance with respect to gold deposits in the RLGB, there is an 

angular unconformity between the Balmer Assemblage and all other younger assemblages in the district. 

All the known major gold mines in the belt are spatially related to this unconformity. 

Co-spatial with the Balmer/Confederation unconformity in the Baird Heyson township area is the Flat 

Lake-Howey Bay Deformation Zone. In the Madsen Mine, it has been proposed that the Austin Tuff in 

the Madsen Mine is really a heterogeneous shear zone up to 100m wide and is part of the Flat Lake-

Howey Bay Deformation Zone. 

Alteration 

Hydrothermal alteration in the RLGB is distributed in regional, zoned, alteration envelopes that show a 

spatial relationship to gold deposits. Distal alteration comprises calcite carbonatization and weak potassic 

alteration. More proximal to the gold deposits, strong to intense ferroan-dolomite and potassic alteration 

develops. These types of alteration manifest themselves differently depending on the original rock type 

but characteristic types of alteration, veining and mineralisation are well documented for mines in the 

camp. Silicification with associated gold and sulphide mineralization overprints the proximal alteration, 

forming extension and fault-fill quartz veins and breccias. 
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Alteration at the Madsen Mine in proximity to the ore zones is characterised by metamorphosed 

aluminosilicate minerals such as andalusite, staurolite, cordierite, garnet, chloritoid, cummingtonite and 

anthophyllite. 

The Madsen Mine hydrothermal alteration “comprises variable proportions of andalusite, staurolite, 

cordierite, biotite and quartz with two alteration facies now corresponding to metamorphic 

assemblages: 1) an aluminous outer zone, and 2) an inner alteration zone. The outer zone is low grade 

to barren and consists of mineral assemblages of andalusite, garnet, biotite, staurolite, biotite and 

amphibole in metre to decimetre thick zones that include metre scale zones of stockwork veining 

(randomly oriented, green amphibole filled fractures). The inner alteration zones enclose discreet ore 

zones and also occur in metre to decimetre thick zones. They are characteristically discreetly banded on 

a mm to cm scale with amphibole rich bands alternating with biotite rich bands (up to 25% laminated 

biotite). Actinolite, hornblende, microcline, calcite and tourmaline are among the amphibole minerals 

present. Green diopside crystals up to several cm long are found and sulphide concentrations of up 3% 

are associated with better gold mineralisation (pyrite, pyrrhotite). 

Local Geology 

The Derlak Red Lake Property is underlain by two of the assemblages described in the section above; 

the Balmer and Confederation assemblages. The north-western part of the Derlak Red Lake Property is 

underlain by the Balmer assemblage, primarily tholeiitic and komatiitic mafic and ultramafic volcanic 

rocks based on past mapping. The Balmer assemblage rocks form the structural footwall to the angular 

unconformity (and associated ore zones) marking the contact between this assemblage and the younger 

Confederation assemblage. The unconformity on the adjacent Madsen Mine property strikes about 030º 

and dips at about 65º to the southeast. Intrusive rocks including peridotite, pyroxenite and gabbro are 

documented on the neighbouring Madsen Mine property in the Balmer assemblage and also in mapping 

by Selco, Placer Dome and others on the Derlak Red Lake Property. 

On the south-eastern part of the Derlak Red Lake Property rocks from the Confederation assemblage 

consist of felsic to lapilli tuffs, porphyritic lapilli tuffs, crystal tuffs and variations of these. Diorite-

granodiorite dykes that appear to be relatively fresh and unstrained cut both assemblages. The 

following description of the Madsen Mine geology is taken from Cole et al., (2010) in a NI 43-103 

report, prepared by SRK Consulting Inc. for Claude Resources Inc. on the neighbouring Madsen Mine 

property, which is available on SEDAR under the name of Claude Resources Inc. 

Rocks in the Madsen Mine area have been metamorphosed to amphibolite facies. The area is 

positioned within the contact aureole of the Neoarchean Killala- Baird batholith situated directly 

west and dated at approximately 2,704 Ma. 

The Madsen Mine is located on the southeast-facing, southern limb of a large fold or domal 

structure. The mine is located near the contact of the Balmer assemblage to the northwest and 

Confederation assemblage to the southeast. This contact represents an angular unconformity 

with both assemblages. The deformed unconformity extends across the southeast portion of the 

RLGB through much of the Madsen Gold property and more specifically the Madsen and the 

Starratt Olsen mines, and is locally known as the Flat Lake-Howey Bay Deformation Zone. 

Gold mineralization at Madsen is hosted by three sheared and altered units within the Balmer 

assemblage historically named the Austin, South Austin and McVeigh ‘tuffs’ which strike on 

average at 030º and dip between 60º and 70º to the southeast. These were originally interpreted 

to be altered dacitic pyroclastic rocks, hydrothermally altered and deformed mafic rocks, and 

intermediate to felsic pyroclastic rocks. Surface mapping indicates that the McVeigh tuff 

corresponds to hydrothermally altered and heterogeneously deformed massive and pillowed 

basalt. The South Austin and Austin tuffs are best described as a composite unit of 

hydrothermally altered and heterogeneously deformed mafic volcaniclastic, epiclastic(wackes 
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and conglomerates), and local mafic volcanic rocks which are interpreted to be hydrothermally 

altered fragmental rocks that mark the unconformity between the Balmer and Confederation 

assemblages. 

The historical Starratt-Olsen mine is located just over one kilometre further south-west along the 

Flat Lake-Howey Bay Deformation Zone. The gold mineralization comprises quartz-sulphide 

veins hosted by mafic and ultramafic volcanic rock of the Balmer assemblage intruded by diorite 

and feldspar porphyry dikes (Harris et al., 2006). 

The Balmer assemblage represents the footwall of the Madsen deposit, it  consists mainly of tho-

leiitic pillowed basalt and gabbro interbedded with thin peridotitic and basaltic komatiite units. 

The immediate hanging wall of the McVeigh tuff is an intrusive complex composed of peridotite, 

pyroxenite and gabbro. Thin units of talc schist are found on the hanging wall contact of the 

McVeigh Zone and also separate the Austin from the South Austin Zone. 

The Confederation assemblage corresponds to the hanging wall of the Madsen deposit. 

Immediately adjacent to the Austin tuff lies a quartz-feldspar porphyry, lapilli-crystal tuff 

(“QFP”). This unit represents the basal portion of the assemblage. It contains two to three 

percent lithic fragments mainly concentrated near the base defining pre-existing centimetre-scale 

bedding. Of note is the presence of a ‘tuff’ unit within the QFP which mainly contains 

hydrothermally altered metamorphosed sediments with no important gold intercepts. 

Many northwest striking and shallow to steeply dipping diorite-granodiorite dikes cut through all 

lithological units including the gold mineralization. These are centimetre to metre scale, 

unaltered, usually unstrained and locally zoned.  They have been dated at approximately 2,699 

Ma, which places them marginally younger than the Killala-Baird batholith and of similar age to 

the Faulkenham Lake granodiorite stock southeast of Madsen, to which they may be related. 

Derlak Red Lake Property Geology 

The Derlak Red Lake Property is mostly covered with thin overburden consisting of till and some sandy 

areas of glacial outwash and locally lakes and creeks. 

The following figure depicts the property geology, which is mostly known through diamond drilling, 

geophysics and mapping by Selco and Placer Dome, as described in the History section of this report. 

Past work by these two mining companies defined a consistent geological sequence which can be 

correlated along the length of the Derlak Red Lake Property. 

The Austin Tuff has been identified by prospecting, mapping and drilling although there was little 

obvious outcrop of this unit observed during the site visit by John Reddick, the author of the 43-101 

report. The McVeigh Tuff has been less well identified in previous work; it has been mostly defined by a 

few drillholes by Selco. The understanding of the nature of the Austin and McVeigh tuffs as structural 

deformation zones as opposed to volcano-stratigraphic units is not reflected in any historic documentation 

or in the approach to exploration taken by previous operators. A summary of the stratigraphic units found 

within the Derlak Red Lake Project area is shown in the following table. 
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Summary of Project Stratigraphy 

Assemblage Description Stratigraphy 

Post-oregranodiorite (2699  4 Ma) 

Confederation 
Dacite 

 
Spherulitic rhyodacite and rhyolite 

Basalt/mafic volcaniclastic rocks 

Gabbro 

Epiclastic (conglomerate)/volcaniclastic 

rocks locally altered 

Feldspar porphyritic tuff 

Quartz-feldspar-porphyritic lapilli-crystal 

tuff (2744  1 Ma) 

 Angular Unconformity  

Balmer Altered Basalt and mafic volcaniclastic 

including Austin and McVeigh “Tuff” 

units 

“Austin Tuff” 

“McVeigh 

Tuff” 

Gabbro-pyroxenite-peridotite  

Basalt  

Ultramafic volcanic and intrusive rocks  

Mineralised Zones on the Property 

Overview 

Historically, exploration work in the Red Lake area along the Madsen Lake trend has been largely been 

conducted utilizing an integrated approach with airborne magnetic and electromagnetic surveys, ground 

geophysics surveys including magnetic, electromagnetic and IP surveys, soil and lithological geochemistry 

studies, detailed mapping, prospecting and diamond drilling.  

The angular unconformity between the Balmer and Confederation assemblages is recognized as being a 

high priority exploration target. The unconformity transects the Derlak Red Lake Property and continues 

north-eastwards toward the nearby Buffalo and Hasaga Mines. The Austin and McVeigh Tuff horizons 

were recognised as being spatially associated with the unconformity and were considered to be potential 

gold-bearing units by previous explorers. Early prospecting and drilling programs in the 1920s and 1930s 

targeted these horizons on the Derlak Red Lake Property. All of the drilling to date has tested only near-

surface parts of the Austin and McVeigh tuffs. The following figure is a map of the Derlak Red Lake 

Property and surrounding mines. The projected trend of Madsen Mine style mineralization is along the 

unconformity which is defined by the bold dashed line in the following figure. 
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Trace of Angular Unconformity between Balmer and Confederation Assemblages 

The following description of the mineralised Austin, South Austin and McVeigh Gold Zones on the 

adjacent Madsen Mine property is taken from Cole et al., 2010 in the report prepared by SRK Consulting 

Inc. for the neighbouring Madsen Mine property: 

Historical gold production from the Madsen Mine came primarily from three main zones of gold 

mineralization: Austin, South Austin and McVeigh. Zone 8 represents the fourth gold zone of the 

Madsen Mine. 

The South Austin and Austin zones are interpreted as hydrothermally altered fragmental rocks that 

mark the unconformity between the Balmer and Confederation assemblages. They are a composite 

unit of hydrothermally altered and heterogeneously deformed mafic volcaniclastic, epiclastic 

wacke and conglomerate, and local mafic volcanic rock. The McVeigh zone on the other hand is 

described as hydrothermally altered and heterogeneously deformed massive and pillowed basalt 

(Dubé et al, 2000). 

All three zones strike on average at 030º and dip between 60º and 70º to the southeast. The Austin 

zone modelled as part of the present study has a strike length of approximately 3,150 metres, a 

depth extent of 1,700 metres with a thickness varying from five to over 120 metres. The Austin zone 

is open along strike and has been observed in the Starratt-Olsen mine area.  

The South Austin zone was modelled over a strike length of 2,400 metres and extends 1,300 metres 

down dip. Its thickness varies from five to 70 metres. The South Austin zone is closed along strike 

to the northeast but remains open to the southwest beyond drilling data. 

The McVeigh zone was modelled over a strike length of 2,600 metres, a depth extent of 1,750 

metres. It varies between five and 80 metres in thickness. The McVeigh tuff is open along strike. 
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The fourth auriferous zone (Zone 8) is hosted in quartz-carbonate veins with common visible gold 

located close to the contact between ultramafic and mafic units of the Balmer assemblage. The 

known extent and mining of the Zone 8 was originally limited to levels 22 to 27, or approximately 

1,061 to 1,321 metres below surface. Further drilling from Claude Resources Inc. has expanded 

the known extent of the No. 8 Zone vein down-dip. The new Zone 8 model used in resource 

estimation strikes 030º dips 40º to the southeast and is 100 metres wide and 500 metres deep. The 

Zone 8 gold mineralized zone is slightly discordant to the other three gold mineralized zones at 

Madsen. 

As described above, both the Austin and McVeigh Tuffs are open at depth and along strike on the Madsen 

property. The rake of the ore zones in these units is towards the north-east and the mineralised ore-grade 

parts of these horizons project onto the Derlak Red Lake Property at some depth below 1,000m below 

surface. 

The following figure is a composite vertical longitudinal obtained from the Claude Resources Inc. 

website. The Derlak Red Lake Property boundary is proximal to the northeastern limit of underground 

workings on the 1000m-below-surface level. Drilling programs currently being conducted by Claude 

Resources Inc. along the McVeigh and Austin tuff horizons are outlined in square boxes on the 

longitudinal section. The 2012 Claude Resources Inc. underground drilling program along the Austin Tuff 

horizon is located proximal to the Derlak Red Lake Property boundary at a depth below 1,000m below 

surface. 

Composite Vertical Longitudinal Section of the Madsen Mine Orebodies 
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Deposit Types 

Economic concentrations of gold in the RLGB are Archean epigenetic hydrothermal gold deposits that are 

generally considered to be mesothermal lode gold deposits. The gold mineralisation in this style of 

deposits is primarily located in areas of high strain and deformation with brittle structures providing a 

fluid pathway and both brittle and ductile deformation zones hosting mineralisation as veins or 

replacement zones with associated alteration. 

The RLGB is host to various styles of hydrothermal gold deposits. Since 1930 over 25 million ounces of 

gold have been produced in the RLGB, mostly from four main producing mines: Campbell Red Lake 

Mine, Dickenson (Red Lake) Mine, Madsen Mine and Cochenour-Willans Mine. The majority of the gold 

production from Red Lake is derived from high grade quartz-carbonate veins (> 0.5 opt Au) associated 

with deformation and folding in Balmer assemblage metamorphosed volcanic, sedimentary and granitoid 

rocks. At the Campbell Mine, Dickenson/Red Lake Mine and Cochenour-Willans Mine, the main source 

of gold is found within quartz-carbonate veins spatially associated with highly variable ferroan-carbonate 

alteration zones and also spatially related to fault zones. The veins are hosted by wider and more 

continuous alteration zones that are generally controlled by the subvertical structures. Gold in the No. 8 

Zone at Madsen Mine is found in similar quartz-carbonate veins. 

A second type of gold mineralisation in the RLGB and that has been the source of most of the past 

production at Madsen Mine occurs as a replacement-style of disseminated gold. This style of 

mineralisation occurs in three main zones that have historically been designated as tuffs (the Austin, 

South Austin and McVeigh Tuffs) but are now interpreted to be highly altered rocks within high strain 

zones spatially related to both the angular unconformity at the Balmer/Confederation assemblage contact 

and the related Flat Lake – Howey Bay Deformation Zone. The Madsen Mine is described as follows: 

The deposit is hosted by hydrothermally altered Balmer basalt and mafic derived 

fragmental rocks, and comprised two main ore horizons, the McVeigh and Austin. An inner 

zone of hydrothermal alteration, which hosts the ore, is characterised by metasomatic 

layering of hornblende-actinolite, biotite, quartz, calcite, tourmaline ± K-feldspar, with 3-

5% disseminated pyrrhotite, pyrite, and local arsenopyrite. This alteration zone is 

surrounded by an aluminous, calc-silicate-bearing outer zone characterised by andalusite, 

garnet, biotite, staurolite, and amphibole in mafic volcanic rocks. 

The present producing gold mines in the Red Lake area include the former Campbell Red Lake Mine and 

the former Dickenson (Red Lake) Mine, now entirely owned by Goldcorp and consolidated into what 

Goldcorp calls the Red Lake Gold Mines. Goldcorp is also actively developing the recently discovered 

Bruce Channel deposit and the nearby Cochenour gold project. Development of the Cochenour deposit is 

advancing towards first gold production in late 2014.  

Mineralization on the Derlak Red Lake Property was described in an earlier section of this report. The 

most favourable stratigraphy on the Derlak Red Lake Property is hosted within the Austin and McVeigh 

Tuffs, which remain untested open at depth and along strike from the Madsen property underground 

workings. The rake of the ore zones in these units is towards the north-east and the mineralised ore-grade 

parts of these horizons project onto the Derlak Red Lake Property at some depth below 1,000m below 

surface, beyond the depth of any of the previous drilling programs conducted on the Derlak Red Lake 

Property. 

Exploration 

There has been no exploration work on the Derlak Red Lake Property since the previously described 1997 

Placer Dome program. The issuer has not conducted any exploration work on the property. 
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Sampling and Analysis 

This section is not applicable since there has been no recent sampling. The Issuer is not relying on 

historical sampling results except as general indicators of mineralization. 

Security of Samples 

Not applicable. 

Site Visit and Data Verification 

A site visit was completed by qualified person John Reddick on April 4, 2012. A traverse of the claims 

was made and records for past work completed on the Derlak Red Lake Property were checked at the 

Ontario Government’s Red Lake Resident Geologist’s office. Based on the site visit and data review the 

follows conclusions are made: 

• the historical logs offer reasonable descriptions of the drill core and record sample intervals 

such that the Austin Tuff horizon can be identified; 

• the historical data is sufficiently useful for compilation purposes; and 

• as no historical core has been located, assay information, sampling protocols, and assay 

procedures cannot be verified and therefore historical assay data cannot be relied upon for 

other than general information purposes. 

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates 

Not applicable. 

Mining Operations 

Not applicable. 

Adjacent Properties 

The Madsen Mine property, which is owned by Claude Resources Inc., hosts two significant past 

producing deposits, the Madsen and Starratt-Olsen Mines. These mines have produced in excess of 2.5M 

ounces of gold at an average grade of better than 0.27 opt Au (Lichtblau et al., 2010). The Austin and 

McVeigh Tuffs on the Derlak Red Lake Property are along strike with those units where they were mined 

at Madsen and these units represent the priority exploration targets on the Derlak Red Lake Property. 

Placer Dome notes that the 21st level of the Madsen Mine approaches the Derlak Red Lake Property, 

where Claude Resources Inc. is currently conducting an underground exploration program. 

Claude Resources Inc. produced a NI 43-101 compliant technical report for the Madsen Gold property in 

early 2010 that documents a Mineral Resource estimate for that property and is available on SEDAR. The 

2010 Madsen Mineral Resource includes 3.2M tonnes of Indicated Resources at a grade of 8.9 gpt Au and 

0.8M tonnes of Inferred Resources at a grade of 11.7 gpt Au. The Mineral Resources and technical report 

were produced by SRK Consulting Inc. In that report SRK Consulting Inc. states “the mineral resources 

occupy a small footprint of the large Madsen Gold property. Several other auriferous zones not 

considered in this study and other untested exploration targets warrant additional exploration 

expenditures. SRK Consulting Inc. considers that there is a good potential to significantly increase the 

mineral resources of the Madsen Gold property”. 

Claude Resources Inc. also owns the Buffalo deposit which is located four kilometres northeast of the 

Madsen Mine and southwest of the old Hasaga Mine near Red Lake. Similar to the No. 1 Vein, the 

Buffalo deposit is composed of a lode structure predominantly composed of white quartz and tourmaline 

with minor pyrite and chalcopyrite and nuggety, visible gold. In addition to the Buffalo deposit, there are 

three other historical gold mines located northeast of the Derlak Red Lake Property and more or less 
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along the trend of the unconformity which is named the Flat Lake – Howey Bay Deformation Zone. 

These are the Howey, Hasaga, and Goldshore Mines. Production from these mines was as follows: 

• Howey Mine – 4,630,779 tons @ 0.091 opt for 421,592 oz. Au; 

• Hasaga Mine – 1,515,282 tons @ 0.144 opt for 218,213 oz. Au; and 

• Buffalo – 31,986 tons @ 0.052 opt Au for 1,656 oz. Au. 

• Red Lake Goldshore – 86,333 tons @ 0.244 opt Au for 21,100 oz. Au. 

Sabina Gold and Silver Corp. (“Sabina”) holds the adjacent Newman-Madsen property immediately 

north of the Derlak Red Lake Property. Sabina reports that in 2011 it drilled four holes totalling 3,183 

metres to test the north-eastern extension of the Madsen Mine stratigraphy at levels significantly deeper 

than previously explored. Sabina intersected the targeted stratigraphy and associated hydrothermal 

alteration including an intercept of 43.51g/t Au over 0.65 meters. 

Mega Precious Metals Inc. (“Mega”) is currently drilling what they call the North Madsen property which 

includes the former Laverty, East My-Ritt and Buffalo Extension deposits. Mega released a NI 43-101 

compliant resource estimate for the North Madsen property in late 2011. A technical report that supports 

that estimate is available on SEDAR. These properties are spatially associated with Flat Lake-Howey Bay 

Deformation Zone. 

Conclusions 

Considering the proximity to the Claude Resources Inc. underground exploration and development 

program currently underway on the Madsen claims directly adjacent to the Derlak Red Lake Property, and 

the presence of the underlying unconformity defining the Madsen structural trend which has been traced 

through the Derlak claims, sufficient geological potential exists and enough successful previous work has 

been conducted to warrant an exploration and diamond drilling program to thoroughly test for the 

potential extension of the  Madsen ore deposit on the Derlak Red Lake Property. Ore deposits in the Red 

Lake camp associated with the unconformity have demonstrated potential to host millions of ounces of 

high grade gold mineralization. However, the authors caution that this is not necessarily indicative of the 

mineralization on the properties that are the subject of the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report. 

The historical work and the vertical extent of ore grade material mined on the adjacent Madsen Mine 

property indicate the Derlak Red Lake Property ought to be tested by a systematic exploration program, 

including diamond drilling, as follows: 

1) Compilation and evaluation of all historical data, interpretation of the compiled data and a surface 

exploration program to better characterise the near surface geology and test the Derlak Red Lake 

Property by diamond drilling for near-surface zones of potentially economic mineralisation; and 

2) Undertake a deep drilling program to test the Austin and McVeigh Tuffs at vertical depths of up 

to 1,000m or more. 

Recommendations 

An initial program is recommended that includes line-cutting, geophysical surveying, power stripping and 

washing in the area of the prospective Austin Tuff where it has been recently cleared by logging. A 

diamond drill program is then recommended to test: firstly, any near surface targets generated by the 

above work, and secondly, to test the Austin and McVeigh Tuffs at depth. It is recommended that the 

Issuer undertake the work in two phases: 



 

 

 

60 

Phase 1 

1. Evaluation, compilation, and interpretation of historical data and then an exploration 

program, including a high resolution airborne magnetometer survey, line cutting, and 

power stripping and washing of the Austin Tuff to more accurately assess the nature of 

that zone on the Derlak Red Lake Property. The compilation should utilize GIS software 

and include the entry of historical drill holes and 3D modelling of known mineralized 

zones to the extent that the historical data permits; and 

2. A shallow diamond drilling program, to define and test any potential near surface targets 

on the Derlak Red Lake Property in areas not previously tested by shallow drilling; and 

Phase 2 

1. A deep drill program to test the prospective Austin and McVeigh Tuffs at depth. Drill 

holes for this deep phase should extend to depths of 1,000m or more below surface. 

The recommended budget for the program, presented in the following Table is broken into two phases 

and is estimated at CDN $1,500,000. Phase 2 is not contingent of receiving positive results from Phase 1. 

Phase 1 Amount CDN $ 

Data Compilation $20,000 

Establish Grids $20,000 

High Resolution airborne magnetometer survey $100,000 

Power stripping, washing, mapping and sampling $30,000 

Exploration drill program to test near-surface target 1,250m @CDN $200/m $300,000 

Contingency $30,000 

Sub-total Phase 1 $500,000 

Phase 2  

Deep drill program to test Austin and McVeigh Tuffs at depth 4,500m @ 

CDN $200/m 

$900,000 

Contingency $100,000 

Sub-total Phase 2 $1,000,000 

  

TOTAL Phase 1 and Phase 2 $1,500,000 

Note – Diamond drill cost estimate of CDN $200/m includes direct contractor costs as well as all geological 

and support items related to program logistics, logging, sampling and assaying. 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The Issuer expects to receive a minimum of $3,000,000 and up to a maximum of $4,000,000 in gross 

proceeds from the Offering (assuming the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised) and an additional 

$2,035,000 in gross proceeds from the Concurrent Private Placement.  The funds expected to be available 

to the Issuer upon completion of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement and the expected 

principal purposes for which such funds will be used are described below. 

Funds Available 

 Minimum Offering Maximum Offering 

Net proceeds of the Offering
(1)

 $2,790,000 $3,720,000 

Net proceeds of the Concurrent Private Placement
(2)

 $1,892,550 $1,892,550 

Estimated working capital as of October 31, 2012 

(unaudited)
(3)

 

 

$873,398 

 

$873,398 

Net Funds Available  $5,555,948 $6,485,948 

(1) After deduction of the Agent’s Fee, but before deducting the other expenses of the Offering and assuming the Over-

Allotment Option is not exercised. 
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(2) After deducting the $142,450 Agent’s fees payable in connection with the Concurrent Private Placement, but before 

deducting the other expenses of the Concurrent Private Placement. 

(3) Excluded from this working capital calculation are certain liabilities of the Issuer which are to be paid out of the proceeds of 

the Offering as noted in the “Principal Purposes” table below. 

Principal Purposes 

 Minimum Offering Maximum Offering 

To pay the balance of the estimated expenses of the Offering
(1)

 $150,000 $150,000 

To pay the January 19, 2013 Mirado Gold Project payment $50,000 $50,000 

To pay the February 8, 2013 Mirado Gold Project payment $25,000 $25,000 

To pay the estimated costs of conducting Phase 1 of the 

recommended exploration project on the Mirado Gold Project 

 

$275,000 

 

$275,000 

To pay the estimated costs of conducting Phase 2 of the 

recommended exploration program on the Mirado Gold Project 

 

$2,225,000 

 

$2,225,000 

To pay the January 19, 2013 Derlak Red Lake Project payment $20,000 $20,000 

To pay the estimated costs of conducting Phase 1 of the 

recommended exploration program on the Derlak Red Lake 

Project 

 

 

$500,000 

 

 

$500,000 

To pay the estimated costs of conducting Phase 2 of the 

recommended exploration program on the Derlak Red Lake 

Project 

 

 

$1,000,000 

 

 

$1,000,000 

To pay estimated general and administrative costs for the next 

12 months
(2)(3)

 

 

$612,000 

 

$612,000 

Unallocated working capital $698,948 $1,628,948 

Total: $5,555,948 $6,485,948 

(1) The estimated balance of the expenses of the Offering, but before deducting the expenses of the Concurrent Private 

Placement, are $150,000, including legal fees, audit fees and filing fees with the Exchange and Securities Commissions, as 

well as the expenses of the Agent. 

(2) General and administrative costs for the next 12 months are expected to be comprised of: legal costs of $12,000; audit and 

accounting costs of $20,000; filing fees and transfer agent costs of $12,000; consulting fees and directors’ fees of $502,000 

(see “Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation – Director 

Compensation” for details of executive officer and director compensation which does not include other consulting fees 

totalling $228,000, which are payable to persons that are not executive officers or directors); and miscellaneous 

administrative costs averaging $5,500 per month (comprised of capital, equipment, office, investor relations and other 

miscellaneous costs). 

(3) Any of the net proceeds (after deduction of the Agent’s Fee) of up to $697,500 from the exercise of the Over-Allotment 

Option will be applied in such amounts as may be determined by management of the Issuer, including for general working 

capital and general and administrative services. 

Phase 1 exploration will consist of establishing grids and conducting an IP survey, high resolution 

airborne magnetometer survey, power stripping, washing, mapping and sampling, and mapping and 

prospecting other zones on the Derlak Red Lake Project and the Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red 

Lake Project.  Phase 2 exploration on the Mirado Gold Project is comprised of a drill program to test the 

Mirado Zones at surface and at depth (8,000 metres) and an exploration program to test near surface 

targets elsewhere on the property (1,000 metres).  Phase 2 exploration on the Derlak Red Lake Project is 

comprised of an exploration drill program on earlier stage targets (500 metres) and a deep drill program to 

test Austin and McVeigh Tuff at depth (4,000 metres).  The Issuer anticipates a minimum of $3,000,000 

in expenditures in 2013. 

The Issuer intends to spend the funds available as set out above.  There may be circumstances, however, 

where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary.  The Issuer will only redirect 

the funds to other properties that may be acquired at a later date on the basis of a recommendation from a 

professional geologist or engineer.  If such event occurs during distribution of the Offered Securities 

offered under this Prospectus, if required, an amendment to this Prospectus will be filed. 
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Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Issuer intends to use the funds primarily to conduct the exploration work required under the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement and the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement and to conduct the exploration 

program on the Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake Project estimated at $4,000,000 in accordance 

with the recommendations in the Mirado Gold Project Technical Report and the Derlak Red Lake 

Technical Report.  The exploration programs, if successful, will help design future additional drilling.  

The Issuer expects to complete Phases 1 and 2 of the Mirado Gold Project exploration programs and 

Phase 1 of the Derlak Red Lake Project in 2013 as outlined above. 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Issuer has not paid any dividends or distributions on its Common Shares.  Any decision to pay 

dividends on Common Shares in the future will be made by the Board of Directors on the basis of the 

earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such time.  There are no restrictions on 

the Issuer paying dividends or distributions, except those set out in the Business Corporations Act (British 

Columbia). 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s financial statements for the 

period from July 26, 2011 (the Issuer’s date of incorporation) to July 31, 2012 and related notes thereto.  

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

All currency amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. 

Overall Performance 

The Issuer is a mineral exploration company involved in the acquisition and assessment of mineral 

properties in the Catharine and McElroy Townships, 35 kilometers southeast of the town of Kirkland 

Lake, Ontario, and the Baird and Heyson Townships in northwestern Ontario. The Issuer’s objective is to 

undertake mineral exploration on properties assessed to be of merit and to define mineral resources.  

Metals being targeted are precious metals with a focus on gold. 

The Issuer intends to become a public entity upon completion of the Offering.  The Offering is subject to 

regulatory approval. 

Highlights of the Issuer’s activities to July 31, 2012 are as follows: 

On January 25, 2012, the Issuer entered into the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement, pursuant to the 

terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all its right, title and interest in the Micon/Fechi Option 

Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be bound by the terms of the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named therein in the place 

and stead of Fechi. 

The terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by Micon to Fechi 

for the acquisition of the Derlak Red Lake Project and twelve mining claims comprising part of the 

Mirado Gold Project.  To exercise the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash 

payments on the Derlak Red Lake Project totaling $60,000 and exploration expenditures totaling 

$1,000,000 over a three year period.  The Issuer must make cash payments on the Mirado Gold Project 

totaling $150,000 and exploration expenditures totaling $2,000,000 over a three year period. 

The Micon/Fechi Option Agreement also provides for the issuance of Common Shares of the Issuer equal 

to an amount representing 30% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer at Closing (excluding 

Common Shares issued for properties), being up to 14,974,286 Common Shares (assuming completion of 

the Maximum Offering).  In addition, the Issuer has agreed to issue warrants to Micon equal to 30% of 

any warrants of the Issuer outstanding at the Closing Date, being 351,000 warrants assuming completion 

of the Maximum Offering and the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised, and warrants to Micon equal 
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to 30% of the number of incentive options issued to directors and officers of the Issuer at the Closing 

Date, being 1,403,571 warrants, on the same terms applicable to the incentive options. 

The Derlak Red Lake Project and the twelve claims comprising part of the Mirado Gold Project are 

subject to a 3% NSR payable to Micon.  1% of the Derlak Red Lake Project NSR may be purchased by 

the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000.  An initial 1% of the Mirado Gold Project NSR may be purchased 

by the Issuer for the sum of 0$1,000,000, the second 1% for the sum of $2,000,000, and the third 1% for 

the sum of $3,000,000. 

On February 9, 2012, as amended March 27, 2012, the Issuer entered into the MZ/Fechi Assignment 

Agreement, pursuant to the terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all right, title and interest in the 

MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be bound by the 

terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named therein in 

the place of Fechi.  The terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by 

Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky to Fechi for the acquisition of ten mining claims (45 units) in 

Catharine and McElroy Townships, Ontario, which mining claims are contiguous to the mining claims 

optioned from Micon pursuant to the terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement and comprise part 

of the Mirado Gold Project.  To exercise the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash 

payments on the MZ mining claims totaling $140,000, issue a total of 250,000 Common Shares, and incur 

exploration expenditures totaling $425,000 over a four year period. 

The MZ Property are subject to a 2% NSR payable to Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky.  1% of the 

NSR may be purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000, and the second 1% of the NSR may be 

purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $2,000,000. 

The Issuer’s objective is to undertake mineral exploration on properties assessed to be of merit and to 

define resources.  Metals being targeted are precious metals with a focus on gold. 

The Issuer will carry out exploration on the Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project comprised 

of IP surveys, airborne magnetometer surveys, sampling and shallow and deep zone drilling programs. 

Selected Financial Information 

The following tables summarizes selected financial data from the Issuer’s audited financial statements for 

the period from incorporation on July 26, 2011 to July 31, 2012, and should be read in conjunction with 

such statements and related notes contained in this Preliminary Prospectus. 

 

Selected Financial Information 

For the period from incorporation to 

July 31, 2012 (audited) 

Revenues $Nil 

Expenses $151,577 

Net loss for the period $151,334 

Current assets $1,077,722 

Deferred financing $45,269 

Mineral property acquisition $64,084 

Mineral property exploration $250,538 

Total assets $1,415,951 

Current liabilities $23,554 

Working capital $1,054,168 

Shareholders’ equity $1,392,397 

Basic and diluted loss per Common Share $0.01 

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding-

basic and diluted 

 

12,225,997 
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Dividends 

There are no restrictions in the Issuer’s constating documents that could prevent the Issuer from paying 

dividends on its Common Shares.  The Issuer has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares and it is 

not contemplated that the Issuer will pay any dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future.  It is the 

Issuer’s intention to use all available cash to finance operations and explore its mineral properties. 

Results of Operations 

The Issuer’s loss from operations for the period ended July 31, 2012 was $151,334 or $0.01 per Common 

Share.  The Issuer’s loss from operations was made up of general and administrative expenses.  Among 

these administrative expenses were audit fees of which $10,000 was accrued at July 31, 2012.  In 

addition, the Issuer incurred consulting fees of $97,000 charged by the Issuer’s Chief Executive Officer at 

a rate of $6,000 per month from April 1, 2012, Executive Chairman at a rate of $3,000 per month from 

April 1, 2012, Chief Financial Officer at a rate of $2,000 per month from April 1, 2012, Vice President, 

Exploration at a rate of $10,000 per month from April 1, 2012, Vice President, Corporate Development at 

a rate of $2,000 per month from April 1, 2012 and a director (Chairman of the Audit Committee) at a rate 

of $2,500 per quarter since April 1, 2012. 

The Issuer capitalizes all mineral property acquisition and exploration costs until the properties to which 

the costs are related are placed into production, sold or abandoned.  The decision to abandon a property is 

largely determined by exploration results and the amount and timing of the Issuer’s write-offs of 

capitalized mineral property costs will vary in a fiscal period from one year to the next and typically 

cannot be predicted in advance. 

During the period ended July 31, 2012, mineral property acquisition and exploration costs totalling 

$314,622 were capitalized to mineral properties.  Exploration costs consisted of $64,084 for acquisition, 

geophysical survey of $119,946, $16,552 for field expenses, $201 for assays, and $113,839 for geological 

consulting services and commission of the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report and the Mirado Gold 

Project Technical Report. 

Summary of Period Results 

See “Selected Financial Information” above. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

At July 31, 2012, the Issuer had working capital of $1,054,168 available to fund its operations and 

exploration programs. 

On January 25, 2012, the Issuer entered into the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement, pursuant to the 

terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all its right, title and interest in the Micon/Fechi Option 

Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be bound by the terms of the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named therein in the place 

and stead of Fechi. 

The terms of the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by Micon to Fechi 

for the acquisition of the Derlak Red Lake Project and twelve mining claims comprising part of the 

Mirado Gold Project.  To exercise the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash 

payments on the Derlak Red Lake Project totaling $60,000 and exploration expenditures totaling 

$1,000,000 over a three year period.  The Issuer must make cash payments on the Mirado Gold Project 

totaling $150,000 and exploration expenditures totaling $2,000,000 over a three year period. 

The Micon/Fechi Option Agreement also provides for the issuance of Common Shares of the Issuer equal 

to an amount representing 30% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer at the time the Issuer has 
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raised aggregate proceeds of $5,000,000 (excluding Common Shares issued for properties), being up to 

14,974,286 Common Shares (assuming completion of the Maximum Offering).  In addition, the Issuer 

has agreed to issue warrants to Micon equal to 30% of any warrants of the Issuer outstanding at the 

Closing Date, being 351,000 warrants assuming completion of the Maximum Offering and the Over-

Allotment Option is not exercised, and warrants to Micon equal to 30% of the number of incentive 

options issued to directors and officers of the Issuer at the Closing Date, being 1,403,571 warrants, on the 

same terms applicable to the incentive options. 

The Derlak Red Lake Project and the twelve claims comprising part of the Mirado Gold Project are 

subject to a 3% NSR payable to Micon.  1% of the Derlak Red Lake Project NSR may be purchased by 

the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000.  An initial 1% of the Mirado Gold Project NSR may be purchased 

by the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000, the second 1% for the sum of $2,000,000, and the third 1% for 

the sum of $3,000,000. 

On February 9, 2012, as amended March 27, 2012, the Issuer entered into the MZ/Fechi Assignment 

Agreement, pursuant to the terms of which Fechi agreed to transfer all right, title and interest in the 

MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the Issuer in consideration of the Issuer agreeing to be bound by the 

terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement to the same extent as if the Issuer had been named therein in 

the place of Fechi.  The terms of the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement provide for the granting of an option by 

Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky to Fechi for the acquisition of ten mining claims (45 units) in 

Catharine and McElroy Townships, Ontario, which mining claims are contiguous to the mining claims 

optioned from Micon pursuant to the terms of the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement and comprise part 

of the Mirado Gold Project.  To exercise the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash 

payments on the MZ mining claims totaling $140,000, issue a total of 250,000 Common Shares, and incur 

exploration expenditures totaling $425,000 over a four year period. 

The MZ Property are subject to a 2% NSR payable to Walter Metherall and David Zabudsky.  1% of the 

NSR may be purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000, and the second 1% of the NSR may be 

purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $2,000,000. 

Any shortfalls in these expenditure commitments could result in the Issuer being in default of the terms of 

the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement or the MZ/Fechi Option Agreement and loss of the property. 

Cash used in investing activities for the period ended July 31, 2012 was $1,334,493 and consisted of cash 

spent on mineral property acquisition and exploration costs, the acquisition of software and the 

acquisition of a short-term investment. 

At present, the Issuer’s operations do not generate cash flow and its financial success is dependent on 

management’s ability to discover economically viable mineral deposits.  The mineral exploration process 

can take many years and is subject to factors that are beyond the Issuer’s control. 

In order to finance the Issuer’s exploration programs and to cover general and administrative expenses, 

the Issuer raises money through equity sales.  Many factors influence the Issuer’s ability to raise funds, 

including the health of the resource market, the climate for mineral exploration investment, the Issuer’s 

track record, and the experience and calibre of its management.  Actual funding requirements may vary 

from those planned due to a number of factors, including the progress of exploration activities.  

Management believes it will be able to raise equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes 

there will be risks involved that may be beyond their control. 

Cash provided by financing activities for the period ended July 31, 2012 was $1,536,231 and consisted of 

cash from private placements of Common Shares at $0.001 and $0.10 per Common Share, net of share 

issue costs and deferred financing costs. 

At July 31, 2012, there were 23,315,000 issued and outstanding Common Shares. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Issuer does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 July 31, 2012 

Capitalized acquisition and exploration costs for:  

(a) Mirado Gold Project  

Acquisition $25,792 

Assays 201 
Soil drilling Nil 
Geology & geophysics 212,837 
Field expenses 14,965 

(b) Derlak Red Lake Project  

Acquisition $10,792 
Assays Nil 
Soil drilling Nil 
Geology & geophysics 20,948 
Field expenses 1,587 

TOTAL: $287,122 

The Issuer expects that the proceeds raised under the Offering will fund operations for the twelve month 

period following the Closing Date.  Estimated total operating costs for the period are $2,500,000 for 

exploration expenditures of the Mirado Gold Project, operating costs for the period are $500,000 for 

exploration expenditures on the Derlak Red Lake Project and $616,700 for general and administrative 

costs.  No other funds are projected to be expended on capital expenditures during this time period.  See 

“Use of Proceeds”. 

Outstanding Securities Data 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are 23,315,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  There are 

also a total of 3,275,000 incentive options granted to directors, officers and consultants of the Issuer, all 

exercisable at $0.50 per Common Share, which expire on April 3, 2017. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

See “Risk Factors” below. 

Transactions with Related Parties 

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that 

result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those 

entities. 

The following entities transacted with the Issuer in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of 

the transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no more favorable 

than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions 

to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis. 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

The aggregate value of transactions with key management personnel being directors and 

senior management comprising the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 

Executive Chairman were as follows: 
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Compensation, for the period ended July 31, 2012 

Consulting fees (Chief Executive Officer) with Yeomans 

Geological Inc., a private company wholly-owned by William 

Yeomans.  William Yeomans is the President and a director of 

Yeomans Geological Inc. and, through Yeomans Geological 

Inc., is responsible for the day to day operations, acquisitions 

and development of the Issuer. 

 

Geologic consulting fees (Chief Executive Officer) $24,000 

Share-based compensation Nil 

Total $24,000 

 

Compensation, for the period ended July 31, 2012 

Consulting fees (Chief Financial Officer) with West Oak Capital 

Group, Inc., a private company wholly-owned by Stuart Rogers.  

Stuart Rogers is the President and a director of West Oak Capital 

Group, Inc. and, through West Oak Capital Group, Inc., provides 

for coordination of the financial operations of the Issuer in 

conjunction with outside accounting, tax and auditing firms. 

 

Consulting fees (Chief Financial Officer) $8,000 

Share-based compensation Nil 

Total $8,000 

 

Compensation, for the period ended July 31, 2012 

Consulting fees (Executive Chairman) with Moray Resources 

Inc., a private company wholly-owned by Gayle Stewart, the 

spouse of Alexander Stewart who is the Executive Chairman and 

a director of the Issuer.  Moray Resources Inc., through 

Alexander Stewart, provides strategic initiative and acquisition 

planning services and consultation with the Issuer’s Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, interface with the 

Issuer’s legal counsel, and acts as chair of board of director 

meetings. 

 

Consulting fees (Executive Chairman) $12,000 

Share-based compensation Nil 

Total $12,000 

Transactions with other Related Parties 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances with related parties were as 

follows: 

Transactions, for the period ended July 31, 2012 

Services rendered to the Issuer  

Consulting fees incurred with Fieldgrass Consulting, a 

proprietorship wholly-owned by Kevin Piepgrass, an officer of 

the Issuer.  Fieldgrass Consulting provides technical advisory 

services (geological) to the Issuer. 

 

Consulting fees $40,000 

Share-based compensation Nil 

Total for services rendered $40,000 
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Transactions, for the period ended July 31, 2012 

Services rendered to the Issuer  

Consulting fees incurred with 2287957 Ontario Inc., a private 

company wholly-owned by Stephen Stewart, an officer of the 

Issuer.  2287957 Ontario Inc., through Stephen Stewart, provides 

corporate development advice to the Issuer and identifies merger 

and acquisition opportunities. 

 

Consulting fees $8,000 

Share-based compensation Nil 

Total for services rendered $8,000 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 

instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and available-for-

sale which are stated at their fair value.  In addition these financial statements have been 

prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these financial statements. 

(c) Financial Instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets: 

The Issuer has the following non-derivative financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

available-for-sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 

Financial assets are designated as at FVTPL if the Issuer manages such investments and makes 

purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Issuer’s 

documented risk management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are 

recognized in profit or loss when incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss. 

The Issuer does not have any assets classified as FVTPL financial assets. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as 

AFS or are not classified as (i) loans and receivables, (ii) held-to-maturity investments or (iii) 

financial assets as at FVTPL. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 

and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on AFS 

monetary items, are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. When an investment is 

derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in the investment revaluation reserve is transferred to 

profit or loss. 

  



 

 

 

69 

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The change in 
fair value attributable to translation differences that result from the amortized cost of the 
monetary asset is recognized in profit or loss. The change in fair value of AFS equity 
investments is recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. 

The Issuer does not have any assets classified as AFS financial assets. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Cash is classified as loans and receivables. 

Impairment of financial assets: 

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income or loss are reclassified to profit or loss in 

the period. Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 

reporting period. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result 

of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the 

estimated future cash flows of the investments have been impacted. For marketable securities 

classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the securities below 

their cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 

For all other financial assets objective evidence of impairment could include: 

 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 

 default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-

organization. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

The Issuer has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, and balances payable to related parties. 

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

(d) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Pre -exploration Costs 

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 
exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 
acquisition costs. These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 
costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation on plant and equipment 
during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which 
they occur. 
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The Issuer may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Issuer will transfer 
part of a mineral interest, as consideration, for an agreement by the transfer to meet certain 
exploration and evaluation expenditures which would have otherwise been undertaken by the 
Issuer. The Issuer does not record any expenditures made by the transferee on its behalf. Any 
cash consideration received from the agreement is credited against the costs previously 
capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Issuer, with any excess cash accounted for as 
a gain on disposal. 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Issuer, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. 
As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive loss/income. 

The Issuer assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has 
been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as 
‘mines under construction’. Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment 
before the assets are transferred to development properties. 

As the Issuer currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection 
with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs. 

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 

(e) Cash 

Cash in the statement of financial position comprises cash held at a major financial 

institution which is readily convertible into a known amount of cash.  The Issuer’s cash is 

invested in a business account which is available on demand by the Issuer for its program. 

(f) Impairment 

At the end of each reporting period the carrying amounts of the Issuer’s assets are reviewed 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 

extent of the impairment, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 

of an individual asset, the Issuer estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from 

the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing 

parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset 

is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 

to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in the profit or loss for the 

period. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an 

amount that does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
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(g) Share Capital 

Financial instruments issued by the Issuer are classified as equity only to the extent that they 

do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset.  The Issuer’s common 

shares, share warrants and options are classified as equity instruments. Incremental costs 

directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 

net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(h) Share-based Payment Transactions 

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at 

the date of grant is charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting 

period. Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of 

equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative 

amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually 

vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value 

of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made 

irrespective of whether these vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not 

adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or where a non-vesting condition 

is not satisfied. 

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the 

fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also 

charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period.  

Where equity instruments are granted to employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the 

equity instrument granted at the grant date. The grant date fair value is recognized in 

comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period, described as the period during which all 

the vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value 

of the goods or services received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income, unless they 

are related to the issuance of shares. Amounts related to the issuance of shares are recorded 

as a reduction of share capital. 

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment 

cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. The 

expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 

effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations.  

All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in reserves, until exercised. Upon 

exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in reserves is credited to 

share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding 

forfeitures when vesting conditions are not satisfied, the Issuer immediately accounts for the 

cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount that otherwise would 

have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the vesting period. Any 

payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an 

equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity 

instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an 

expense. 

(i) Income Taxes 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. 

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognized in other comprehensive income or loss or directly in equity, in which case it is 

recognized in other comprehensive income or loss or equity. 
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Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at year end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable 

with regards to previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for unused tax 

loss carry-forwards and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The 

following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax 

purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor 

taxable profit; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint 

ventures to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The 

amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement 

of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of the reporting period applicable to the period of expected realization or 

settlement. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the 

same time as the liability to pay the related dividend. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 

off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 

levied by the same taxation authority and the Issuer intends to settle its current tax assets and 

liabilities on a net basis. 

(j) Restoration, Rehabilitation, and Environmental Obligations 

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when 

environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration or development of a mineral property 

interest. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, 

discounted to their net present value, are provided for and capitalized at the start of each 

project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a corresponding liability as soon as the 

obligation to incur such costs arises. The timing of the actual rehabilitation expenditure is 

dependent on a number of factors such as the life and nature of the asset, the operating license 

conditions and, when applicable, the environment in which the mine operates. 

Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate 

the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of 

the related asset, through amortization using either the unit-of-production or the straight line 

method. The corresponding liability is progressively increased as the effect of discounting 

unwinds creating an expense recognized in profit or loss. 

Decommissioning costs are also adjusted for changes in estimates. Those adjustments are 

accounted for as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost, except where a reduction in 

costs is greater than the unamortized capitalized cost of the related assets, in which case the 

capitalized cost is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is recognized in profit or 

loss. 

The operations of the Issuer have been, and may in the future be, affected from time to time in 

varying degree by changes in environmental regulations, including those for site restoration 

costs. Both the likelihood of new regulations and their overall effect upon the Issuer are not 

predictable. 

The Issuer has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as the 

disturbance to date is insignificant. 
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(k) Loss per Share 

The Issuer presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by 

dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Issuer by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share does not adjust 

the loss attributable to common shareholders or the weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive. 

(l) Deferred financing costs 

Costs directly identifiable with the raising of capital will be charged against the related capital 

stock. Costs related to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs. These costs 

will be deferred until the issuance of the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs 

will be charged against the related capital stock or charged to operations if the shares are not 

issued. 

(m) Segment Reporting 

The Issuer operates in a single reportable operating segment - the acquisition, exploration and 

development of mineral properties in Ontario, Canada. 

The Issuer’s mineral property interests, the Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project, are 

located in Ontario, Canada. 

(n) Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 

judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 

the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual 

outcomes could differ from these estimates. These financial statements include estimates which, 

by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the 

financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised 

and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are 

based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results 

differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

i. the recoverability of amounts receivable which are included in the statements of 

financial position; 

ii. the carrying value and the recoverability of the carrying value of the mineral property 

interest included in the statements of financial position; 

iii the inputs used in accounting for share-based compensation expense in loss; and 

iv. the provision for the income tax expense which is included in profit or loss and the 

composition of deferred income tax liabilities included in the statements of financial 

position. 

Critical accounting judgments 

The determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been identified 

as an accounting policy which involves assessments made by management. 
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(o) New accounting pronouncements 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not 

mandatory for the July 31, 2012 reporting period. The following standards are assessed not to 

have any impact on the Issuer’s financial statements: 

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 

January 1, 2013. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Issuer is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The 

Board of Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes. The type of risk 

exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Issuer if a counterparty to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Issuer’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its 

liquid financial assets, including cash, amounts receivable and balances receivable from related 

parties. The Issuer limits the exposure to credit risk by only investing its cash and cash 

equivalents with high-credit quality financial institutions in business and saving accounts, 

guaranteed investment certificates, and in government treasury bills which are available on 

demand by the Issuer. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuer will not be able to meet its financial obligations when 

they become due. The Issuer ensures, as far as reasonably possible, it will have sufficient 

capital in order to meet short to medium term business requirements, after taking into account 

cash flows from operations and the Issuer’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents. The 

Issuer’s cash and cash equivalents are currently invested in business accounts which are 

available on demand. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Issuer is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the 

degree of volatility of these rates. 

Interest rate risk 

The Issuer is subject to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in cash. The Issuer’s 

policy is to invest cash at fixed rates of interest and cash reserves are to be maintained in cash and 

cash equivalents in order to maintain liquidity, while achieving a satisfactory return for 

shareholders. Fluctuations in interest rates when the cash and cash equivalents mature impact 

interest income earned. The Issuer is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

Commodity Price Risk 

While the value of the Issuer’s mineral resource properties, Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado 

Gold Project, is related to the price of gold, the Issuer currently does not have any operating 

mines and hence does not have any hedging or other commodity based risks in respect of its 

operational activities. 

Gold prices have historically fluctuated widely and are affected by numerous factors outside of 

the Issuer’s control, including, but not limited to, industrial and retail demand, central bank 

lending, forward sales by producers and speculators, levels of worldwide production, short-term 

changes in supply and demand because of speculative hedging activities, and certain other factors 

related specifically to gold. 
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Capital Management 

The Issuer’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Issuer 

consists of equity, comprising share capital, net of accumulated deficit. 

There were no changes in the Issuer’s approach to capital management during the year. The 

Issuer is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Fair Value 

The fair value of the Issuer’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying 

amount. Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels 

in the fair value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate 

the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED 

The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par 

value. 

Common Shares 

There are currently 23,315,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus.  

There are no special rights or restrictions of any nature attached to any of the Common Shares, which all 

rank equally as to all benefits which might accrue to the holders of the Common Shares, including to 

receive dividends out of moneys of the Issuer properly applicable to the payment of dividends if and 

when declared by the Board of Directors and to participate rateably in the remaining assets of the Issuer in 

any distribution on a dissolution or winding-up. 

All registered shareholders are entitled to receive a notice of any general meeting to be convened by the 

Issuer.  At any general meeting, subject to the restrictions on joint registered owners of Common Shares, 

on a show of hands every shareholder who is present in person and entitled to vote has one vote and on a 

poll, every shareholder has one vote for each Common Share of which that shareholder is the registered 

owner and may exercise such vote either in person or by proxy. 

This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Offered Securities, which include the Common Shares. 

The rights attached to the Common Shares may only be modified by a special resolution of the 

shareholders of the Issuer. 

Agent Warrants and Agent Shares 

On completion of the Offering pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Agent will receive that number of 

non-transferable Agent IPO Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of Offered Securities sold 

pursuant to this Offering, with each Agent IPO Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Agent IPO 

Share for a period of eighteen months from the Closing Date at a price of $0.50 per Agent Share. 
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On completion of the Concurrent Private Placement pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Agent will 

receive that number of non-transferable Agent Private Placement Warrants that is equal to 7% of the 

number of FT Shares sold pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement, with each Agent Private 

Placement Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Agent Private Placement Share for a period of 

eighteen months from the Closing Date at a price of $0.50 per Agent Share. 

The terms of the Agent Warrants may only be modified by agreement between the Agent and the Issuer. 

Micon Common Shares, Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants 

Concurrently with the Closing of the Offering, Micon will be issued the Micon Common Shares, Micon 

Warrants and Micon Option Warrants.  For more information, please refer to “Description of the Business 

–- Mirado Gold Project and Derlak Red Lake Project”. 

The terms of the Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants may only be modified by agreement 

between Micon and the Issuer. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets forth the number of outstanding securities of the Issuer expected to be 

outstanding after completion of the Minimum Offering and the Maximum Offering (not including the 

exercise of the Over-Allotment Option): 

 

Designation of 

Security 

 

Amount 

Authorized 

Amount 

outstanding as of 

July 31, 2012 

Amount outstanding 

assuming completion of 

the Minimum Offering 
 
 

Amount outstanding 

assuming completion of 

the Maximum Offering 
 
 

Common Shares Unlimited 23,315,000 47,132,142
(1)

 49,989,286
(1)

 

Micon Warrants Up to 

351,000 

Nil 290,000
(2)

 351,000
(2)

 

Micon Option 

Warrants 

 

1,403,571 

 

Nil 

 

1,403,571
(3)

 

 

1,403,571
(3)

 

Agent Warrants 819,000 Nil 679,000 819,000
(4)

 

Options 3,275,000 3,275,000 3,275,000(5) 3,275,000(5) 
(1) Includes the Micon Common Shares and the FT Shares. 

(2) The Micon Warrants are exercisable at a price of $0.50 per Common Share, up to eighteen months from the Closing 

Date. 
(3) The Micon Option Warrants are exercisable at a price of $0.50 per Common Share, up to April 3, 2017. 
(4) Includes Agent Private Placement Warrants issued in respect of the Concurrent Private Placement and assumes a 

Maximum Offering.  The Agent Warrants are exercisable at a price of $0.50 per Common Share up to eighteen months 

from the Closing Date. 

(5) The options are exercisable at a price of $0.50 per Common Share, up to April 3, 2017. 

In the event the full Over-Allotment Option is exercised on the Maximum Offering, the number of 

Common Shares would increase by 1,200,000 Common Shares and the number of Agent Warrants would 

increase by 84,000 Agent Warrants. 

The Issuer does not have any long-term liabilities and the completion of the Offering will have no effect 

on its loan capital. 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Outstanding Options 

The following table summarises the options of the Issuer outstanding as of the date of the Prospectus: 
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Group 

No. of 

Options 

Securities 

Under 

Option 

Grant 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Exercise 

Price per 

Common 

Share 

Market 

Value of the 

Common 

Shares on 

the Grant 

Date 

Market 

Value of the 

Common 

Shares as of 

the date of 

this 

Prospectus 

Executive 

Officers 

(3 persons) 

1,950,000 Common 

Shares 

April 3, 

2012 

April 3, 

2017 

$0.50 N/A N/A 

Directors 

and Officers 

(not Executive 

Officers) 

(3 persons) 

1,050,000 Common 

Shares 

April 3, 

2012 

April 3, 

2017 

$0.50 N/A N/A 

Consultants 

(1 person) 

275,000 Common 

Shares 

April 3, 

2012 

April 3, 

2017 

$0.50 N/A N/A 

All of the options have been granted pursuant to the terms of the stock option plan (the “Stock Option 

Plan”) approved by the Issuer’s directors on April 3, 2012. The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to 

assist the Issuer in attracting, retaining and motivating directors, officers, employees and consultants 

(together "service providers") of the Issuer and of its affiliates and to closely align the personal interests 

of such service providers with the interests of the Issuer and its shareholders.  The Stock Option Plan 

provides that, subject to the requirements of the Exchange, the aggregate number of securities reserved 

for issuance, set aside and made available for issuance under the Stock Option Plan will be 10% of the 

number of Common Shares of the Issuer issued and outstanding after completion of the Offering. The 

Stock Option Plan includes the following: 

(a) a condition that options are non-assignable and non-transferable; 

(b) the term of an option cannot exceed five years from the date of grant; 

(c) a condition that no more than 5% of the issued shares of the Issuer may be granted to any 

one individual in any 12 month period; 

(d) a condition that no more than 2% of the issued shares of the Issuer may be granted to any 

one consultant in any 12 month period; 

(e) the options will vest at the discretion of the Issuer’s directors; 

(f) a condition that no more than an aggregate of 2% of the issued shares of the Issuer may 

be granted to an employee conducting investor relations activities in any 12 month 

period; 

(g) the period in which an optionee’s heirs or administrators can exercise any portion of its 

outstanding options must not exceed one year from the optionee’s death; and 

(h) a provision requiring that, for stock options granted to employees, consultants or 

management company employees, the Issuer represents that the proposed optionee is a 

bona fide employee, consultant or management company employee, as the case may be. 

The Stock Option Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors, which will have full and final 

authority with respect to the granting of all options thereunder. 

PRIOR SALES 

Since the date of incorporation on July 26, 2011, the following Common Shares have been (or, in the case 

of the up to 14,974,286 Common Shares, will be issuable to Micon set out below) issued: 
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Number and Class of Securities Price per Security Total Proceeds Date of Issue 

1 Common Share
(1)

 $0.001 $0.001 July 26, 2011 

7,499,999 Common Shares
(2)

 $0.001 $7,499.999 Sept. 1, 2011 

15,740,000 Common Shares
(3)

 $0.10 $1,574,000 March 26, 2012 

75,000 Common Shares
(4)

 $0.10 (deemed) $7,500 (deemed) March 26, 2012 

14,974,286 Common Shares
(1) (5)

 $0.50 (deemed) $7,487,143 

(deemed) 

Closing Date 

3,700,000 Common Shares
(6)

 $0.55 $2,035,000 Closing Date 
(1)

 Escrowed Securities. 
(2)

 4,549,999 of these Common Shares are Escrowed Securities. 
(3)

 2,450,000 of these Common Shares are Escrowed Securities. 
(4)

 Issued as partial consideration for the MZ Property. 
(5)

 Will be issued to Micon assuming completion of the Maximum Offering as partial consideration for the 

Mirado Gold Project and the Derlak Red Lake Project and are Escrowed Shares. 
(6)

 FT Shares. 

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON 

TRANSFER 

Escrowed Securities 

The following table summarizes the securities of the Issuer subject to escrow as at the date of this 

Prospectus: 

Designation of class Number of securities held in escrow Percentage of class 

Common Shares 21,974,286 Common Shares 45.79%
(1)

 

Warrantss to acquire Common Shares 351,000 Micon Warrants
 (2) 

30%
(3)

 

Warrants to acquire Common Shares 1,403,571 Micon Option Warrants 30%
(3)

 
(1) The percentage that the Escrowed Securities will represent of the total issued and outstanding Common Shares upon 

completion of the Minimum Offering, the issuance of the Micon Common Shares and the completion of the Concurrent 

Private Placement, assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 
(2) Assuming completion of the Maximum Offering. 
(3) These numbers represent the percentage that the escrowed Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants will represent of the 

total issued and outstanding warrants and options upon completion of the Maximum Offering and the issuance of the Micon 

Warrants and Micon Option Warrants, assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 

Under NP 46-201, securities held by Principals (as defined below) are required to be held in escrow in 

accordance with the national escrow regime applicable to initial public distributions.  Equity securities 

owned or controlled by Principals are subject to the escrow requirements. 

A “Principal” is defined as: 

(a) a person or company who acted as a promoter of the Issuer within two years before the 

initial public offering Prospectus 

(b) a director or senior officer of the Issuer or any of its material operating subsidiaries at the 

time of the initial public offering Prospectus; 

(c) a 20% holder – a person or company that holds securities carrying more than 20% of the 

voting rights attached to the Issuer’s outstanding securities immediately before and 

immediately after the Issuer’s initial public offering; 

(d) a 10% holder – a person or company that: 

(i) holds securities carrying more than 10% of the  voting rights attached to the 

Issuer’s outstanding securities immediately before and immediately after the 

Issuer’s initial public offering and 
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(ii) has elected or appointed, or has the right to elect or appoint, one or more 

directors or senior officers of the Issuer or any of its material operating 

subsidiaries. 

Pursuant to escrow agreements dated May 25, 2012 and October 15, 2012 (collectively, the “Escrow 

Agreement”) among the Issuer, Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the “Escrow Agent”) and the 

Principals of the Issuer, the Principals agreed to deposit in escrow their securities of the Issuer (the 

“Escrowed Securities”) with the Escrow Agent.  As an “emerging issuer” under NP 46-201, the Escrow 

Agreement provides that the Escrowed Securities will be released from escrow as to 10% on listing its 

securities on the Exchange and then in equal tranches at six month intervals over the 36 months following 

the listing of the Common Shares on the Exchange (that is 15% of each Principal’s holdings being 

released in each tranche with an initial 10% tranche being released on the date the Common Shares are 

listed on the Exchange). 

Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the securities held in escrow may not be transferred or 

otherwise dealt with during the term of the Escrow Agreement unless the transfers or dealings within 

escrow are: 

(i) transfers to continuing or, upon their appointment, incoming directors and senior officers 

of the Issuer or of a material operating subsidiary, with approval of the Issuer’s board of 

directors; 

(ii) transfers to a person or company that before the proposed transfer holds more than 20% 

of the Issuer’s outstanding Common Shares, or to a person or company that after the 

proposed transfer will hold more than 10% of the Issuer’s outstanding Common Shares 

and has the right to elect or appoint one or more directors or senior officers of the Issuer 

or any material operating subsidiary; 

(iii) transfers to a registered retirement savings plan or similar trust deed plan provided that 

the only beneficiaries are the transferor or the transferor’s spouse, children or parents; 

(iv) transfers upon bankruptcy to the trustee in bankruptcy or another person or company 

entitled to escrow securities on bankruptcy; 

(v) pledges to a financial institution as collateral for a bona fide loan, provided that upon a 

realization the securities remain subject to escrow; and 

(vi) tenders of escrowed securities to a business combination, provided that, if the tenderer is 

a Principal of the successor Issuer upon completion of the business combination, 

securities received in exchange for tendered escrowed securities are substituted in escrow 

on the basis of the successor Issuer’s escrow classification. 

The following table sets forth details of the issued and outstanding securities that are subject to the 

Escrow Agreements: 

 

 

 

Name and Position 

 

 

Number of Escrowed 

Securities
(1) 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Shares Prior to 

the Offering(5)
 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Shares Subsequent 

to the Offering
(6) 

Micon Gold Inc., 20% or greater 

shareholder 
14,974,286 Common Shares 

351,000 Micon Warrants 
(7) 

1,403,571 Micon Option Warrants 
(7)

 

35.66% 

Nil 

Nil 

30% 

30% 

30% 

Jeffrey Becker, shareholder 1,500,000 Common Shares 3.57% 3.00% 

William Yeomans, President, Chief 

Executive Officer and Director 
1,952,500 

 
Common Shares 4.65% 3.91% 

Stuart Rogers, Chief Financial 

Officer and Director 
250,000 

 
Common Shares 0.60% 0.50% 
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Name and Position 

 

 

Number of Escrowed 

Securities
(1) 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Shares Prior to 

the Offering(5)
 

Percentage of 

Outstanding 

Shares Subsequent 

to the Offering
(6) 

Gayle Stewart, spouse of 

Alexander Stewart, Executive 

Chairman and Director  

1,397,500 
(2)

 Common Shares 3.33% 2.80% 

Adam Travis, Director 1,300,000 
(3)

 Common Shares 3.10% 2.60% 
Stephen Dulmage, Director 250,000 Common Shares 0.60% 0.50% 
Kevin Piepgrass, Vice President, 

Exploration 
250,000 Common Shares 0.60% 0.50% 

Stephen Stewart, Vice President, 

Corporate Development and 

Secretary 

100,000 
(4)

 Common Shares 0.24% 0.20% 

(1) All Common Shares are held directly unless otherwise indicated herein. 

(2) These Common Shares are held indirectly in the name of Moray Resources Inc., a private company wholly-owned by Gayle 

Stewart, the spouse of Alexander Stewart who is the Executive Chairman and a director of the Issuer. 
(3) These Common Shares are held indirectly in the name of Cazador Resources Ltd., a private company wholly-owned by 

Adam Travis. 
(4) These Common Shares are held indirectly in the name of 2287957 Ontario Inc., a private company wholly-owned by 

Stephen Stewart. 
(5) Assuming the Micon Shares and Concurrent Private Placement FT Shares are issued. 
(6) Percentages of Common Shares assume completion of the Concurrent Private Placement and Maximum Offering and no 

exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 
(7) To be issued at Closing.  Assumes completion of the Maximum Offering and the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised. 

Seed Share Resale Restrictions 

Seed Share Resale Restrictions (“SSRRs”) are hold periods imposed by the Exchange which apply where 

securities are issued to non-Principals by private companies prior to an initial public offering at a price 

which is below the initial public offering price.  SSRRs will be imposed on the securities of the Issuer 

noted below through the placement of restrictive legends on the certificates representing such securities: 

 13,365,000 Common Shares issued prior to the date of the Prospectus are subject to a one year 

hold period following the Closing of the Offering, with 20% released on the Closing Date and 

20% released on each of the dates that are three months, six months, nine months and twelve 

months from the Closing Date. 

 2,950,000 Common Shares issued prior to the date of the Prospectus are subject to a three year 

hold period following Closing of the Offering, with 10% released on the Closing Date and 15% 

released on each of the dates that are six months, twelve months, eighteen months, twenty-four 

months and thirty-six months from the Closing Date. 

 The Micon Common Shares, Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants to be issued on the 

Closing Date or any common shares issued on the exercise thereof will be, in addition to being 

subject to escrow provisions referred to under the heading “Escrowed Securities” in this 

Prospectus, unless permitted under securities legislation, subject to a hold period expiring four 

months and a day after the Closing Date.” 

Resale Restrictions 

The FT Shares, the Agent Private Placement Warrants and any Agent Private Placement Shares issued 

upon the exercise of the Agent Private Placement Warrants will all be subject to restrictions on resale for 

a period of four months under applicable securities law. 
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and officers, and other than as disclosed below, no person beneficially 

owns, as of the date of this Prospectus, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, more 

than 10% of the Issuer’s Common Shares.  However, on the Closing Date of the Offering, the following 

persons will own more than 10% of the Issuer’s Common Shares: 

 

Name of 

Shareholder 

Number and Percentage of Issued and 

Outstanding Common Shares as at 

Prospectus Date 

Number and Percentage of Issued and 

Outstanding Common Shares Upon 

Completion of the Offering
(2)

 

Micon Gold Inc.
(1)

 Nil - 0% 14,974,286 
(3)

 – 30% 

Macquarie Bank 

Limited 
2,500,000 – 10.72% 2,500,000 – 5.00% 

(1) Micon is an unlisted reporting company, the controlling shareholder of which is Jeffrey Becker. 

(2) Assumes completion of the Concurrent Private Placement and the Maximum Offering and no exercise of the Over-

Allotment Option. 

(3) On a fully diluted basis these Common Shares represent 28.00% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

Current Directors and Officers 

The name, province and country of residence and position with the Issuer of each director and officer of 

the Issuer, and the principal business or occupation in which each director and officer of the Issuer has 

been engaged during the immediately preceding five years, and the period during which each director has 

served as director is set out in the table below.  Each director’s term of office will expire at the next 

annual general meeting of the Issuer. 

 

 

Name, Province and 

Country of Residence 

 

 

Principal Occupation During the 

Past Five Years  

Period as 

Director 

and/or 

Officer 

Number of Common 

Shares and Percentage 

of Common Shares at 

Closing (5) 

William Yeomans 

British Columbia, Canada 

President, Chief Executive 

Officer and Director 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

of the Issuer; Director and Vice 

President, Exploration of Xmet Inc. 

since June, 2010; Consulting geologist 

from October, 2008 to March, 2010.  

See “Management of the Issuer” below.  

Director and 

officer since 

February 17, 

2012 

1,952,500 (3.91%) 

775,000 options 

Stuart Rogers (1) 

British Columbia, Canada 

Chief Financial Officer and 

Director 

Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer; 

President of West Oak Capital Group, 

Inc. since November, 1990; President 

and director of Max Resource Corp. 

since May, 2002; Chief Financial 

Officer of Terrax Minerals Inc. since 

August, 2007; director of Alberta Star 

Development Corp. since March, 2007 

and interim Chief Executive Office 

since July, 2012; Chief Financial 

Officer of Prophecy Resource Corp. 

from February, 2006 to September, 

2010; and Chief Financial Officer of 

Mexivada Mining Corp. from 

November, 2004 to August, 2009.  See 

“Management of the Issuer” below. 

Director and 

officer since 

July 26, 2011 

250,000 (0.50%) 

600,000 options (2) 
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Name, Province and 

Country of Residence 

 

 

Principal Occupation During the 

Past Five Years  

Period as 

Director 

and/or 

Officer 

Number of Common 

Shares and Percentage 

of Common Shares at 

Closing (5) 

Alexander Stewart 

Ontario, Canada 

Executive Chairman and 

Director 

Executive Chairman of the Issuer; 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

of Xmet from June, 2010 to present; 

self-employed investor from June, 2007 

to June, 2010.  See “Management of 

the Issuer” below. 

Director since 

February 17, 

2012 

Nil 

575,000 options 

Adam Travis (1) 

British Columbia, Canada 

Director 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

of Colorado Resources Ltd. since 

November, 2010; President of Cazador 

Resources Ltd. since January, 2006; 

Director of Golden Ridge Resources 

Ltd. from December, 2010. Senior 

Geologist at Hunter Dickinson from 

January, 2005 to January, 2008.  See 

“Management of the Issuer” below. 

Director since 

February 17, 

2012 

1,300,000 (3) (2.60%) 

400,000 options (3) 

Stephen Dulmage (1) 

Ontario, Canada 

Director 

Self-employed financial consultant 

since May, 2006. Director of Xmet Inc. 

from May, 2010.  Chief Financial 

Officer for African Gold Group from 

March, 2003 to May, 2006.  See 

“Management of the Issuer” below. 

Director since 

February 17, 

2012 

250,000 (0.50%) 

250,000 options 

Kevin Piepgrass 

British Columbia, Canada 

Vice President, Exploration 

Consulting Geologist of Fieldgrass 

Consulting since December, 2011; 

Exploration Manager of Nyota 

Minerals (Etheopia) Ltd. from July, 

2010 to October, 2011.  Project 

Geologist for Dorato Resources Inc. 

from March, 2010 to July, 2010.  

Senior Project Geologist for Victoria 

Gold Corp. from June, 2009 to 

February, 2010; Senior Project 

Geologist for Strata Gold Corp. from 

March, 2008 to June, 2009.  See 

“Management of the Issuer” below. 

Officer since 

February 17, 

2012 

250,000 (0.50%) 

200,000 options 

Stephen Stewart 

Ontario, Canada 

Vice President, Corporate 

Development and Secretary 

President of 2287957 Ontario Inc. from 

January 1, 2010 to present. Analyst at 

the Ontario Municipal Employee 

Retirement System from October, 2009 

to January, 2010. Self-employed 

financial consultant for resource and 

real estate companies from April, 2002 

to December, 2008. Vice President 

Corporate Development of Xmet Inc. 

from April, 2011 to present. See 

“Management of the Issuer” below. 

Officer since 

February 17, 

2012 

100,000 (4) (0.20%) 

200,000 options (4) 

(1) Member of the Audit Committee. 

(2) These options are held indirectly in the name of West Oak Capital Group. Inc., a private company wholly-owned by Stuart 

Rogers. 

(3) These Common Shares and options are held indirectly in the name of Cazador Resources Ltd., a private company wholly-

owned by Adam Travis. 

(4) These Common Shares and options are held indirectly in the name of 2287957 Ontario Inc., a private company wholly-

owned by Stephen Stewart. 

(5) Assumes completion of the Maximum Offering. 
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Upon completion of the Offering, directors and executive officers of the Issuer, as a group, will 

beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over an aggregate of 4,102,500 

Common Shares representing approximately 8.55% of the then outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer 

(assuming completion of the Minimum Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement). 

The term of office of the directors expires annually at the time of the Issuer’s annual general meeting.  

The term of office of the officers expires at the discretion of the Issuer’s directors. 

None of the directors of the Issuer have entered into non-competition agreements with the Issuer.  

Yeomans Geological Inc., West Oak Capital Group, Inc., Moray Resources Inc., 2287957 Ontario Inc. 

and Fieldgrass Consulting’s consulting agreements provide that all information related to mineral 

properties introduced to the Issuer be kept confidential by Yeomans Geological Inc., West Oak Capital 

Group, Inc., Moray Resources Inc., 2287957 Ontario Inc. and Fieldgrass Consulting. 

Management of the Issuer 

The following provides additional information regarding the Issuer’s directors and executive officers. 

William Yeomans.  Age 54, President, Chief Executive Officer and director.  Mr. Yeomans acquired a 

B.Sc. (Geology) from Queen’s University.  Mr. Yeomans is a director and Vice President, Exploration of 

Xmet Inc. since June, 2010 and was a consulting geologist from October, 2008 to March, 2010. 

As the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, Mr. Yeomans is responsible for the day-to-day operations, 

outside contractors and service providers, acquisitions and project development, and of the financial 

operations of the Issuer in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer.  Mr. Yeomans anticipates 

devoting 75% of his working time for the benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. Yeomans is not an employee but an 

independent consultant of the Issuer through his corporation, Yeomans Geological Inc.  See “Executive 

Compensation”. 

Stuart Rogers.  Age 56, Chief Financial Officer and director.  Mr. Rogers has extensive knowledge of the 

financial aspects of Exchange listed mining and mineral exploration companies operating in North 

Amercia.  Mr. Rogers is currently Chief Financial Officer of Terrax Minerals Inc. since January, 2007, 

President of West Oak Capital Group, Inc. since November, 1990, President and director of Max 

Resource Corp. since May, 2002, and a director of Alberta Star Development Corp. since March, 2007.  

Mr. Rogers was Chief Financial Officer of Prophecy Resource Corp. from February, 2006 to May, 2010, 

and Chief Financial Officer of Mexivada Mining Corp. from November, 2004 to August, 2009. 

As the Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer, Mr. Rogers is responsible for coordination of the financial 

operations of the Issuer in conjunction with the President and with outside accounting, tax and auditing 

firms.  Mr. Rogers anticipates devoting approximately 25% of his working time for the benefit of the 

Issuer.  Mr. Rogers is not an employee but is an independent consultant of the Issuer through his 

corporation, West Oak Capital Group, Inc. 

Alexander Stewart.  Age 68, Executive Chairman and director.  Mr. Stewart acquired a BA from the 

University of Western Ontario and a J.D. from the University of Toronto Law School.  Mr. Stewart was a 

practising lawyer in Toronto for forty years. Mr. Stewart was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

or Executive Chairman of Xmet from June, 2010 to present and self-employed investor from June, 2007 

to June, 2010. 

As Executive Chairman and a director of the Issuer, Mr. Stewart will provide strategic initiative and 

acquisition planning services and consultation to the Issuer’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer, interface with the Issuer’s legal counsel and acts as chair of board of director meetings.  Mr. 

Stewart anticipates devoting approximately 35% of his working time for the benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. 

Stewart is not an employee but is an independent consultant. 
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Adam Travis. Age 46, director.  Mr. Travis acquired a B.Sc. (Geology) from the University of British 

Columbia.  Mr. Travis has been the Chief Executive Officer and President of Colorado Resources Ltd. 

since November, 2010, President of Cazador Resources Ltd. since January, 2006, director of Golden 

Ridge Resources Ltd. from December, 2010, and was senior geologist at Hunter Dickinson from January, 

2005 to January, 2008. 

As a director of the Issuer, Mr. Travis will be responsible for performing director duties normally 

associated with public companies.  Mr. Travis anticipates devoting approximately 10% of his working 

time for the benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. Travis is not an employee or independent consultant of the Issuer. 

Stephen Dulmage.  Age 70, director.  Mr. Dulmage acquired his BA from McMaster University and is a 

Chartered Accountant.  Mr. Dulmage has been a self-employed financial consultant since May, 2006, and 

was previously the Chief Financial Officer of African Gold Group from March, 2003 to May, 2006.  

Mr. Dulmage was also a director of Xmet Inc. from May, 2010 to present; a director of Gamecorp Ltd. 

from July, 2007 to December, 2009; a director of Oromante Resources Ltd. from August, 2000 to July, 

2006; and a director of Wireless Age from April, 2004 to December, 2009. 

As a director of the Issuer, Mr. Dulmage will be responsible for performing director duties normally 

associated with public companies and will be the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  Mr. Dulmage 

anticipates devoting approximately 10% of his working time for the benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. Dulmage is 

not an employee or independent consultant of the Issuer. 

Kevin Piepgrass.  Age 34, Vice President, Exploration.  Mr. Piepgrass acquired a B.Sc. (Geology) from 

the University of Edmonton.  Mr. Piepgrass has been a Consulting Geologist of Fieldgrass Consulting 

since December, 2011; Exploration Manager of Nyota Minerals (Etheopia) Ltd. from July, 2010 to 

October, 2011; Project Geologist for Dorato Resources Inc. from March, 2010 to July, 2010; Senior 

Project Geologist for Victoria Gold Corp. from June, 2009 to February, 2010; and Senior Project 

Geologist for Strata Gold Corp. from March, 2008 to June, 2009. 

As the Vice President, Exploration, Mr. Piepgrass is responsible to provide technical advisory services, 

including geological interpretation to the Issuer and to act as public liaison on behalf of the Issuer with 

regulatory authorities related to technical matters and to assist in the preparation of technical matters in 

news releases, MD&A and other disclosure matters.  Mr. Piepgrass anticipates devoting 100% of his 

working time for the benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. Piepgrass is not an employee but is an independent 

consultant of the Issuer. 

Stephen Stewart.  Age 34, Vice President, Corporate Development and Corporate Secretary.  Mr. Stewart 

acquired a BA from the University of Western Ontario, a M.Sc. from the University of Florida, and an 

MBA from the University of Toronto.  Mr. Stewart was President of 2287957 Ontario Inc. from January 

1, 2010 to present, an analyst at the Ontario Municipal Employee Retirement System from October, 2009 

to January, 2010, Vice President Corporate Development of Xmet Inc. from April, 2011 to present, and 

was a self-employed financial consultant for resource and real estate companies from April 2002 to 

December 2008. 

As the Vice President, Corporate Development and Corporate Secretary of the Issuer, Mr. Stewart is 

responsible to provide corporate development advice to the Issuer, identify new financing opportunities, 

identify merger and acquisition opportunities, and to make himself available for road shows and 

conferences.  Mr. Stewart anticipates devoting approximately 35% of his working time for the benefit of 

the Issuer.  Mr. Stewart is not an employee but is an independent consultant of the Issuer. 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

Except as set out below, no director or executive officer of the Issuer is, at the date of this Prospectus, or 

has been, within the ten years prior to the date this Prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief 

financial officer of any issuer (including the Issuer) that:  
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(a) was subject to an Order (as defined below) that was issued while the director or executive officer 

was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or  

(b) was subject to an Order that was issued after the director ceased to be a director, chief executive 

officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person 

was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

“Order” means a cease trade order or an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the 

relevant issuer access to any statutory exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a period 

of more than 30 consecutive days. 

William Yeomans was the Vice President, Exploration of Bright Star Ventures Ltd. from March, 2002 to 

March, 2004.  The Exchange suspended the shares of Bright Star Ventures Ltd. from trading on March 

18, 2004 for failure to file financial statements.  Orders were issued against Bright Star Ventures Ltd. by 

the British Columbia Securities Commission on April 1, 2004 and by the Alberta Securities Commission 

on April 12, 2004.  William Yeomans resigned as the Vice President, Exploration on a date after the 

Exchange’s suspension order and before the British Columbia Securities Commission’s Order. 

Stuart Rogers was the Chief Financial Officer of Randsburg International Gold Corp. which was the 

subject of an Order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission on August 9, 2006 for failure 

to file a technical report on certain of its properties in accordance with NI 43-101.  The revised technical 

report was completed and filed with the British Columbia Securities Commission in early 2007.  The 

Order was rescinded on April 25, 2007 and Randsburg International Gold Corp.’s shares resumed trading 

on the Exchange on May 15, 2007.  Stuart Rogers resigned as an officer of Randsburg International Gold 

Corp. on July 31, 2007. 

Stuart Rogers was a director of Consolidated Global Cable Systems, Inc. (“GCS”) which was halted on 

February 12, 2003 at the request of GCS for the announcement of the proposed reverse takeover of the 

Mungana project, a mineral exploration property in Australia.  Trading in the shares of GCS, an inactive 

company, was subsequently suspended for failure to complete a reactivation prior to the deadline imposed 

by the Exchange.  GCS was allowed to resume trading on the NEX board of the Exchange on August 18, 

2003 after announcement of the cancellation of the reverse takeover. 

In addition, no director or executive officer or promoter of the Issuer, or shareholder holding sufficient 

number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer: 

(a) is, at the date this Prospectus, or has been within the ten years before the date hereof, a director or 

executive officer of any issuer (including the Issuer) that, while that person was acting in that 

capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 

proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted 

any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager 

or trustee appointed to hold its assets;  

(b) has, within the ten years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 

proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 

trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person; or 

(c) has been subject to: 

i. any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a 

securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 

regulatory authority; or  

ii. any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely 

be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

The directors of the Issuer are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 

interest of the Issuer and to disclose any interests which they may have in any project or opportunity of 

the Issuer.  If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board of Directors, any director in a conflict 

is required to disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 

To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, other than is disclosed herein, there are no known existing or 

potential conflicts of interest among the Issuer, its promoters, directors, officers or other members of 

management of the Issuer as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors, 

officers, promoters and other members of management serve as directors, officers, promoters and 

members of management of other public companies. 

The directors and officers of the Issuer are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of 

directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of 

interest and the Issuer will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of 

interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers.  Such directors or officers, 

in accordance with the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) are required to disclose all such 

conflicts and are expected to govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance 

with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Issuer’s compensation philosophy for its named executive officers (“Named Executive Officers”) is 

designed to attract well qualified individuals in what is essentially an international market by paying 

competitive base management fees plus short and long term incentive compensation in the form of stock 

options or other suitable long term incentives.  In making its determinations regarding the various 

elements of executive compensation, the directors of the Issuer do not benchmark its executive 

compensation program, but from time to time does review compensation practices of companies of 

similar size and stage of development to ensure the compensation paid is competitive within the Issuer’s 

industry and geographic location while taking into account the financial and other resources of the Issuer.  

In this regard, the Issuer reviewed executive compensation of Mexivada Mining Corp., Colorado 

Resources Ltd., Western Pacific Resources Corp. and Stoneshield Capital Corp. 

The duties and responsibilities of the chief executive officer, chief financial officer and executive 

chairman are typical of those of a business entity of the Issuer’s size in a similar business and include 

direct reporting responsibility to its board of directors, overseeing the activities of all other executive and 

management consultants, representing the Issuer, providing leadership and responsibility for achieving 

corporate goals and implementing corporate policies and initiatives. 

Option-Based Awards 

The Stock Option Plan has been and will be used to provide share purchase options which are granted in 

consideration of the level of responsibility of the executive as well as his or her impact or contribution to 

the longer-term operating performance of the Issuer.  In determining the number of options to be granted 

to the executive officers, the Board of Directors takes into account the number of options, if any, 

previously granted to each executive officer, and the exercise price of any outstanding options to ensure 

that such grants are in accordance with the policies of the Exchange, and closely align the interests of the 

executive officers with the interests of shareholders. 

The directors of the Issuer as a whole have the responsibility to administer the compensation policies 

related to the executive management of the Issuer, including option-based awards. 
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Summary Compensation Table 

The following table (presented in accordance with National Instrument Form 51-102F6 - Statement of 

Executive Compensation (“NI 51-102F6”)) sets forth all annual and long term compensation for services 

in all capacities to the Issuer for the most recently completed financial year of the Issuer ending on or 

after July 31, 2012 (to the extent required by NI 51-102F6) in respect of each of the individuals 

comprised of each chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and the executive chairman who 

acted in such capacity for all or any portion of the most recently completed financial year, and each of the 

three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly compensated individuals 

acting in a similar capacity, (other than the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and the 

executive chairman), as at July 31, 2012 whose total compensation was, individually, more than $150,000 

for the financial year and any individual who would have satisfied these criteria but for the fact that 

individual was neither an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of the 

most recently completed financial year. 

NEO Name and 
Principal Position Year 

Salary 
($) 

Share-
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Option-
Based 

Awards 
($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation 

($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans 

Long-term 
Incentive 

Plans 

William Yeomans  

Chief Executive 

Officer 

2012 Nil(1) Nil Nil(2) Nil Nil Nil $24,000(3) $24,000 

Stuart Rogers 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

2012 Nil(4) Nil Nil(5) Nil Nil Nil $8,000(6) $8,000 

Alexander Stewart 

Executive Chairman 

2012 Nil(7) Nil Nil(8) Nil Nil Nil $12,000(9) $12,000 

(1) On April 1, 2012, the Issuer entered into a consulting agreement with Yeomans Geological Inc., pursuant to the terms of 

which the Issuer agreed to pay an annual consultant fee of $72,000 to Yeomans Geological Inc., which increases to 

$144,000 annually commencing the day the Common Shares are listed for trading through the facilities of the Exchange.  

Yeomans Geological Inc. provides the services of William Yeomans in the capacity as Chief Executive Officer and 

President of the Issuer.  Yeomans Geological Inc. is a private company wholly-owned by William Yeomans. 
(2) On April 3, 2012, the Issuer granted William Yeomans an option for the purchase of up to 775,000 Common Shares at a 

purchase price of $0.50 per Common Share, exercisable up to April 3, 2017. 
(3) Consulting fees paid to Yeomans Geological Inc. 
(4) On April 1, 2012, the Issuer entered into a consulting agreement with West Oak Capital Group, Inc., pursuant to the terms of 

which the Issuer agreed to pay a fee of $24,000 per annum to West Oak Capital Group, Inc., which increases to $48,000 

annually commencing the day the Common Shares are listed for trading through the facilities of the Exchange.  West Oak 

Capital Group, Inc. provides the services of Stuart Rogers in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer.  West Oak 

Capital Group, Inc. is a private company wholly-owned by Stuart Rogers. 
(5) On April 3, 2012, the Issuer granted West Oak Capital Group, Inc. an option for the purchase of up to 600,000 Common 

Shares at a purchase price of $0.50 per Common Share, exercisable up to April 3, 2017. 
(6) Consulting fees paid to West Oak Capital Group, Inc. 

(7) On April 1, 2012, the Issuer entered into a consulting agreement with Moray Resources Inc., pursuant to the terms of which 

the Issuer agreed to pay an annual consultant fee of $36,000 to Moray Resources Inc., which increases to $72,000 annually 

commencing the day the Common Shares are listed for trading through the facilities of the Exchange.  Moray Resources Inc. 

provides the services of Alexander Stewart in the capacity as Executive Chairman of the Issuer.  Moray Resources Inc. is a 

private company wholly-owned by Gayle Stewart, the spouse of Alexander Stewart, the Executive Chairman and a director 

of the Issuer. 
(8) On April 3, 2012, the Issuer granted Alexander Stewart an option for the purchase of up to 575,000 Common Shares at a 

purchase price of $0.50 per Common Share, exercisable up to April 3, 2017. 
(9) Consulting fees paid to Moray Resources Inc. 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The following option-based or share-based awards were outstanding as at July 31, 2012 for Named 

Executive Officers. 
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 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

(#) 

Option 

Exercise 

Price 

($) 

Option 

Expiration 

Date 

Value of 

Unexercised 

In-The-Money 

Options 

($) 

Number of Shares 

Or Units Of Shares 

That Have Not 

Vested 

(#) 

Market or Payout 

Value Of Share-

Based Awards That 

Have Not Vested 

($) 

William Yeomans 775,000 $0.50 April 3, 2017 Nil Nil Nil 

Stuart Rogers(1) 600,000 $0.50 April 3, 2017 Nil Nil Nil 

Alexander Stewart(2) 575,000 $0.50 April 3, 2017 Nil Nil Nil 

(1) The options are held indirectly in the name of West Oak Capital Group, Inc., a private company wholly-owned by Stuart 

Rogers. 
(2) The options are held indirectly in the name of Fechi, a private company wholly-owned by Alexander Stewart. 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

Name 

Option-Based Awards 

 - Value Vested 

During The Year 

($
)
 

Share-Based Awards 

- Value Vested  

During The Year 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan 

Compensation - Value 

Earned During The Year  

($) 

William Yeomans Nil Nil Nil 

Stuart Rogers Nil Nil Nil 

Alexander Stewart Nil Nil Nil 

Pension Plan Benefits, Deferred Compensation Plans and Defined Contribution Plans 

The Issuer does not have a pension plan, defined contribution plans or deferred compensation plans that 

provides for payments or benefits to the Named Executive Officers at, following, or in connection with 

retirement. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

Pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement entered into by the Issuer and Yeomans Geological 

Inc., in the event the consulting agreement is terminated without cause or in the event of a change of 

control and the agreement is terminated, remuneration equal to the balance of a two year term that 

commenced on April 1, 2012 (up to $192,000 for a period of sixteen months) is payable to Yeomans 

Geological Inc. 

Pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement entered into by the Issuer and West Oak Capital Group, 

Inc., in the event the consulting agreement is terminated without cause or in the event of a change of 

control and the agreement is terminated, remuneration equal to the balance of a two year term that 

commenced on April 1, 2012 (up to $64,000 for a period of sixteen months) is payable to West Oak 

Capital Group, Inc. 

Pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement entered into by the Issuer and Moray Resources Inc., in 

the event the consulting agreement is terminated without cause or in the event of a change of control and 

the agreement is terminated, remuneration equal to the balance of a two year term that commenced on 

April 1, 2012 (up to $96,000 for a period of sixteen months) is payable to Moray Resources Inc. 

Director Compensation 

The following table sets forth all amounts of compensation provided to the directors, who are each not 

also a Named Executive Officer, for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year: 
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Director 

Name 

Fees 

Earned 

($) 

Share-

Based 

Awards 

($) 

Option-

Based 

Awards 

($) 

Non-Equity 

Incentive Plan 

Compensation 

($) 

Pension 

Value 

($) 

All Other 

Compensa-

tion 

($) 

Total 

($) 

Adam Travis Nil(1) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Stephen 

Dulmage 
$2,500

(2) (3)
 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $2,500 

(1) On April 3, 2012, the Issuer granted Cazador Resources Ltd. an option for the purchase of up to 400,000 Common 

Shares at a purchase price of $0.50 per Common Share, exercisable up to April 3, 2017.
 

(2) On March 19, 2012, the Issuer passed a directors’ resolution, pursuant to which the Issuer agreed to pay a quarterly fee 

of $2,500 to Stephen Dulmage in consideration for his agreement to act as Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
(3) 

On April 3, 2012, the Issuer granted Stephen Dulmage an option for the purchase of up to 250,000 Common Shares at a 

purchase price of $0.50 per Common Share, exercisable up to April 3, 2017. 

The Issuer has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are compensated by 

the Issuer for their services in their capacity as directors, or for committee participation, involvement in 

special assignments or for services as consultant or expert during the most recently completed financial 

year or subsequently, up to and including the date of this Prospectus. 

The Issuer has a Stock Option Plan for the granting of incentive stock options to the officers, employees 

and directors.  The purpose of granting such options is to assist the Issuer in compensating, attracting, 

retaining and motivating the directors of the Issuer and to closely align the personal interests of such 

persons to that of the shareholders. 

Incentive Plan Awards - Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The following option-based or share-based awards were outstanding as at July 31, 2012 for directors. 

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

(#) 

Option 

Exercise 

Price 

($) 

Option 

Expiration 

Date 

Value of 

Unexercised In-

The-Money 

Options 

($) 

Number of Shares 

Or Units Of Shares 

That Have Not 

Vested 

(#) 

Market or Payout 

Value Of Share-

Based Awards That 

Have Not Vested 

($) 

Adam Travis 400,000(1) $0.50 April 3, 2017 Nil Nil Nil 

Stephen Dulmage 250,000   $0.50 April 3, 2017 Nil Nil Nil 

(1) These options are held indirectly in the name of Cazador Resources Ltd., a private company wholly-owned by Adam 

Travis.
 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

Name 

Option-Based Awards 

 - Value Vested 

During The Year 

($
)
 

Share-Based Awards 

- Value Vested  

During The Year 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan 

Compensation - Value 

Earned During The Year  

($) 

Adam Travis Nil Nil Nil 

Stephen Dulmage Nil Nil Nil 

Pension Plan Benefits, Deferred Compensation Plans and Defined Contribution Plans 

The Issuer does not have a pension plan, defined contribution plans or deferred compensation plans that 

provides for payments or benefits to the directors at, following, or in connection with retirement. 
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INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

No director or officer of the Issuer, or associate or affiliate of any such director or officer, is indebted to 

the Issuer. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee’s Charter 

The full text of the charter of the Issuer’s Audit Committee is set forth below: 

“Mandate 

The primary function of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is to assist the Board of 

Directors in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and 

other financial information provided by the Issuer to regulatory authorities and shareholders, the 

Issuer’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting, and the Issuer’s auditing, 

accounting and financial reporting processes.  Consistent with this function, the Committee will 

encourage continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Issuer’s policies, 

procedures and practices at all levels.  The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to: 

 serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Issuer’s financial reporting and 

internal control system and review the Issuer’s financial statements. 

 review and appraise the performance of the Issuer’s external auditors. 

 provide an open avenue of communication among the Issuer’s auditors, financial and senior 

management and the Board of Directors. 

Composition  

The Committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the Board of Directors, 

each of whom shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, 

would interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of the 

Committee. 

At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management 

expertise.  All members of the Committee that are not financially literate will work towards 

becoming financially literate to obtain a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting 

practices.  For the purposes of the Issuer’s Charter, the definition of “financially literate” is the 

ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of 

complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of 

the issues that can presumably be expected to be raised by the Issuer’s financial statements. 

The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its first meeting 

following the annual shareholders’ meeting.  Unless a Chair is elected by the full Board of 

Directors, the members of the Committee may designate a Chair by a majority vote of the full 

Committee membership. 

Meetings 

The Committee shall meet a least quarterly, or more frequently as circumstances dictate.  As part 

of its job to foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the Chief 

Financial Officer and the external auditors in separate sessions. 

Responsibilities and Duties 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall: 
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Documents/Reports Review 

a) Review and update this Charter annually. 

b) Review the Issuer’s financial statements, MD&A and any annual and interim earnings, 

press releases before the Issuer publicly discloses this information and any reports or 

other financial information (including quarterly financial statements), which are 

submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including any certification, report, 

opinion, or review rendered by the external auditors.  

External Auditors 

a) Review annually the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately 

accountable to the Board of Directors and the Committee as representatives of the 

shareholders of the Issuer. 

b) Obtain annually, a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all 

relationships between the external auditors and the Issuer, consistent with Independence 

Standards Board Standard 1. 

c) Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that 

may impact the objectivity and independence of the external auditors. 

d) Take, or recommend that the full Board of Directors take, appropriate action to oversee 

the independence of the external auditors. 

e) Recommend to the Board of Directors the selection and, where applicable, the 

replacement of the external auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval. 

f) At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, 

about the quality of the Issuer’s accounting principles, internal controls and the 

completeness and accuracy of the Issuer’s financial statements. 

g) Review and approve the Issuer’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and 

former partners and employees of the present and former external auditors of the Issuer. 

h) Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end 

financial statements and intended template for such statements. 

i) Review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other 

compensation related thereto, and any non-audit services, provided by the Issuer’s 

external auditors.  The pre-approval requirement is waived with respect to the provision 

of non-audit services if: 

i. the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Issuer 

constitutes not more than 5% of the total amount of revenues paid by the Issuer 

to its external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit services are 

provided; 

ii. such services were not recognized by the Issuer at the time of the engagement to 

be non-audit services; and 

iii. such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee by the 

Issuer and approved prior to the completion of the audit by the Committee or by 

one or more members of the Committee who are members of the Board of 

Directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the 

Committee. 

Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the 

Committee’s first scheduled meeting following such approval such authority may 

be delegated by the Committee to one or more independent members of the 

Committee. 



 

 

 

92 

Financial Reporting Processes 

a) In consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the 

Issuer’s financial reporting process, both internal and external. 

b) Consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the 

Issuer’s accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting. 

c) Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Issuer’s auditing and accounting 

principles and practices as suggested by the external auditors and management. 

d) Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial 

statements and the view of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments. 

e) Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the 

external auditors any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, 

including any restrictions on the scope of work or access to required information. 

f) Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in 

connection with the preparation of the financial statements. 

g) Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and 

improvements in financial or accounting practices have been implemented. 

h) Review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal 

accounting controls or auditing matters. 

i) Review certification process. 

j) Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the 

Issuer of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

Risk Management 

a) To review, at least annually, and more frequently if necessary, the Issuer’s policies for 

risk assessment and risk management (the identification, monitoring, and mitigation of 

risks). 

b) To inquire of management and the independent auditor about significant business, 

political, financial and control risks or exposure to such risk. 

c) To request the external auditor’s opinion of management’s assessment of significant risks 

facing the Issuer and how effectively they are being managed or controlled. 

d) To assess the effectiveness of the over-all process for identifying principal business risks 

and report thereon to the Board of Directors. 

Other 

Review any related-party transactions.” 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The following are the members of the Audit Committee: 

Stephen Dulmage Independent 
(1)

 Financially literate 
(1)

 

Stuart Rogers Not Independent 
(1)

 Financially literate 
(1)

 

Adam Travis Independent 
(1)

 Financially literate 
(1)

 
(1)

 As defined by NI 52-110. 

Audit Committee Member Education and Experience 

Stephen Dulmage is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  Mr. Dulmage is currently the Chairman of 

the Audit Committee of Xmet Inc.  Mr. Dulmage’s business knowledge and experience has provided him 
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with an understanding of financial reporting sufficient to enable him to act as a member of the Audit 

Committee.  Mr. Dulmage holds a BA from McMaster University and is a Chartered Accountant. 

Stuart Rogers has been involved in public companies for over 25 years.  Through his involvement with 

public companies, Mr. Rogers has developed an understanding of financial reporting sufficient to enable 

him to act as a member of the Audit Committee. 

Adam Travis has two years’ corporate experience as a director and officer of Canadian public companies 

and in excess of ten years’ experience with private companies.  Through his involvement with these 

companies, Mr. Travis has developed an understanding of financial reporting sufficient to enable him to 

act as a member of the Audit Committee. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

At no time since the commencement of the Issuer’s most recently completed fiscal period was a 

recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by 

the Board of Directors. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

At no time since the commencement of the Issuer’s most recently completed fiscal period has the Issuer 

relied on the exemption in Section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De Minimis Non-audit Services), or an exemption 

from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

Except as described in the Audit Committee Charter reproduced above, the Audit Committee has not 

adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services. 

External Auditors Service Fees (By Category) 

The aggregate fees billed by the Issuer’s external auditors in and subsequent to the period ended July 31, 

2012 for audit fees are as follows: 

Fiscal Period Ended Audit Fees Audit Related Fees Tax Fees All Other Fees 

July 31, 2012 Nil
(1)

 Nil Nil
 

Nil
 

(1) 
Audit fees in the amount of $10,000 have been accrued as at July 31, 2012. 

Exemption in Section 6.1 of NI 52-110 

The Issuer is relying on the exemption in Section 6.1 of NI 52-110 from the requirement of Part 5 

(Reporting Obligations). 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

National Policy 58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines establishes corporate governance guidelines 

which apply to all public companies.  The Issuer has reviewed its own corporate governance practices in 

light of these guidelines.  In certain cases, the Issuer’s practices comply with the guidelines; however, the 

Board of Directors considers that some of the guidelines are not suitable for the Issuer at its current stage 

of development and therefore such guidelines have not been adopted.  National Instrument 58-101, 

Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices mandates disclosure of corporate governance practices 

which disclosure is set out below. 
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Independence of Members of Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors consists of five directors, two of whom the Issuer considers to be independent 

based upon the tests for independence set forth in NI 52-110.  The Issuer considers Stephen Dulmage and 

Adam Travis to be independent.  William Yeomans is not independent as his consulting company, 

Yeomans Geological Inc., has entered into a consulting agreement with the Issuer.  Stuart Rogers is not 

independent because his consulting company, West Oak Capital Group, Inc., has entered into a consulting 

agreement with the Issuer.  Alexander Stewart is not independent because a consulting company, Moray 

Resources Inc. owned by Gayle Stewart, the spouse of Alexander Stewart, has entered into a consulting 

agreement with the Issuer. 

Management Supervision by Board 

The size of the Issuer is such that all of the Issuer’s operations are conducted by a small management 

team which is also represented on the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors considers that 

management is effectively supervised by the independent directors on an informal basis as the 

independent directors are actively and regularly involved in reviewing and supervising the operations of 

the Issuer and have regular and full access to management.  Further supervision is performed through the 

Audit Committee which is composed of independent directors who meet with the Issuer’s auditors 

without management being in attendance. 

Participation of Directors in Other Reporting Issuers 

None of the directors of the Issuer currently hold directorships in other reporting issuers, other than as set 

forth below: 

Name of Director Name of Other Reporting Issuer 

William Yeomans Xmet Inc.
 (1)

 

Stuart Rogers Max Resource Corp.
 (1) (2) 

Terrax Minerals Inc.
 (1) 

Alberta Star Development Corp. 
(1) (2)

 

Alexander Stewart Xmet Inc.
 (1)

 

Adam Travis Colorado Resources Ltd. 
(1) 

(1) 
Listed on the Exchange. 

(2) 
Listed on the OTCBB. 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

While the Issuer does not have formal orientation and training programs, new directors of the Issuer are 

provided with: 

1. access to recent, publicly filed documents of the Issuer, technical reports in respect of the Issuer’s 

mineral properties and the Issuer’s internal financial information; 

2. access to management and technical experts and consultants; and 

3. a summary of significant corporate and securities responsibilities. 

Members of the Board of Directors are encouraged to communicate with management, auditors and 

technical consultants; to keep themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in 

legislation with management’s assistance; and to attend related industry seminars and visit the Issuer’s 

operations.  Members of the Board of Directors have full access to the Issuer’s records. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board of Directors views good corporate governance as an integral component to the success of the 

Issuer and to meet responsibilities to shareholders.  The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of 
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Conduct (the “Code”) and intends to post the Code on its website.  The Board of Directors will instruct 

its management and employees to abide by the Code. 

The Code is to assist all Issuer personnel in making decisions regarding the affairs of the Issuer (including 

its subsidiaries).  The Code states basic principles to guide the affairs of the Issuer and deals with certain 

specific situations but is not comprehensive. 

The Code 

All directors, officers, employees and consultants (“Members”) of the Issuer are committed to the 

following obligations, which reaffirm the Issuer’s high standards of business conduct: 

- respect and comply with the laws, rules and regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which the 

Issuer does business.  In interpreting the laws, rules and regulations, strive to adopt a course that 

reinforces the Issuer’s reputation and integrity; 

- respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of our work, duties and 

responsibilities with the Issuer, make reasonable efforts to safeguard confidential corporate 

information and not disclose such information except when authorized or otherwise legally 

obliged to do so; 

- provide safe and healthy working conditions and comply with all occupational health and safety 

laws and regulations; 

- conduct the Issuer’s exploration, development and mining operations using generally accepted 

best practices with a goal to being an environmentally responsible corporate citizen; 

- act honestly and with integrity, with a view to: 

a. avoiding situations that might reasonably be perceived to conflict or have the potential to 

conflict with one’s duties to the Issuer; 

b. handling ethically any actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and 

professional relationships, including transactions and agreements in respect of which a 

director or executive officer has a material interest; and 

c. ensuring fair dealing with the Issuer’s securityholders, customers, suppliers, competitors and 

employees;   

- carry out one’s duties with due care, competence and diligence, and with a view to the best 

interests of the Issuer and to enhance shareholder value; 

- to the best of one’s abilities, protect the Issuer’s assets and resources and help achieve the 

responsible use and control of all Issuer assets and resources employed or entrusted in relation to 

one’s work, duties and responsibilities, and ensure that all Issuer assets and resources are used 

only for legitimate business purposes; 

- take reasonable steps to ensure that the disclosure is full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable 

in all reports and documents that the Issuer files with, or submits to, government and regulatory 

agencies, self-regulatory bodies and stock exchanges and in all of the Issuer’s other public 

communications; 

- encourage and facilitate the internal reporting of any conduct that one believes to be a violation of 

this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.  It is against the Issuer’s policy to take any action 

against any employee for his or her reporting in good faith any violation of this Code of Business 

Conduct and Ethics or any of the Issuer’s other guidelines, codes of conduct or policy statements; 
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- provide a work environment that enables all Members to pursue their careers free from 

discrimination or harassment; and 

- shall not use non-public information to trade in securities for one’s own account, or providing a 

family member, friend or any other person with a “tip”.  All non-public information is inside 

information and must not be used for personal gain or the personal gain of others. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Board of Directors has responsibility for identifying potential Board of Directors candidates, 

although a formal process has not been adopted.  The Board of Directors assesses potential Board of 

Directors candidates to fill perceived needs on the Board of Directors for required skills, expertise, 

independence and other factors.  Members of the Board of Directors , management and representatives of 

the mineral exploration industry are consulted for possible candidates. 

Compensation 

The Issuer considers Adam Travis and Stephen Dulmage to be independent directors of the Issuer.  These 

independent directors have the responsibility for determining compensation for the directors and senior 

management.  

To determine compensation payable, the independent directors intend to review compensation paid for 

directors and chief executive officers of companies of similar size and stage of development in the 

mineral exploration industry and determine an appropriate compensation reflecting the need to provide 

incentive and compensation for the time and effort expended by the directors and senior management 

while taking into account the financial and other resources of the Issuer.  In setting the compensation, the 

independent directors intend to annually review the performance of the Chief Executive Officer in light of 

the Issuer’s objectives and consider other factors that may have impacted the success of the Issuer in 

achieving its objectives.  See also “Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and Analysis”. 

Board Committees 

As the directors are actively involved in the operations of the Issuer and the size of the Issuer’s operations 

does not warrant a larger Board of Directors, the Board of Directors has determined that any committees 

in addition to the Audit Committee are not necessary at this stage of the Issuer’s development. 

Assessments 

The Board of Directors does not consider that formal assessments would be useful at this stage of the 

Issuer’s development.  The Board of Directors conducts informal annual assessments of the Board of 

Directors’ effectiveness, the individual directors and the Audit Committee. 

CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

The Issuer engaged the Agent to conduct the Concurrent Private Placement on a commercially reasonable 

efforts basis, subject to the terms of and conditions of the Agency Agreement.  The Concurrent Private 

Placement is being conducted concurrently with the Offering.  Pursuant to the Concurrent Private 

Placement the Issuer will issue and sell 3,700,000 FT Shares at $0.55 per FT Share for gross proceeds of 

$2,035,000.  The FT Shares will be “flow-through shares” within the meaning of the Tax Act.  The 

Concurrent Private Placement will be conducted in accordance with prospectus exemptions available 

under securities law and the FT Shares will be subject to restrictions on resale for a period of four months 

under applicable securities law.  The Concurrent Private Placement has been conditionally approved by 

the Exchange. 
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Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Agent will receive a fee equal to 7% of the gross proceeds of the 

Concurrent Private Placement payable in cash.  The Agent will also receive that number of Agent Private 

Placement Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of FT Shares sold in the Concurrent Private 

Placement, each Agent Private Placement Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Agent Private 

Placement Share for a period of 18 months from the Closing Date at a price of $0.50 per Agent Share.  

The Agent Private Placement Warrants will be issued in accordance with prospectus exemptions available 

under securities law.  The Agent Private Placement Warrants and any Agent Private Placement Shares 

issued upon the exercise thereof will be subject to restrictions on resale for a period of four months under 

applicable securities law. 

Closing of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject to completion of the Minimum Offering. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Agency Agreement 

The Issuer engaged the Agent to offer the Offered Securities to the public in British Columbia, Alberta 

and Ontario on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, subject to the terms of and conditions of the 

Agency Agreement.  The Agent is not obligated to purchase any of the Offered Securities offered 

hereunder for its own account.  The Agent may, in connection with the Offering, retain one or more 

licensed dealers, brokers or investment dealers as sub-agents. The Agency Agreement may be terminated 

in certain circumstances. 

The Offering is subject to the issue and sale of a minimum of 6,000,000 Common Shares and raising 

minimum gross proceeds of $3,000,000.  The Offering will terminate on the Closing Date. 

Closing of the Offering is subject to completion of the Concurrent Private Placement. 

Until the Closing, all subscription proceeds will be held in a separate bank account of the Agent in trust.  

If the Minimum Offering is not fully subscribed in 90 days from the date a receipt is issued for this 

Prospectus, or such later date as the Issuer and the Agent may agree and the securities regulatory 

authorities may approve, the Offering will be discontinued and all subscription funds received by the 

Agent in connection with the offering will be returned to Subscribers without interest, set-off or 

deduction. 

The Offered Securities and Agent IPO Warrants are qualified for distribution pursuant to this Prospectus.  

The Issuer has also granted the Agent the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable in whole or in part in the 

sole discretion of the Agent at any time until 5:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the day that is 30 days 

following the Closing Date, to purchase the Over-Allotment Shares at a price of $0.50 per Over-

Allotment Share solely to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. This 

Prospectus qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Over-Allotment 

Shares. A purchaser who acquires Over-Allotment Shares forming part of the Agent’s over-allocation 

position acquires such securities under this Prospectus regardless of whether the over-allocation position 

is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. If 

the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the total number of Offered Securities sold under the 

Maximum Offering will be 9,200,000 Common Shares, the gross proceeds will be $4,600,000 and the 

total net proceeds to the Issuer will be $4,278,000, before deducting expenses of the Offering. 

The Agent will receive a fee equal to 7% of the gross proceeds of the Offering payable in cash.  The Agent 

will also receive that number of Agent IPO Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of Offered 

Securities sold in the Offering, each Agent Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Agent Share for a 

period of 18 months from the Closing Date at a price of $0.50 per Agent Share.  In the event the Over-

Allotment Option is exercised in full on the Maximum Offering, the Agent will receive an additional 

105,000 Agent IPO Warrants. 
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The terms of the Offering, including the issue price of $0.50 per Common Share, were determined by 

negotiation between the Issuer and the Agent in the context of prevailing market conditions. 

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Issuer agrees not to issue any additional Common Shares (other 

than the FT Shares) or any securities convertible into Common Shares for a period of four months after 

the Closing Date without the prior written consent of the Agent, except in conjunction with (i)  the grant 

or exercise of stock options issued pursuant to the Stock Option Plan; (ii) the exercise of stock options, 

warrants and other convertible securities of the Issuer outstanding as of the date of the Engagement 

Agreement; (iii) any outstanding Common Share issuance obligations in respect of the Issuer’s property 

agreements; or (iv) in connection with property or share acquisitions in the normal course of business the 

bona fide acquisition by the Issuer of the shares or assets of other corporations or entities. 

The Agency Agreement also provides that the Agent shall have the right of first refusal for all future 

equity financings of the Issuer for a period of 12 months from the Closing Date. 

The Agency Agreement provides that, upon the occurrence of certain events or at the discretion of the 

Agent on the basis of its assessment of the state of financial markets or the market for the Offered 

Securities, the Agent may terminate the Offering and the obligations of subscribers to purchase the 

Offered Securities will then cease. 

Subscriptions for the Offered Securities will be subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and 

the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice.  There may be one or more 

closings for the Offering.  On the Closing Date, global certificates representing the Offered Securities 

sold under the Offering will be available for delivery in book-based form through CDS or its nominee and 

will be deposited with CDS.  Any certificates representing the Offered Securities issuable upon exercise 

of the Over-Allotment Option will be available for delivery in book-based form through CDS or its 

nominee and will be so deposited on the date of issue of such securities.  Each Subscriber will receive 

only a customer confirmation from the registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through 

whom the Offered Securities are purchased.  Certificates representing the Offered Securities will be 

issued in registered form to CDS or its nominee and will be deposited with CDS on the Closing Date.  

Registrations and transfers of Offered Securities deposited with CDS will be effected only through the 

book-based system administered by CDS. At the discretion of the Issuer, in certain limited circumstances, 

physical certificates may be issued by the Issuer’s registrar and transfer agent to owners evidencing their 

ownership of Offered Securities. 

Stabilization 

Pursuant to the rules and policy statements of the Securities Commissions, the Agent may not, throughout 

the period of distribution, bid for or purchase Common Shares except in accordance with certain 

permitted transactions, including market stabilization and passive market-making activities.  In 

connection with the sale of the Offered Securities, the Agent may over-allot or effect transactions which 

stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares at levels other than those which might 

otherwise prevail in the open market.  Such transactions may have the effect of preventing or mitigating a 

decline in the market price of the Common Shares. Such transactions, if commenced, may be 

discontinued at any time. 

The Issuer is not a related or connected issuer (as such terms are defined in National Instrument 33-105, 

Underwriting Conflicts) to the Agent. 

Listing Application 

The Exchange has conditionally accepted the listing of the Issuer’s Common Shares.  The listing is 

subject to the Issuer meeting all of the listing requirements of the Exchange, including prescribed 

distribution and financial requirements. 
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As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 

applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its 

securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and 

the United States of America other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock 

Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc.  

RISK FACTORS 

The Offered Securities should be considered highly speculative due to the nature of the Issuer’s business 

and the present stage of its development.  In evaluating the Issuer and its business, investors should 

carefully consider, in addition to the other information contained in this Prospectus, the following risk 

factors.  These risk factors are not a definitive list of all risk factors associated with an investment in the 

Issuer or in connection with the Issuer’s operations. 

Capitalization and Commercial Viability 

The Issuer will require additional funds to further explore, develop and mine its properties.  The Issuer 

has limited financial resources, and there is no assurance that additional funding will be available to the 

Issuer to carry out the completion of all proposed activities, for additional exploration or for the 

substantial capital that is typically required in order to place a property into commercial production.  

Although the Issuer has been successful in the past in obtaining financing through the sale of equity 

securities, there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future 

or that the terms of such financing will be favourable.  Failure to obtain such additional financing could 

result in the delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and development of its properties. 

While, upon completion of the Offering, the Issuer will have sufficient financial resources to undertake 

the recommended Phase 1 and Phase 2 exploration program in respect of the Derlak Red Lake Project and 

Mirado Gold Project, the Issuer will require additional funds to further explore and develop the Derlak 

Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project and to acquire additional properties. 

Current Global Financial Conditions 

Current global financial conditions have been subject to increased volatility and numerous financial 

institutions have either gone into bankruptcy or have had to be rescued by governmental authorities. 

Access to public financing has been negatively impacted by both sub-prime mortgages and the liquidity 

crisis affecting the asset-backed commercial paper market. These factors may impact the ability of the 

Issuer to obtain equity or debt financing in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Issuer.  

If these increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Issuer’s operations could be 

adversely impacted and the value and the price of the shares of the Issuer could be adversely affected. 

Exploration and Development 

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties which are 

explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 

The Issuer’s property does not presently contain any commercial ore.  Should any ore reserves exist, 

substantial expenditures will be required to confirm ore reserves which are sufficient to commercially 

mine its current properties, and to obtain the required environmental approvals and permitting required to 

commence commercial operations.  Should any mineral resource be defined on such properties there can 

be no assurance that the mineral resource on such properties can be commercially mined or that the 

metallurgical processing will produce economically viable saleable products. The decision as to whether a 

property contains a commercial mineral deposit and should be brought into production will depend upon 

the results of exploration programs and/or feasibility studies, and the recommendations of duly qualified 

engineers and/or geologists, all of which involves significant expense.  This decision will involve 

consideration and evaluation of several significant factors including, but not limited to: (1) costs of 
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bringing a property into production, including exploration and development work, preparation of 

production feasibility studies and construction of production facilities; (2) availability and costs of 

financing; (3) ongoing costs of production; (4) market prices for the minerals to be produced; (5) 

environmental compliance regulations and restraints (including potential environmental liabilities 

associated with historical exploration activities); and (6) political climate and/or governmental regulation 

and control. 

The ability of the Issuer to sell, and profit from the sale of any eventual production from any of the 

Issuer’s properties will be subject to the prevailing conditions in the marketplace at the time of sale.  

Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Issuer and therefore represent a market risk which 

could impact the long term viability of the Issuer and its operations. 

Securities of the Issuer 

The price at which the seed rounds of securities were sold was arbitrarily determined by the Issuer and the 

price of the Offered Securities offered under this Prospectus was determined by negotiation between the 

Issuer and the Agent and bears no relationship to earnings, book value or other valuation criteria.  The 

Issuer plans to focus on exploration of its property and to use the proceeds of the Offering to carry out 

such exploration, but to further such activities and to acquire additional properties will require additional 

funds and it is likely that, to obtain the necessary funds, the Issuer will have to sell additional securities 

including, but not limited to, its Common Shares or some form of convertible securities, the effect of 

which would result in a substantial dilution of the present equity interests of the Issuer’s shareholders. 

Dilution 

The purchase price of the Offered Securities exceeds the net tangible book value per Common Share and 

accordingly investors will suffer immediate and substantial dilution of their investment. 

Title Matters 

While the Issuer has performed its own due diligence with respect to title of its Derlak Red Lake Project 

and Mirado Gold Project, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The Derlak Red Lake 

Project and Mirado Gold Project may be subject to prior unregistered agreements of transfer or land 

claims, and title may be affected by undetected defects. 

First Nation Rights and Title 

The nature and extent of First Nation rights and title remains the subject of active debate, claims and 

litigation in Canada and including with respect to intergovernmental relations between First Nation 

authorities and federal, provincial and territorial authorities.  There can be no guarantee that such claims 

will not cause permitting delays, unexpected interruptions or additional costs for the Issuer’s projects. 

Possible Loss of Interests in Exploration Properties; Possible Failure to Obtain Mining Licenses 

The Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement and the MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement, pursuant to which 

the Issuer acquired its interest in the Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project, provide that the 

Issuer must issue Common Shares over certain time periods and expend certain minimum amounts on the 

exploration of the Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project.  If the Issuer fails to make such 

payments or expenditures in a timely fashion, the Issuer may lose its interest in the Derlak Red Lake 

Project and Mirado Gold Project. 

Further, even if the Issuer does complete exploration activities on its properties, it may not be able to 

obtain the necessary licenses or permits to conduct mining operations on the properties, and thus would 

realize no benefit from its exploration activities on the properties. 
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Competition 

Significant and increasing competition exists for mining opportunities internationally.  There are a 

number of large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and far greater financial and 

technical resources than the Issuer.  The Issuer may be unable to acquire additional attractive mining 

properties on terms it considers acceptable and there can be no assurance that the Issuer’s exploration and 

acquisition programs will yield any new reserves or result in any commercial mining operation. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain directors and officers of the Issuer are, and may continue to be, involved in the mining and 

mineral exploration industry through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships or 

joint ventures which are potential competitors of the Issuer.  Situations may arise in connection with 

potential acquisitions in investments where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict 

with the interests of the Issuer.  Directors and officers of the Issuer with conflicts of interest will be 

subject to and will follow the procedures set out in applicable corporate and securities legislation, 

regulation, rules and policies. 

Key Personnel 

The Issuer’s future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued service and performance of its 

senior management.  The experience and ability of these individuals will be a factor contributing to the 

Issuer’s success and growth.  The loss of the services of some or all of these individuals could have a 

material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business prospects.  The Issuer has not obtained key man insurance 

with respect to any of its senior management. 

No History of Earnings 

The Issuer has no history of earnings, and there is no assurance that any of its mineral properties will 

generate earnings, operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future.  The Issuer expects 

to incur losses and negative operating cash flow for the foreseeable future as it conducts its exploration 

activities on the Derlak Red Lake Project and Mirado Gold Project.  The Issuer has not paid dividends in 

the past and has no plans to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.  The future dividend policy of the 

Issuer will be determined by its directors. 

Negative Operating Cash Flow 

Since inception, the Issuer has had negative operating cash flow and incurred losses.  The negative 

operating cash flow and losses are expected to continue for the foreseeable future.  The Issuer may never 

achieve positive operating cash flow. 

Potential Profitability Depends Upon Factors Beyond the Control of the Issuer 

The potential profitability of mineral properties is dependent upon many factors beyond the Issuer’s 

control.  For instance, world prices of and markets for gold and silver are unpredictable, highly volatile, 

potentially subject to governmental fixing, pegging and/or controls and respond to changes in domestic, 

international, political, social and economic environments.  Another factor is that rates of recovery of 

mined ore may vary from the rate experienced in tests and a reduction in the recovery rate will adversely 

affect profitability and, possibly, the economic viability of a property.  Profitability also depends on the 

costs of operations, including costs of labour, equipment, electricity, environmental compliance or other 

production inputs. Such costs will fluctuate in ways the Issuer cannot predict and are beyond the Issuer’s 

control, and such fluctuations will impact on profitability and may eliminate profitability altogether.  

Additionally, due to worldwide economic uncertainty, the availability and cost of funds for development 

and other costs have become increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to project.  These changes and 

events may materially affect the financial performance of the Issuer. 
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Operating Hazards and Risks 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, certain risks, and in 

particular, unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions including rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, 

flooding and earthquakes, may occur.  It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks and the 

Issuer may decide not to insure against such risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons.  Should 

such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in increasing costs 

and a decline in the value of the securities of the Issuer. 

Environmental Risks and Other Regulatory Requirements 

The current or future operations of the Issuer, including exploration and development activities and 

commencement of production on its properties, require permits from various governmental authorities, 

and such operations are and will be governed by laws and regulations governing prospecting, 

development, mining, production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, toxic 

substances, land use, environmental protection, mine safety and other matters.  Companies engaged in the 

development and operation of mines and related facilities generally experience increased costs and delays 

in production and other schedules as a result of the need to comply with the applicable laws, regulations 

and permits.  There can be no assurance that all permits which the Issuer may require for future 

exploration activities, construction of mining facilities and conduct of mining operations will be 

obtainable on reasonable terms or that such laws and regulations would not have an adverse effect on any 

mining project which the Issuer might undertake. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 

enforcement actions including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to 

cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of 

additional equipment or remedial actions.  Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to 

compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or 

criminal fines or penalties imposed upon them for violation of applicable laws or regulations. 

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining 

companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Issuer 

and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production at 

producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of new mining properties. 

Uninsurable Risks 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, several risks and, in 

particular, unexpected or unusual geological or operating conditions, may occur.  It is not always possible 

to fully insure against such risks, and the Issuer may decide not to take out insurance against such risks as 

a result of high premiums or other reasons.  Should such liabilities arise they could reduce or eliminate 

any future profitability and result in an increase in costs and a decline in value of the securities of the 

Issuer. 

The Issuer is not insured against most environmental risks.  Insurance against environmental risks 

(including potential liability for pollution or other hazards as a result of the disposal of waste products 

occurring from exploration and production) has not been generally available to companies within the 

industry.  The Issuer periodically evaluates the cost and coverage of the insurance against certain 

environmental risks that is available to determine if it would be appropriate to obtain such insurance.  

Without such insurance, and if the Issuer becomes subject to environmental liabilities, the payment of 

such liabilities would reduce or eliminate its available funds or could exceed the funds the Issuer has to 

pay such liabilities and result in bankruptcy.  Should the Issuer be unable to fund fully the remedial cost 

of an environmental problem it might be required to enter into interim compliance measures pending 

completion of the required remedy. 
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Litigation Risk 

Litigation risks to the Issuer may include, but are not limited to, contesting development or regulatory 

approvals, traditional title claims, land tenure disputes, environmental claims, and occupational health and 

safety claims. 

Force Majeure 

The Issuer’s projects now or in the future may be adversely affected by risks outside the control of the 

Issuer, including labour unrest, civil disorder, war, subversive activities or sabotage, fires, floods, 

explosions or other catastrophes, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. 

Investment Speculative 

The above list of risk factors should not be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by the Issuer or by 

investors in the Issuer. The above factors, and others not specifically referred to above, may in the future 

materially affect the financial performance of the Issuer and the value of its securities.  

Potential investors should consider that an investment in the Issuer is speculative and should consult their 

professional advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Issuer. 

PROMOTERS 

William Yeomans, Alexander Stewart and Stuart Rogers may be considered the promoters of the Issuer, 

as that term is defined in the Securities Act (British Columbia).  William Yeomans and Alexander Stewart 

have not received anything of value from the Issuer, and they are not entitled to receive anything of value, 

except the compensation to be issued under “Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and 

Analysis” and as follows: 

 William Yeomans acquired 1,952,500 Common Shares at a price of $0.001 per Common Share 

prior to the Offering (5.39% of the outstanding Common Shares as at the date of this Prospectus). 

 Stuart Rogers acquired 250,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.001 per Common Share prior to 

the Offering (0.69% of the outstanding Common Shares as at the date of this Prospectus). 

All of the foregoing Common Shares are subject to the Escrow Agreement. 

See “Directors and Officers –Corporate Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions”, 

“Executive Compensation” and “Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions” for 

additional disclosure regarding the promoters. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings that the Issuer is or was a party to, or to its knowledge that any of its 

property interests is or was the subject of, and no such legal proceedings are known by the Issuer to be 

contemplated. 

Regulatory Actions 

There are no legal proceedings the Issuer is or was a party to, or that any of its property is or was the 

subject of, since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year for which financial 

statements of the Issuer are included in the Prospectus, nor any such legal proceedings Issuer knows to be 

contemplated.  
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INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

The directors, executive officers and principal shareholders of the Issuer or any associate or affiliate of 

the foregoing have had no material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions in which the Issuer has 

participated prior to the date of this Prospectus, and will not have any material interest in any proposed 

transaction, which has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Issuer, except 

as set out elsewhere in this Prospectus or below. Certain directors and officers of the Issuer and their 

associates acquired Common Shares of the Issuer prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

Fechi is related to the Issuer.  Alexander Stewart, the Executive Chairman and a director of the Issuer, is a 

director and sole shareholder of Fechi.  Fechi assigned the Derlak Red Lake Project and mining claims 

comprising part of the Mirado Gold Project to the Issuer.  Fechi received no direct compensation for the 

assignment, however, the Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement provided that: 

- the Issuer would arrange for the issuance of 3,750,000 Common Shares at a purchase price of $0.001 

per Common Share as Fechi directed; 

- the Issuer would appoint a majority of its directors as nominated by Fechi; 

- the Issuer would appoint its officers as nominated by Fechi; 

- the Issuer would enter into an office lease for a Toronto office; 

- the Issuer would enter into certain consulting agreements; and 

- The Issuer would enter into certain incentive option agreements. 

Each of these requirements has been completed.  Refer to item “Description of Business” in this 

Prospectus. 

Micon will be a greater than 10% shareholder of the Issuer at the closing of the Micon/Fechi Option 

Agreement. 

To exercise the Micon/Fechi Option Agreement, the Issuer must make the cash payments to Micon and 

incur exploration expenditures as follows: 

Mirado Gold Property 

Date Cash Payments Cumulative Expenditures 

January 19, 2012 $25,000 (paid) - 

January 19, 2013 $50,000            $300,000 

January 19, 2014 $75,000            $500,000 

January 19, 2015 -            $1,200,000 

TOTAL: $150,000           $2,000,000 

Derlak Red Lake Project 

Date Cash Payments Cumulative Expenditures 

January 19, 2012 $10,000 (paid) - 

January 19, 2013 $20,000            $200,000 

January 19, 2014 $30,000            $300,000 

January 19, 2015 -            $500,000 

TOTAL: $60,000            $1,000,000 

The Micon/Fechi Option Agreement also provides for the issuance of the Micon Common Shares being 

Common Shares of the Issuer equal to an amount representing 30% of the outstanding Common Shares of 

the Issuer at the Closing (excluding Common Shares issued for properties), being up to 14,974,286 

Common Shares (assuming completion of the Maximum Offering).  In addition, the Issuer has agreed to 

issue Micon Warrants being warrants issued to Micon equal to 30% of any warrants of the Issuer 

outstanding at the Closing Date, being351,000 warrants assuming completion of the Maximum Offering, 

and Micon Option Warrants being warrants issued to Micon equal to 30% of the number of incentive 
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options issued to directors and officers of the Issuer as at the Closing Date, being 1,403,571 warrants, on 

the same terms applicable to the incentive options.  The Micon Common Shares, Micon Warrants and 

Micon Option Warrants will be issued to Micon concurrently with the Closing of the Offering. 

The Mirado Gold Property and the Derlak Red Lake Project are subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty 

payable to Micon.  An initial 1% of the Mirado Gold Property net smelter return royalty may be 

purchased by the Issuer for the sum of $1,000,000, the second 1% for the sum of $2,000,000, and the 

third 1% for the sum of $3,000,000, at any time prior to commencement of commercial production.  1% 

of the Derlak Red Lake Project net smelter return royalty may be purchased by the Issuer for the sum of 

$1,000,000 at any time prior to commencement of commercial production. 

Upon the Issuer having made the cash payments, incurring the exploration expenditures and issuing the 

Common Shares, Micon Warrants and Micon Option Warrants set out above, the Issuer, subject to the 3% 

net smelter return royalty, shall have earned a 100% interest in the mining claims subject to the 

Micon/Fechi Option Agreement. 

Micon is at arm’s length to the Issuer.  Micon is an unlisted reporting issuer, the controlling shareholder 

of which is Jeffrey Becker. 

Refer to item “Description of Business” in this Prospectus. 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

The auditors of the Issuer are the firm of Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton LaBonte LLP, Chartered 

Accountants, of 1500 – 1140 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4G1. 

The Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Common Shares of the Issuer is Computershare Investor 

Services Inc., 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 

entered into by the Issuer since its incorporation: 

1. Micon/Fechi Option Agreement; 

2. Micon/Fechi Assignment Agreement; 

3. MZ/Fechi Option Agreement; 

4. MZ/Fechi Assignment Agreement; 

5. Agency Agreement dated November 27, 2012 between the Agent and the Issuer; 

6. Escrow Agreement dated May 25, 2012 among certain Principals of the Issuer (as that term is 

defined under NP 46-201), Computershare Investor Services Inc. and the Issuer.  The terms of 

this agreement are referred to in “Escrowed Securities”; 

7. Escrow Agreement dated October 15, 2012 between Micon Gold Inc., Computershare Investor 

Services Inc. and the Issuer.  The terms of this agreement are referred to in “Escrowed 

Securities”; 

8. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and Yeomans Geological Inc. 

referred to under “Executive Compensation”; 

9. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and West Oak Capital Group, Inc. 

referred to under “Executive Compensation”; 

10. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and Moray Resources Inc. referred 

to under “Executive Compensation”; 

11. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and 0817704 B.C. Ltd. referred to 

under “Executive Compensation”; 
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12. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and 2287957 Ontario Inc. referred 

to under “Executive Compensation”; 

13. Consulting Agreement dated April 1, 2012 between the Issuer and Fieldgrass Consulting referred 

to under “Executive Compensation”; 

14. Option Agreements dated April 3, 2012 between the Issuer and its directors, officers and 

consultants referred to under “Options to Purchase Securities”; 

15. Subscription Agreement dated November 27, 2012 between the Issuer and Strategic Metals Ltd. 

with respect to the subscription for 3,700,000 FT Shares. 

Copies of all material contracts may be inspected during distribution of the securities being offered under 

this Prospectus at the registered office of the Issuer at 10
th
 Floor, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British 

Columbia, V6C 2T5 during normal business hours and for 30 days thereafter. 

EXPERTS 

The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by 

the person or company are named in the Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that 

document, report, valuation, statement or opinion described in the Prospectus: 

(1) The information in this Prospectus under the headings “Summary of Prospectus – Eligibility for 

Investment” and “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” has been included in 

reliance upon the opinion of Legacy Tax + Trust Lawyers;  

(2) The audited financial statements of the Issuer included with this Prospectus have been subject to 

audit by Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton LaBonte LLP, Chartered Accountants, and their audit report 

is included herein; and 

(3) The information of a scientific or technical nature regarding the Derlak Red Lake Project and 

Mirado Gold Project in this Prospectus is based on the Derlak Red Lake Technical Report and the 

Mirado Gold Project Technical Report, respectively, prepared by Reddick Consulting Inc., 

authors:  John Reddick, M.Sc., P.Geo. and James Lavigne, M.Sc., P.Geo., who are qualified 

person pursuant to NI 43-101. 

Based on information provided by the relevant persons, none of the above persons or companies: (i) have 

received or will receive any direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of an associate or 

affiliate of the Issuer; (ii) hold any beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, in any securities of the Issuer 

or of any associate or affiliate of the Issuer; or (iii) is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed 

as a director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the Issuer.  

Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton LaBonte LLP have advised that they are independent with respect to the 

Issuer within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

of British Columbia. 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no other material facts concerning the Offered Securities other than as disclosed in this 

Prospectus. 

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of Legacy Tax + Trust Lawyers, the following is, as of the date of this Prospectus, a 

summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations under the Tax Act generally 

applicable to initial holders of the Offered Securities acquired under the Offering.  This summary only 

applies to the initial holders of Offered Securities acquired under the Offering who, for the purposes of 
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the Tax Act, are resident in Canada and who deal at arm’s length and are not affiliated with the Issuer and 

hold each of their Offered Securities as capital property (“Holders”). 

No part of this summary is applicable to corporations which are “financial institutions” for the purposes 

of the “mark to market” provisions of the Tax Act, to any “specified financial institution” as defined in 

the Tax Act, to any person an investment in which would constitute a “tax shelter” for the purposes of the 

Tax Act, or to any underwriters or agents acting on behalf of the Issuer.   

Whether the Offered Securities issued under this Offering are held by any particular Holder as capital 

property or as inventory will be determined according to the principles ordinarily applicable to the 

characterization of shares of a corporation.  Each of the Offered Securities will generally be considered to 

be “capital property” to a Holder unless they are held in the course of carrying on a business of trading or 

dealing in securities or the Holder is engaged in an adventure in the nature of trade with respect to such 

Offered Securities. 

Certain Holders who are resident in Canada for purposes of the Tax Act and who might not otherwise be 

considered to hold their Common Shares as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to 

have them treated as capital property by making the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of 

the Tax Act.  Holders of Common Shares contemplating making the election permitted by 

subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act should consult their own independent tax advisors as such an 

election would affect the income tax treatment of dispositions by the Holder of other Canadian 

securities and may not be suitable for all Holders. 

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Tax Act and the Regulations in force as of the 

date hereof, all specific proposals (the “Proposed Amendments”) to amend the Tax Act or the 

Regulations that have been publicly announced by, or on behalf of, the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior 

to the date hereof, and counsel’s understanding of the current published administrative and assessing 

practices of the Canada Revenue Agency.  If the Proposed Amendments are not enacted as presently 

proposed or other relevant amendments to the Tax Act or Regulations come into force, the tax 

consequences may not be as described below in all cases.  Except where otherwise indicated, this 

summary does not take into account or anticipate any other changes to the law, including retroactive tax 

amendments, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into 

account provincial, territorial or foreign income tax legislation or considerations, which may differ from 

the Canadian federal income tax considerations. 

This summary is of a general nature only, is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income 

tax considerations and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to 

any particular Holder.  Therefore, Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to 

their particular circumstances. 

Offered Securities Considerations 

Adjusted Cost Base 

Each Common Share issued by the Issuer to a Holder should have a cost to that Holder of the subscription 

price of such share. 

The “adjusted cost base” (the “ACB”) of each Common Share of the Issuer owned by a Holder at any 

particular time will generally be the average ACB to the Holder of all Common Shares of the Issuer 

owned at that time. 

Dividends 

Dividends received or deemed to be received by a Holder on the Common Shares will be included in 

computing the Holder’s income and, where the Holder is an individual (other than a trust that is a 

registered charity), will be subject to gross-up and dividend tax credit rules applicable to dividends paid 
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by a taxable Canadian corporation.  Taxable dividends received by a Holder from a public corporation 

that is a taxable Canadian corporation which are designated by such corporation as “eligible dividends” in 

accordance with the Tax Act will be entitled to the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit, if the 

Holder is notified in writing by the Issuer at or before the time the dividend is paid. 

Dividends received by a Holder that is a corporation on the Common Shares must be included in 

computing its income but generally will be deductible in computing its taxable income.  Private 

corporations (as defined in the Tax Act) and certain other corporations controlled by or for the benefit of 

an individual (other than a trust) or related group of individuals (other than trusts) generally will be liable 

to pay a 33-1/3% refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act on dividends to the extent such dividends 

are deductible in computing the corporation’s taxable income.  This refundable tax generally will be 

refunded to a corporate Holder at the rate of $1 for every $3 of taxable dividends paid while it is a private 

corporation. 

Capital Gains or Capital Losses 

Upon a disposition (or a deemed disposition) of an Offered Security to an arm’s length person (other than 

the Issuer), a Holder generally will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount by which 

the proceeds of disposition of such security, net of any reasonable costs of disposition, are greater (or are 

less) than the ACB of such security to the Holder.  One-half of any capital gain will be included in 

income as a taxable capital gain.  One-half of any capital loss may generally be deducted as an allowable 

capital loss against taxable capital gains realized in the year of disposition, any of the three preceding 

taxation years or any subsequent taxation year, subject to detailed provisions of the Tax Act. 

The amount of any capital loss realized on the disposition or deemed disposition of Common Shares by a 

Holder that is a corporation may be reduced by the amount of dividends received or deemed to have been 

received by it on such shares or shares substituted for such shares to the extent and in the circumstances 

prescribed by the Tax Act.  Similar rules may apply where a Holder that is a corporation is a member of a 

partnership or beneficiary of a trust that owns such shares or that is itself a member of a partnership or a 

beneficiary of a trust that owns such shares. 

A Holder that is throughout the relevant taxation year a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as 

defined in the Tax Act) also may be liable to pay an additional refundable tax of 6 2/3% on its “aggregate 

investment income” for the year which will include taxable capital gains.  This refundable tax generally 

will be refunded to a corporate Holder at the rate of $1 for every $3 of taxable dividends paid while it is a 

private corporation. 

Minimum Tax on Individuals 

The Tax Act provides for an alternative minimum income tax applicable to individuals (including certain 

trusts and estates) resident in Canada, which is computed by reference to an adjusted taxable income 

amount under which certain tax preference items are not deductible or exempt.  In calculating adjusted 

taxable income for the purpose of determining the minimum tax, certain deductions otherwise available 

are disallowed.  80% of capital gains (net of capital losses) and the actual amount of taxable dividends 

(not including any gross-up or dividend tax credit) are included in the adjusted taxable income.  Any 

additional tax payable by an individual under the minimum tax provisions may be carried forward and 

applied against certain tax otherwise payable in any of the seven immediately following taxation years; 

however, this carry-forward amount will only be creditable in a particular year to the extent that the 

individual’s federal income tax payable for the year, calculated without reference to the minimum tax 

provisions, exceeds the tax payable under the minimum tax provisions for the year. 

Eligibility for Investment 

On the Closing Date, provided that the Offered Securities are on that date listed for trading on a 

designated stock exchange (which includes Tier One and Tier Two of the Exchange), the Offered 

Securities will be qualified investments under the Tax Act for trusts governed by a registered retirement 
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savings plan (“RRSP”), registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), registered disability savings plan, 

deferred profit sharing plan, registered education savings plan or tax-free savings plan (“TFSA”), all as 

defined in the Tax Act (collectively, the “Investment Plans”).  If the Common Shares are held in an 

Investment Plan, distributions from the Issuer and capital gains from a disposition of the Common Shares 

are generally not subject to tax under the Tax Act until withdrawals are made from the plan.  Withdrawals 

from a TFSA are generally not subject to tax. 

Notwithstanding that the Common Shares may, at a particular time, be qualified investments for a trust 

governed by a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA (a “Registered Plan”), the holder of the TFSA or the annuitant of 

the RRSP or RRIF, as the case may be (such holder or annuitant being a "Controlling Individual” of the 

Registered Plan), will be subject to a penalty tax with respect to Common Shares held in the Registered 

Plan if such Common Shares are “prohibited investments” for the Registered Plan within the meaning of 

the Tax Act.  A Common Share will generally not be a prohibited investment for a trust governed by a 

Registered Plan held by a particular Controlling Individual provided that the Controlling Individual deals 

at arm’s length with the Issuer for the purposes of the Tax Act, and does not have a “significant interest” 

(as defined in the Tax Act) in either the Issuer or a corporation, partnership or trust that does not deal at 

arm’s length with the Issuer for purposes of the Tax Act.  In general terms, a Controlling Individual of a 

Registered Plan will have a significant interest in the Issuer if the Registered Plan, the Controlling 

Individual, and other persons not at arm’s length with the Controlling Individual together, directly or 

indirectly, own not less than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Issuer. 

BECAUSE THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING OR DISPOSING OF 

THE OFFERED SECURITIES MAY VARY DEPENDING ON THE PARTICULAR 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF EACH HOLDER AND OTHER FACTORS, HOLDERS ARE URGED 

TO CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS TO DETERMINE THE PARTICULAR 

TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING OR DISPOSING OF THE 

OFFERED SECURITIES. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario provides purchasers with the right to 

withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities.  This right may be exercised within two business 

days after receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment.  In some jurisdictions, the 

securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or revisions to the price or 

damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the 

purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions to the price or damages are exercised by the 

purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province.  The 

purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s 

province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. 

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THE AGENT 

Prior to the date of this Prospectus, an affiliate of the Agent sold 2,500,000 Common Shares to two arm’s 

length purchasers at its cost base of $0.10 per Common Share for valid business reasons.  No fee was 

associated with this transfer of Common Shares.  In addition, employees of the Agent own Common Shares 

of the Issuer. 

The decision of the Agent to participate in the Offering was made independently of the selling affiliate.  The 

terms, structure and pricing of the Offering were determined solely by negotiation between the Agent and 

the Issuer.  The selling affiliate did not play a role in those determinations or decisions. 

None of the proceeds of the Offering, except that portion payable to the Agent for its fees and expenses, will 

be applied for the benefit of the Agent or its affiliate. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Audited financial statements of the Issuer for the period from incorporation on July 26, 2011 to July 31, 

2012 and related notes thereto are included in this Prospectus. 
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AUDITOR’S CONSENT 

We have read the Prospectus of Orefinders Resources Inc. (the “Issuer”) dated November 27, 2012 relating 

to the issue of a minimum of 6,000,000 and a maximum of 8,000,000 Common Shares of the Issuer.  We 

have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with offering 

documents. 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Prospectus of our report to the directors of the Issuer on the 

statement of financial position of the Issuer as at July 31, 2012, and the statements of comprehensive loss, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the period from the date of incorporation on July 26, 2011 to July 31, 

2012 and related notes thereon.  Our report is dated November 27, 2012. 

Vancouver BC Canada 

November 27, 2012 

“Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton LaBonte LLP” 

Chartered Accountants 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Directors of Orefinders Resources Inc.: 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Orefinders Resources Inc. (the “Company”) which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at July 31, 2012, and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the period from July 26, 2011 to July 31, 2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Orefinders 
Resources Inc. as at July 31, 2012, and their financial performance and cash flows for the period from inception July 26, 
2011 to July 31, 2012, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company has 
not advanced its properties to commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through operations. 
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

“DMCL” 
 
 

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, Canada 
November 27, 2012 
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OREFINDERS RESOURCES INC. 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
  

Notes 
  

July 31, 2012 
    
ASSETS    
Current     
Cash    $    28,164 
Short term investment  4  1,000,000 
HST recoverable   45,394 
Prepaids    4,164 
   1,077,722 
    
Software (net of depreciation) 5  23,607 
Exploration and evaluation assets  6  314,622 
TOTAL ASSETS   $  1,415,951 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7  $    23,554 
    
TOTAL LIABILIITES   23,554 
    
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Share capital 9  1,589,000 
Deferred finance charges 14  (45,269) 
Deficit   (151,334) 
TOTAL EQUITY   1,392,397 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $  1,415,951 
 
 
 
Going concern (Note 1) 
Contingency (Note 6) 
Subsequent events (Note 14) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Directors: 
 
 
 
“Willian Yeomans”  “Stuart Rogers” 

William Yeomans – Director  Stuart Rogers– Director 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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OREFINDERS RESOURCES INC. 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
  

Notes 
 Period from July 26, 

2011 (inception) to 
July 31, 2012 

    
    
    
EXPENSES    

Consulting 8  $    30,500 
Depreciation  5  3,763 
Office, rent and miscellaneous    17,225 
Professional fees   96,751 
Travel and related costs   3,338 

   (151,577) 
OTHER ITEMS    
 Interest income   243 
    
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD   $  (151,334) 
    
Loss per Share - Basic and Diluted    $     (0.01) 
    
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding – Basic and Diluted   12,225,997 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



 

 

F-5
 
OREFINDERS RESOURCES INC. 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
 

 Share capital    

 
Number 

of shares Amount 
Deferred finance 

costs Deficit Total 
     
Balance at July 26, 2011  -  $ - $         -  $ -  $ - 
Comprehensive loss:     
 Loss for the period -   -   -  (151,334) (151,334) 
Transactions with owners, in their capacity as 
owners, and other transfers:     
 Shares issued for cash  23,240,000 1,581,500   -   - 1,581,500 
 Shares issued to acquire exploration and 

evaluation asset 75,000   7,500  -   -   7,500 
 Deferred finance charges -   -    (45,269) -      (45,269) 
     
Balance at July 31, 2012  23,315,000  $ 1,589,000 $   (45,269)  $ (151,334)  $ 1,392,397 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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OREFINDERS RESOURCES INC. 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 

  Period from July 
26, 2011 

(inception) to July 
31, 2012 

  
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN):  
  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 Net loss for the period  $  (151,334) 
 Items not involving cash   
   Depreciation      3,763 
  Changes in non-cash working capital items:   
  HST recoverable  (45,394) 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  23,554 
  Prepaids    (4,164) 
   
 Net cash used in operating activities  (173,575) 
   
INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
  Short term investment   (1,000,000) 
  Software           (27,370) 
  Exploration and evaluation assets          (307,122) 
   
 Net cash used in investing activities  (1,334,492) 
   
FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
 Issuance of common shares          1,581,500 
 Deferred finance charges  (45,269) 
   
 Net cash provided by financing activities         1,536,231 
   
INCREASE IN CASH          28,164  
   
CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD                - 
   
CASH, END OF PERIOD  $   28,164 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Orefinders Resources Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia) on July 26, 2011 and its principal activity is the exploration and development of exploration and 
evaluation assets in Canada.   
 
The head office, principal and registered address and records office of the Company are located at 2300-1066 West 
Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E 3X2.  The Company has no subsidiaries. 

  
 These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going 

concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and 
discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations.  Different bases of measurement may be appropriate if the 
Company is not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future.  As at July 31, 2012 the Company had 
not advanced its property to commercial production and is not able to finance day to day activities through 
operations.  The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon the successful results from its 
mineral property exploration activities and its ability to attain profitable operations and generate funds there from 
and/or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  These uncertainties may 
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The Company has sufficient 
funds to finance operating costs over the next twelve months. 

 
 Management has filed an Initial Public Offering and upon completion intends to obtain a listing on the TSX Venture 

Exchange (“TSX-V”). Refer to Note 14. 
 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

The financial statements were authorized for issue on November 27, 2012 by the directors of the Company. 
 
Statement of compliance and conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 
 Basis of presentation 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs, 
modified where applicable.  The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 
 
Short term investment 
Short-term investment consist of highly liquid Canadian dollar denominated guaranteed investment certificates with 
terms to maturity greater than 90 days, but not more than 1 year, that are readily convertible to contracted amounts 
of cash. Short-term investments are classified as fair value through profit and loss and recorded at fair value with 
realized and unrealized gains and losses reported in the statement of comprehensive loss.    
 
Significant estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future.  The Company’s management reviews these estimates and underlying 
assumptions on an ongoing basis, based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Revisions to estimates are adjusted for prospectively in the 
period in which the estimates are revised. 

Estimates and assumptions where there is significant risk of material adjustments to assets and liabilities in future 
accounting periods include the recoverability of the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, fair value 
measurements for financial instruments, the recoverability and measurement of deferred tax assets, 
decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and contingent liabilities.   

  



OREFINDERS RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
July 31, 2012 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

 
Significant estimates and assumptions (cont’d) 
Significant judgments 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart 
from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments in applying the 
Company’s financial statements include the classification of expenditures as exploration and evaluation expenditures 
or operating expenses and the classification of financial instruments. 

Foreign currency translation 
The functional currency of the Company is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional and 
presentation currency.  The Company does not have any foreign operations nor does it have any expenses in 
foreign currencies. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures include the costs of acquiring licenses and costs associated with exploration 
and evaluation activities. Exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalized. Costs incurred before the 
Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Government tax credits received are recorded as a reduction to the cumulative costs incurred and capitalized on the 
related property. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical 
feasibility and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount.  
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest 
are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment 
and then reclassified to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.  
 
Recoverability of the carrying amount of any exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 
 
Farm outs 
The Company does not record any expenditure made by the farmee on its account. It also does not recognize any 
gain or loss on its exploration and evaluation farm out arrangements but reallocates any costs previously capitalized 
in relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest retained and any consideration received directly 
from the farmee is credited against costs previously capitalized.  A gain is only recognized when credited proceeds 
exceed carrying value. 
 
Share-based payments 
The Company has adopted an employee stock option plan. Share-based payments to employees are measured at the 
fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-
employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the 
date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the share based payment reserve.  
The fair value of options is determined using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates market and vesting 
conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting 
period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted 
shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 
 

Loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding in the period.  For all periods presented, the loss attributable to common 
shareholders equals the reported loss attributable to owners of the Company.  Diluted loss per share is calculated by 
the treasury stock method.  Under the treasury stock method, the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the calculation of diluted loss per share assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of 
dilutive share options and warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period. 
 
Financial instruments 
The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale and financial liabilities. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.  
 
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading for the purpose 
of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid 
an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a Company of financial assets is managed by 
key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit 
or loss.   
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.   
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments, and it is the Company’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost.  Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, except for those which are 
expected to mature within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.   
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are 
not suitable to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments and are subsequently measured at fair value.  These are included in current assets. Unrealized 
gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange 
gains and losses.  
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortized cost.   
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on which the Company 
commits to purchase the asset.  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have 
been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has 
been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and prolonged decline in the 
value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. 
 
The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

 
Impairment of assets  
The carrying amount of the Company’s long-lived assets (which include exploration and evaluation assets) is 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. An 
impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset 
that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, however, not to an amount higher than 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in previous years.  
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. 
 
Software 
Software consists of Gemcom geological modeling software and is stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of significant replaced parts are derecognized. All other 
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss during the financial 
period in which they are incurred.  
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a declining balance method to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. The depreciation rate applicable to software is 55%.  As of July 31, 2012 the 
Company has recorded depreciation of $3,763 on software that was placed in use in May 2012. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Current income tax: 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where the Company operates and 
generates taxable income. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity is recognized in 
other comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation 
and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 
 
Income taxes (cont’d) 
 
Deferred income tax: 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized 
only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilized.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority.  
 
Restoration and environmental obligations 
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, constructive or legal obligations associated with the 
retirement of long-term assets, when those obligations result from the acquisition, construction, development or 
normal operation of the assets. The net present value of future restoration cost estimates arising from the 
decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets along 
with a corresponding increase in the restoration provision in the period incurred. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate 
that reflect the time value of money are used to calculate the net present value. The restoration asset will be 
depreciated on the same basis as other mining assets. 
 
The Company’s estimates of restoration costs could change as a result of changes in regulatory requirements, 
discount rates and assumptions regarding the amount and timing of the future expenditures. These changes are 
recorded directly to mining assets with a corresponding entry to the restoration provision. The Company’s estimates 
are reviewed annually for changes in regulatory requirements, discount rates, effects of inflation and changes in 
estimates. 
 
Changes in the net present value, excluding changes in the Company’s estimates of reclamation costs, are charged to 
profit and loss for the period. 
 
The net present value of restoration costs arising from subsequent site damage that is incurred on an ongoing basis 
during production are charged to profit or loss in the period incurred. 
 
The costs of restoration projects that were included in the provision are recorded against the provision as incurred. 
The costs to prevent and control environmental impacts at specific properties are capitalized in accordance with the 
Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets. 
 

3. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
Amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” 
This amendment increases the disclosure required regarding the transfer of financial assets, especially if there is a 
disproportionate amount of transfer transactions that take place around the end of a reporting period.  This 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011. 
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3. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Cont’d) 
 
New standard IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
This new standard is a partial replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.  
IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, 
replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 
instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods 
in IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 
 
New standard IFRS 10 “Financial Statements” 
This new standard will replace IAS 27 “and Separate Financial Statements”, and SIC-12 “Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities”.  Concurrent with IFRS 10, the IASB issued IFRS 11 “Joint Ventures”; IFRS 12 “Disclosures of 
Involvement with Other Entities”; IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements”, which has been amended for the 
issuance of IFRS 10 but retains the current guidance for separate financial statements; and IAS 28 “Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures”, which has been amended for conforming changes based on the issuance of IFRS 10 
and IFRS 11. 
 
IFRS 10 uses control as the single basis for consolidation, irrespective of the nature of the investee, eliminating the 
risks and rewards approach included in SIC-12, and requires continuous assessment of control over an investee. 
The above consolidation standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  
 
New standard IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” 
This new standard requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint 
operation.  Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint 
operation the venture will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. 
Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint 
ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes lAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
 
New standard IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” 
This new standard establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, 
associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing 
disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks 
associated with, an entity's interests in other entities. 
 
New standard IFRS 13 “Fair value measurement” 
This new standard replaces the fair value measurement guidance currently included in various other IFRS standards 
with a single definition of fair value and extensive application guidance.  IFRS 13 provides guidance on how to 
measure fair value and does not introduce new requirements for when fair value is required or permitted.  It also 
establishes disclosure requirements to provide users of the financial statements with more information about fair 
value measurements.  IFRS 13 is effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
New interpretation IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine” 
This new IFRIC clarifies when production stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset 
should be measured, both initially and in subsequent periods.  IFRIC 20 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013.   
 
The Company has not early adopted these revised standards and is currently assessing the impact that these 
standards will have on its financial statements. 
 
Other 
Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future 
effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
statements. 
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4. SHORT TERM INVESTMENT 

Short-term investment consists of a highly liquid Canadian dollar dominated guaranteed investment certificate 
(“GIC”) that is readily convertible to contracted amounts of cash.  
 
During the period ended July 31, 2012, the GIC carried a variable interest rate of prime less 1.80%.   The GIC 
allows for early redemption after the first 30 days of investment and matures on April 12, 2013.  
 
 

5. SOFTWARE  
 

Cost:  
At July 31, 2012 $ 27,370 
Depreciation:  
Charge for the period  (3,763) 
Net book value:  
At July 31, 2012 $ 23,607 

 
 
6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS  
 
 The following are details of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets: 
 

  
Derlak 

 
Mirado 

MZ 
Properties  

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Balance, July 26, 2011 - - - - 

Acquisition costs 
 

10,792 
 

25,792 27,500 64,084 
Exploration costs     

Assays and drilling - 201 - 201 
Consulting 20,948 92,891 - 113,839 
Field expenses 1,587 14,965 - 16,552 
Geophysical - 119,946 - 119,946 
 22,535 228,003 - 250,538 
     

Balance, July 31, 2012 33,327 253,795 27,500 314,622 
 
 
Derlak Red Lake Project (“Derlak”) and Mirado Gold Project (“Mirado”) 
 
On January 25, 2012, amended November 19, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with Fechi, Inc. 
(“Fechi”) whereby Fechi agreed to transfer all its right, title and interest in an option agreement (the “Micon/Fechi 
Agreement”) with Micon Gold Inc. (“Micon”) to the Company.  
 
The terms of the Micon/Fechi Agreement provide for the granting of an option by Micon to Fechi for the acquisition 
of a 100% interest in the Derlak and twelve claims comprising part of the Mirado.  The claims are located in the 
Catherine, McElroy, Baird and Heyson Townships, Ontario.  The agreement is subject to the Company completing 
financings for a total of $5,000,000 by December 17, 2012, otherwise the agreement will be terminated. 
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d) 
 
To exercise the Micon/Fechi Agreement, the Company must make cash payments to Micon and incur exploration 
expenditures as follows: 
 
Derlak, Baird and Heyson Townships, Ontario 

 

Due Date 
Cash Payments 

$ 
Cumulative Expenditures 

$ 
January 19, 2012  (paid) 10,000 - 
January 19, 2013 20,000 200,000 
January 19, 2014 30,000 300,000 
January 19, 2015 - 500,000 
 60,000 1,000,000 

 
The Company also paid $792 in mining taxes. 
 
Mirado, Catherine and McElroy Townships, Ontario 

 

Due Date 
Cash Payments 

$ 
Cumulative Expenditures 

$ 
January 19, 2012  (paid) 25,000 - 
January 19, 2013 50,000 300,000 
January 19, 2014 75,000 500,000 
January 19, 2015 - 1,200,000 
 150,000 2,000,000 

 
The Company also paid $792 in mining taxes. 
 
The Micon/Fechi Agreement also provides for the issuance to Micon of the number of common shares of the 
Company which will result in Micon owning 30% of the outstanding common shares of the Company at the time the 
Company has raised aggregate proceeds of $5,000,000.  The Company has also agreed to issue to Micon warrants 
equal to 30% of the number of incentive options issued to directors and officers of the Company at the completion of 
the $5,000,000 financing, on the same terms applicable to the incentive options.  In addition, the Company’s 
founder agreed to transfer one-half of his 7,500,000 founders' shares as Fechi directs.  No warrants or options have 
yet been granted. Subject to the completion of the proposed public offering the Company has determined that 
14,974,286 shares, up to 351,000 warrants and 1,403,571 stock options will be issued to Micon pursuant to this 
agreement. 
 
The Derlak and the Mirado are subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) payable to Micon, of which 1% of 
the Derlak NSR may be purchased by the Company for $1,000,000 and an initial 1% of the Mirado NSR may be 
purchased by the Company for $1,000,000, the second 1% for $2,000,000, and the third 1% for $3,000,000. 
 
MZ Claims Comprising Part of the Mirado (“MZ Claims”)  
 
On February 9, 2012, as amended March 27, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with Fechi whereby 
Fechi agreed to transfer all right, title and interest in an option agreement for the MZ Claims (the “MZ/Fechi 
Agreement”) to the Company. The agreement is also subject to the Company completing financings for a total of 
$5,000,000 by November 30, 2012, otherwise the agreement will be terminated.   
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d) 

 
The terms of the MZ/Fechi Agreement provides an option for the acquisition of a 100% interest in mining claims in 
Catherine and McElroy Townships, Ontario, which are contiguous to the Mirado.  To exercise the option, the 
Company must make cash payments, issue common shares and incur exploration expenditures as follows: 
 

Due Date 
Cash Payments 

$ 

Cumulative 
Expenditures 

$ 
Share 

Issuances 
February 8, 2012 (paid) 20,000 - - 
On April 8, 2012 (issued with a fair value of $7,500) - - 75,000 
February 8, 2013 25,000 50,000 25,000 
February 8, 2014 25,000 75,000 50,000 
February 8, 2015 30,000 100,000 50,000 
February 8, 2016 40,000 200,000 50,000 
 140,000 425,000 250,000 

 
The MZ Claims are subject to a 2% NSR payable to the vendors of which 1% of the NSR may be purchased by the 
Issuer for $1,000,000, and the second 1% of the NSR may be purchased for $2,000,000. 
 
 

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following: 

 July 31, 2012 
$ 

Trade payables   5,785 
Accruals   17,769 
   23,554 

 
 
8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
 Related Party Balances 

 
As at July 31, 2012, $Nil was due to related parties.  

 
 Related Party Transactions 
 
 Key management personnel compensation 

The Company’s related parties include key management.  Key management includes executive directors and non-
executive directors.  The remuneration of the key management of the Company as defined above, during the period 
from inception on July 26, 2011 to July 31, 2012 was as follows: 

 $ 
Consulting fees 30,500 
Geological consulting 71,500 
 101,000 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL  
 

Authorized share capital 
Unlimited number of voting common shares without par value.  
 
Issued share capital 
At July 31, 2012, there were 23,315,000 issued and fully paid common shares.  
 
Escrow shares 
As at July 31, 2012, there were 7,500,000 common shares held in escrow which will be subject to release under the 
policies of the TSX-V.   

 
Stock options 

  The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted a stock option plan which permits the Company to grant to 
directors, officers and consultants of the Company, non-transferable options to purchase common shares, provided 
that the number of common shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares and be exercisable for a period of up to five years from the date of grant.  The number of common shares 
reserved for issuance to any individual director or officer will not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares and the number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one consultant or individual conducting 
investor relations activities will not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding shares. 

 
On April 3, 2012, the Company agreed to grant 3,275,000 stock options to directors, officers and consultants, with 
an exercise price the same as the initial public offering price and a term of five years. These options are subject to 
regulatory approval and are accordingly not in effect as at July 31, 2012. 

 
As at July 31, 3012, the Company incurred $45,269 in deferred finance charges to be charged to share capital at 
closing of the Offering. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors 
approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, counterparty 
limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is 
managed is provided as follows:  
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts 
and short term investment. The majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts held with major banks in Canada.  
As all of the Company’s cash is held by one bank there is a concentration of credit risk.  This risk is managed by 
using a major bank that is a high credit quality financial institution as determined by rating agencies.  As at July 31, 
2012, the Company has cash of $28,164 and a short term investment of $1,000,000.  Management assesses credit 
risk of cash and short term investment as low. 
 
The Company’s secondary exposure to risk is on its other receivables.  This risk is minimal as receivables consist 
primarily of refundable government goods and services taxes. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the 
Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are sufficient funds 
to meet its short-term business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its 
holdings of cash.   
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10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 

 
To date, the Company's sole source of funding has been the issuance of equity securities for cash.  The Company’s 
access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued access to significant equity funding. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and foreign 
currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results.  The Company’s functional currency is the 
Canadian dollar.  All expenses are transacted in Canadian dollars.  The Company maintains all of its cash in 
Canadian dollars.   
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as its bank account and short-term 
investments earn interest income at variable rates. The income earned on the bank account and short-term 
investments is subject to the movements in interest rates. Due to the short-term maturity, the fair value of its short-
term investments is relatively unaffected by changes in short term interest rates. A 1% change in interest rates will 
not have a material effect to the Company.  

 
Capital Management 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity, comprising 
share capital, net of accumulated deficit.  
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Classification of financial instruments 
Financial assets included in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 July 31, 2012 
$ 

Fair value through profit and loss  
 Cash  28,164 
 Short term investment 1,000,000 
Loans and receivables  
 HST recoverable 45,394 
 1,073,558 

 
Financial liabilities included in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 July 31, 2012 
$ 

Non-derivative financial liabilities:  
Trade payables   5,785 

 
Fair value 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the carrying amount. 
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10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 

 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are: 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 

indirectly; and 
 Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 
The following is an analysis of the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value as at July 31, 2012: 
 

 As at July 31, 2012 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 Cash  $ 28,164  $ -  $ - 
 Short term investment   $ 1,000,000  $ -  $ - 

 
11. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES  
 

The actual income tax provisions differ from the expected amounts as calculated by applying the Canadian 
combined federal and provincial corporate income tax rates to the Company’s loss before income taxes. The 
components of these differences are as follows: 

 
 July 31, 2012 

$ 
Loss for the period 151,334
Statutory tax rate 25.7%
 
Expected income tax recovery  (38,893)
Change in valuation allowance 37,832
Impact of tax rate change and others 1,061
Deferred income tax recovery  -

 
The Company has the following deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognized: 

 
 July 31, 2012 

$ 
  
Software (941) 
Non-capital losses available for future periods  38,773 
 37,832 
Valuation allowance (37,832) 
  
Net deferred tax assets      -  

 
The Company has a non-capital loss for income tax purposes which may be carried forward to reduce taxable 
income in future years.  If not utilized, the non-capital loss, in the amount of $151,091 will expire in 2032.  
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12. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 
During the period from inception to July 31, 2012 the Company incurred the following non-cash transactions that 
are not reflected in the statement of cash flows: 
 

Fair value of shares issued for mineral property option payments $   7,500 
 
 
13.  COMMITMENTS 
 

Commencing on April 1, 2012, the Company committed to pay a total of $11,000 in monthly consulting fees for a 
two year term pursuant to consulting agreements the Company signed with the key management.  The monthly 
consulting fees will be increased to $22,000 commencing on the days the shares of the Company are listed for 
trading through TSX-V. 
 
Also see notes 6, 9 and 14. 
 
 

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On November 27, 2012, the Company signed a letter agreement appointing Macquarie Capital Markets Canada Ltd. 
(“Agent”) as the underwriter in connection with an initial public offering (“Offering”).  The Offering is subject to 
issue and sale of a minimum of 6,000,000 and maximum of 8,000,000 common shares at $0.50 per share with 
minimum gross proceeds of $3,000,000 and maximum gross proceeds of $4,000,000. The Agent will receive a 
commission equal to 7% of the gross proceeds of the Offering payable in cash.  The Agent will also receive that 
number of Agent Warrants that is equal to 7% of the number of offered securities sold in the Offering, each Agent 
Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Agent Share for a period of 18 months from the Closing Date at a price 
of $0.50 per Agent Share. The Company has also granted the Agent the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable in 
whole or in part in the sole discretion of the Agent at any time until 5:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the day that is 30 
days following the Closing Date, to purchase an additional number of Over-Allotment Shares at a price of $0.50 per 
Over-Allotment Share that is equal to 15% of the number of offered securities sold in the Offering, solely to cover 
over-allotments, if any, and or market stabilization purposes. 
 
The Company has also agreed with the Agent to complete a private placement of 3,700,000 flow-through shares at 
$0.55 per share concurrent with the closing of the Offering.   
 
As at July 31, 3012, the Company incurred $45,269 deferred finance charges to be expensed at closing of the 
Offering. 
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